
 
 
 

 

Electoral 
Provisions Sub-

Committee 
 

 
 

 

    
 
 

A meeting of the above Sub-Committee will be held on 

 
Monday 18 October 2010 

 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

Councillor J A Kite (Chairman) 
Councillor A R Martin (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor A Bardoe 
Councillor R Bryant 
Councillor D E May  
Councillor B E Read 

Councillor C J Shippam 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

 AGENDA 
 

Monday 18 October 2010 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interests   

 To receive any declarations of interest Members may wish to make 
including the term(s) of the Grant of Dispensation(s) by the Standards 
Committee.   
 

 

3. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.  
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 

4. References from Other Committees, if any   

5. Terms of Reference (Pages 1 - 2)  

 To note the terms of reference of the Electoral Provisions Sub-
Committee.  
 

 

6. Review of Polling Places 2010 (Pages 3 - 14)  

 To consider the review of Polling Places 2010 and endorse the 
changes to the location of polling places outlined in the report.  
 

 

7. Parliamentary General Election May 2010 - Electoral 
Commission Review of Problems at Polling Stations at Close of 
Poll and Review of the Administration of the Election (Pages 15 - 

130) 

 

 To consider the findings of the Electoral Commission’s Interim 
Review of Problems at Polling Stations at the Close of Poll on 6 May 
2010 and Report on the Administration of the 2010 UK General 
Election.  
 

 

8. Beyond 2010: The Future of Electoral Administration in the UK 
(Pages 131 - 140) 

 

 To consider the contents and recommendations in the report “Beyond 
2010: The Future of Electoral Administration in the UK” by the 
Association of Electoral Administrators.    

 



 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL] 
 
Chairman:    Councillor J A Kite 
Vice-Chairman:  Councillor A R Martin 
Membership:   Councillors A Bardoe, R Bryant, D E May, B E 

Read and C J Shippam 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
 
A. DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
1.  To publish notice of the holding of a review on behalf of the  Council. 
 
2.  To consult the Returning Officer for the parliamentary election held in the 

constituency which is wholly or partly in Borough of Dartford. 
 
3.  To seek representations from such persons as the Sub-committee thinks have 

particular expertise in relation to access to premises or facilities for persons 
who have different forms of disability. 

 
4.  To receive representations from electors in the constituency situated in whole 

or in part in the authority’s area. 
 
5.  To respond to consultation/discussion papers related to matters 

connected/associated with electoral arrangement functions in accordance with 
the Consultation/Discussion Papers Protocol. 

 
6. To agree the process for consultation on change of scheme for elections. 
 

7. To prepare and agree on submission proposals for pilot schemes for local 
elections.  

 
8. To deal with the procedural aspects of community governance reviews. 
 
B. REFERRED FUNCTION:  
 
To recommend accordingly to the General Assembly of the Council on the matters 
referred to in these Terms of Reference. 

 

Agenda Item 5Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

REVIEW OF POLLING PLACES 2010 
 
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To review the current location of polling places in the Dartford Borough and 

Parliamentary constituency in the light of the recent General Election, taking 
account of any imperatives for changes or improvements in the delivery of 
electoral provision. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1. That Members consider the review of Polling Places 2010 and endorse the 

changes to the location of polling places outlined in section 3.3 of the report. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The Council is required to carry out a full review of its Polling Places 

at least once in every four years. The last full review took place in 
2007 and the next complete review is due to take place in 2011. 
However the former Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and 
Access Arrangements Sub-Committee provided for polling provision 
to be considered in the interim and the Sub-Committee last 
reviewed provision on 2 July 2008. In view of the problems 
experienced in some parts of the country during the General 
Election, and in response to requests for a change of location or due 
to building development, a light touch review of polling place 
provision has been carried out.    

 
3.2. A comprehensive review of the Council’s arrangements for the 

General Election has been carried out by officers involved in running 
the election at both operational and strategic level. Effective 
arrangements were made to deliver a smooth election and none of 
the problems reported elsewhere were experienced in Dartford. The 
review included seeking the opinion of Presiding Officers over the 
practicalities of running their polling stations, including the suitability 
of the station itself and its location. Key findings were that 96% of 
Presiding Officers considered that their polling stations were easy to 
locate, 98% believed that once inside the building the voting area 
was easily accessible and 92% thought that the building was 
suitable for use as a polling station. The only concerns raised about 
suitability related to the use of temporary huts. Presiding Officers 
raised a number of minor issues relating to features of particular 
polling places, the most common relating to the suitability of 
ramping. These individual comments will be addressed where 
appropriate for future elections.  All polling stations were also 
inspected by Visiting Officers on 6 May and no significant issues 
about the suitability of the current polling places were reported.      

 

Agenda Item 6Page 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
3.3. There are however a number of issues relating to the location of 

current polling places that need to be drawn to the Sub Committee’s 
attention. 

  
 PA -  Christchurch Parish Hall, Christchurch Road, Dartford 

  
 Christchurch have requested that the location of the polling station 

be moved to the Christchurch Parish Room as the Parish Hall is 
frequently hired out for events on Thursdays and the Parish have 
had to cancel events in the past to enable it to be used as a polling 
station resulting in lost revenue. The Parish Room, although 
smaller, is suitable for use as a polling station and is located across 
the road from the Parish Hall. It is easily accessible and will be 
familiar to local electors because of its proximity to the current 
polling place. The Sub Committee is asked to agree to the change 
of location shown in Appendix A.  

 
 LA – Stone Village Parish Hall, Church Hill, Stone Place Road, 

Stone , Greenhithe 
 
 A planning application was submitted to demolish the Parish Hall 

and build four houses on this site. Although the Development 
Control Board refused the application on 17 June 2010 it is possible 
that this site may be subject to further development proposals. It is 
understood that should development take place a new parish hall 
would be built which could be a long term option as a replacement 
polling place, however there is no certainty over timing and it could 
be necessary to use a temporary polling station in the short term as 
there is no obvious permanent alternative within the polling district.  

 
 Should the current site become unavailable an alternative option 

would be to erect a temporary polling station in the car park of the 
nearby “Lads of the Village” Public House. This is located a couple 
of hundred yards away from the Parish Hall, is easily identifiable 
and level and could be connected to the public electricity supply. 
The local publican has been contacted for permission to locate a 
temporary polling station in the car park and the Sub Committee is 
asked to designate this as a polling place in the event that the 
Parish Hall is not available.  A plan showing the current and 
proposed alternative location is attached at Appendix B. 

 
 IB – Colyers Arms Car Park (Temporary Polling Station), Station 

Road, Betsham, Kent 
 
 This polling place is also subject to development activity. The 

Development Control Board considered a planning application in 
respect of this site on 17 June 2010 and following a site visit the 
Board refused the application on 8 July 2010. It is again possible 
that the decision could be appealed or fresh proposals lodged. 

Agenda Item 6 Page 4



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
There are few obvious alternative sites in the polling district but it 
would be possible to locate a temporary station in a lay-by adjoining 
the Colyers Arms car park. This would have the advantage of being 
located just yards away from the existing location although the 
temporary station would now be located on public highway rather 
than on private property. Power should be available but temporary 
toilet facilities may be required. The Sub Committee is asked to 
agree to the re-siting of the temporary station on the public highway 
in the event of the existing location being unavailable or unusable. 
Appendix C refers. 

 
 FC – The Pavilion, Stone   
 
 The Pavilion is being redeveloped during the winter as part of a 

larger project which will see it replaced by a new function room, 
changing rooms and Parish Council offices next to the current 
Stone Community Hall. The Pavilion has already been demolished 
and the Parish Council offices are due to be completed in 
December 2010 and the new Pavilion in March 2010. One option 
would be to use the Parish Council Office, which from an 
examination of the approved plans should be suitable, or the new 
pavilion, providing both phases of the project go to plan. However 
the adjoining Stone Community Hall is suitable for use with good 
facilities and access, on road parking and a prominent location. The 
Sub-Committee is asked to agree to the Stone Community Hall 
being designated as the polling place in place of the Pavilion, as 
shown in Appendix D. 

  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 The provision of effective electoral services underpins the Council’s democratic 

processes and reflects a strongly performing Council. Ensuring the suitability of 
polling places is a key component of this service. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications An increase in the number of temporary 
polling stations (portacabins) would 
increase the cost of providing polling 
stations at these locations. However the 
increases will be covered by 
government grant for national elections.  

Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment Failure to identify suitable polling places 

could impact adversely on the integrity 
of future elections. 

Agenda Item 6Page 5



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 
 
 
 
6. Appendices – Plans showing the Current and Proposed New Polling Station      
       Locations 
 
Appendix A –  Christ Church Parish Hall 
Appendix B -   Stone Village 
Appendix C –  Colyers Arms 
Appendix D -   Stone Pavillion 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Presiding 
Officer 
questionnaires  
 

May 
2010 

 Alan Twyman 
Member Services 
Manager  

Member 
Services /  
Executive 
Directorate 

N/A 

  

Agenda Item 6 Page 6



7

4
5

2
5

2
0
a

M
A
R
L

2

29.3m

27.7m

N
E
L
S
O
N

1

8

5
4

8a

2
6

1

Ward Bdy

5

1
2

Christ Church

BM 29.17m

3

Christ Church

4
0

2
0

3
7

W
E
L
L
IN
G
T
O
N
R
O
A
D

1
3

9

3
7

1
3

3
6

2
4

CROSS ROAD

B
M
2
9
.9
1
m

2
3

1
3

2
8

1

1
6

BLENHEIM CLOSE

1
2

2
0
b

2
7

1
0

1
5

3
3

Parish Hall

5
3

2
5

5
1

1
5

C
H
R
IS
T
C
H
U
R
C
H
R
O
A
D

28.7m

4
0

2
B
L
E
N
H
E
IM
R
O
A
D

2
1
a

2
1

Text

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2010

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2010

©
D

a
rt

fo
rd

B
o

ro
u

g
h

C
o

u
n
c
il

1
0

0
0

2
5
8

7
0

2
0
1

0
,
M

a
p

P
ro

d
u

c
e
d

B
y

T
h

e
M

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t
A

n
a
ly

s
is

&
In

te
ll
ig

e
n

c
e

T
e

a
m

,

PA - Christchurch
SE

10/8/10

1:1,000 @ A4

°

Status

Current

Proposed

Appendix A

A
g
e
n
d
a

 Ite
m

 6
P

a
g
e
 7



P
a
g
e
 8

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Colyers

4

6

LC

29
.8
5
m

14.7m

1

40

6

ELIZABETH S
TREET

1

SL

Hall

COO
PER

2
CHURC

H ROA
D

13

(PH)

BM 7.83m

1

G
R
IF
F
IN
W
A
L
K

Playground

7
to
1
0

67to

29

2

Church Hill

Lads of the

30

El Sub Sta

35

36

9

5

BM 17.44m

Village

SB

C
H
U
R
C
H
H
IL
L

El Sub Sta

1
1

7

1
5

1
to
4

73to

29

25

17.2m

35

SL

10

Upper

29

CH
UR
CH

26
.1
m

9

38

24.0m

17

CL
OS
E 78

MP 19.25

72

Sto

Crossing Halt

Lower Church Hill

CHARLES STREET

RO
AD

1

39

12

23

1

Cottages

25.3m

1

37

15

Text

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2010

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2010

©
D

a
rt

fo
rd

B
o

ro
u

g
h

C
o

u
n
c
il

1
0

0
0

2
5
8

7
0

2
0
1

0
,
M

a
p

P
ro

d
u

c
e
d

B
y

T
h

e
M

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t
A

n
a
ly

s
is

&
In

te
ll
ig

e
n

c
e

T
e

a
m

,

LA - Stone Village
SE

10/8/10

1:1,000 @ A4

°

Status

Current

Proposed

Appendix B

A
g
e
n
d
a

 Ite
m

 6
P

a
g
e
 9



P
a

g
e
 1

0

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Lanes Farm

View

GP

1

C
o
tt
a
g
e
s

T
y
le
rs
H
il
l

Rancher

O
p
u
n
a
k
e

1
1

(PH)

M
il
w
o
o
d

H
o
u
s
e

P
la
tt
e
S
a
li
n
e

Betsham

Saxonbury

Nemesis

1
0

7
3

6

The Annexe

10

House
Budleigh

Marielyst

Joyc

7

14

1
4

34.8m

Ingress

Terrace

Y
e
w
T
re
e

M
a
g
d
a
la

Joyce

6

BROOMHILLS

10

At Last

House

TCB

BM 34.54m

6b

Foxbury

1

4

33.8m

5

El

2

Warwick House

Harvest Folly

Betsham

Arms
Colyers

Sub Sta

1

L
a
u
re
ls

21

Croft

G
re
n
a
d
in
e

C
lo
v
e
ll
y

L
y
n
w
o
o
d

Hall

Trevose

Text

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2010

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2010

©
D

a
rt

fo
rd

B
o

ro
u

g
h

C
o

u
n
c
il

1
0

0
0

2
5
8

7
0

2
0
1

0
,
M

a
p

P
ro

d
u

c
e
d

B
y

T
h

e
M

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t
A

n
a
ly

s
is

&
In

te
ll
ig

e
n

c
e

T
e

a
m

,

IB - Southfleet West
SE

10/8/10

1:1,000 @ A4

°

Status

Current

Proposed

Appendix C

A
g
e
n
d
a

 Ite
m

 6
P

a
g
e
 1

1



P
a

g
e
 1

2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Horns Cross

52

2

9

Primary

TCB

6
4

Pavilion

1
1

2
3

Pavilion

HAY
ES R

OA
D

H
A
Y
ES
R
O
A
D School

2

4
6

7

28

14

8

Ch
ang

ing
Ro
om
s

Playground

4
0

HA
YE
S R
OA
D

3
8 2

1

C OF E

St Mary's

Playing Field

PCs

Tennis Courts
3
0

1

42

Recreation Ground

Club

Text

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2010

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2010

©
D

a
rt

fo
rd

B
o

ro
u

g
h

C
o

u
n
c
il

1
0

0
0

2
5
8

7
0

2
0
1

0
,
M

a
p

P
ro

d
u

c
e
d

B
y

T
h

e
M

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t
A

n
a
ly

s
is

&
In

te
ll
ig

e
n

c
e

T
e

a
m

,

LC - Horns Cross
SE

10/8/10

1:1,000 @ A4

°

Status

Current

Proposed

Appendix D

A
g
e
n
d
a

 Ite
m

 6
P

a
g
e
 1

3



P
a

g
e
 1

4

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

PARLIAMENTARY GENERAL ELECTION MAY 2010 – ELECTORAL 
COMMISSION REVIEW OF PROBLEMS AT POLLING STATIONS AT CLOSE 
OF POLL AND REVIEW OF THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE ELECTION  
 
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To report the findings of the Electoral Commission’s Interim Review of 

Problems at Polling Stations at the Close of Poll on 6 May 2010 and Report 
on the Administration of the 2010 UK General Election. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1That Members note the findings of the Electoral Commission’s interim review 

of the problems experienced at some polling stations in other Constituencies 
across the United Kingdom at the close of poll on 6 May 2010 and the action 
taken to ensure that similar issues do not arise during future elections held in 
Dartford. 

 
2.2 That the content of the Electoral Commission’s Report on the Administration 

of the 2010 UK General Election be noted.  
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. Dartford has a proud track record of delivering efficient and effective 

electoral services including making robust arrangements for the 
holding of elections as required under electoral law. Preparations for 
the General Election went smoothly and there were no significant 
issues requiring Member attention. However problems were 
encountered in other parts of the country and widely reported in the 
national media. In response the Electoral Commission conducted an 
initial review of the difficulties that were encountered, looking at how 
electoral staff responded and seeking to identify the underlying 
causes. The Electoral Commission’s Interim Report is attached at 
Appendix A. A full report incorporating more general feedback on 
the administration of the General Election was published by the 
Electoral Commission at the end of July but added little of value in 
respect of the conclusions of the interim report relating to problems 
at the close of poll which was published in May. 

 
4. Interim Review of Problems at Polling Stations at the Close of Poll on 6 May 

2010  
  
 4.1 The Electoral Commission’s Interim Report focuses entirely upon    

those cases where it was reported that prospective voters were 
queuing to vote at the close of poll on 6 May. Whilst the implications 
of any elector being denied the ability to vote are serious it is 
important to put the extent of these problems into context. Problems 
were reported at 27 polling stations out of some 40,000 polling 

Agenda Item 7Page 15



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
stations used on 6 May and affected voting to varying degrees in 16 
out of 650 parliamentary constituencies. The total number of 
prospective voters involved was in the region of 1,200. Electoral 
arrangements were effectively administered across the vast majority 
of the country but the fact is that electoral difficulties of this nature 
are rare but clearly measures are needed to ensure they are not 
repeated.    

 
 4.2 The Electoral Commission conducted interviews with Acting 

Returning Officers and their staff in 23 constituencies where queues 
were reported outside polling stations but concluded that in 7 of the 
constituencies there had been no queues at the close of polling. The 
Commission also received feedback from around 500 people and 
from political parties and MPs in the affected constituencies. The 
Commission looked in further detail at the circumstances in the 16 
constituencies where people had been queuing to vote at the close 
of poll and the actions taken to deal with this. 

 
 4.3 The circumstances in each instance were different but some broad 

conclusions did emerge: 
 

• All of the affected constituencies were holding combined 
elections and polling station staff were having to issue 
multiple ballot papers and explain the differing franchises to 
voters – in one case there was a parliamentary, borough and 
Mayoral election taking place in the constituency; 

• In many cases the number of staff allocated to the affected 
polling stations was less than the number recommended by 
the Electoral Commission; 

• Many of the stations had a large number of eligible electors 
and several comfortably exceeded the maximum number of 
electors of 2,500 recommended by the Commission for 
allocation to a polling station; 

• Some of the buildings used as polling stations were 
unsuitable and this added to delays in dealing with individual 
electors;   

• The Commission concluded that Acting Returning Officers 
had applied inadequate planning assumptions both in terms 
of anticipating the likely level of turnout and in terms of 
contingency planning; 

• That contingency arrangements were activated too late in 
the day to be effective, because polling station staff had 
been uncertain over the circumstances in which they should 
alert senior staff and had left it too late to raise their 
concerns; and  

• That some Presiding Officers and Returning Officers had 
continued to issue ballot papers, incorrectly, after 10 pm or 
had handed them out to people in the queue.  

 

Agenda Item 7 Page 16



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
The Electoral Commission also felt that the current legislation, which 
requires polling stations to close at 10pm and that no ballot papers can 
be issued after this time, had exacerbated the situation as it meant 
that those present in queues at the close of poll could not be issued 
with a ballot paper and were effectively disenfranchised.  
 

4.4 In response to these findings the Electoral Commission has made a 
number of recommendations: 

 

• Restrictive legislation should be changed to amend the 
election rules to permit any elector entitled to vote who is in 
a queue at the close of poll to be allowed to vote; 

• Local authorities and Acting Returning Officers should 
review their approach to planning for adequate polling 
station and staffing provision for all future elections and to 
review their polling districts and polling places; 

• The UK Government should bring forward a comprehensive 
plan for modernising and ensuring professional electoral 
administration in Great Britain, including responding to the 
recommendations made in the Commission’s review of 
electoral administration in August 2008. This should include 
the role that advance polling might play in providing more 
flexible options for people wishing to vote. 

 
The Electoral Commission is also reviewing the guidance that it issues 
and the way that it monitors performance. 
 

 Implications for Dartford     
 
4.5 The Electoral Commission’s findings make salutary reading and it is 

clearly unacceptable for issues like this to arise. Elections do present 
significant administrative and logistical challenges and there are many 
factors over which the Council has little direct control. However the 
Council has made robust arrangements in the past and will continue to 
do so for all future elections.  

 
4.6 The Acting Returning Officer is personally responsible for making 

electoral arrangements and is also the Borough’s Registration Officer. 
The Acting Returning Officer ensures that the Elections Office is 
provided with sufficient resources and is professionally staffed to 
undertake all of the key electoral services. All Dartford Borough 
Council employees are contractually available to work on elections. No 
problems were encountered at the General Election in terms of the 
number or quality of staff required to work on the election and the 
Count. 

 
4.7 Preparations for the General Election were overseen and directed by 

the Acting Returning Officer and implemented by the Elections Office 
assisted by a multi-disciplinary Officer Group drawn from many 

Agenda Item 7Page 17



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
Council Departments. A comprehensive Elections Plan was drawn up 
for conducting the Election along with separate Count and Risk 
Management Plans. These plans were kept under regular review 
during the months prior to the anticipated date of the General Election 
and were ready for implementation as soon as the date of the Election 
was announced. 

 
4.8 The Electoral Commission recommends that no polling station should 

be allocated more than 2,500 electors and was highly critical in its 
report of the much higher numbers that some stations in the areas 
which experienced problems were expected to handle (in one case 
amounting to 4,469 electors). In Dartford the largest number of 
electors allocated to a single station was 2,474 and only 10 stations, 
out of 56 had more than 2,000 electors on their registers. 

 
4.9 The Commission also issues guidance over the appropriate level of 

staffing for polling stations with a minimum staffing level of one 
Presiding Officer and one Poll Clerk per station for stations with less 
than 1,000 electors plus a further poll clerk for the next 750 electors 
and a third for another 750 up to a maximum of 2,500. Dartford’s 
staffing arrangements are fully compliant with these recommendations. 
In addition staffing allocations also take past experience and ability 
into account and any staff who have not proved suitable for any 
reason are not used again. Polling station staff receive appropriate 
briefing and are issued with the Electoral Commission’s 
comprehensive Polling Station Handbook and additional notes. This 
includes contact details for the Elections Office and key staff. Polling 
station staff are advised to make contact if any issues or problems 
arise.  

 
4.10 During Polling Day every polling station is inspected by a senior 

Visiting Officer (duties performed by the Acting Returning Officer, and 
the Executive and Regeneration Directors) as soon as possible after 
the polls open to ensure that stations are complying in full with 
electoral requirements and that the correct processes and advice are 
being applied. Other senior officers are available throughout the day to 
visit stations in case of difficulty and to deal with any issues. A list of 
reserve staff is also maintained to deal with emergency situations.  

 
4.11 The Electoral Commission was critical of the contingencies put in 

place in some of the areas where problems occurred but it is fair to 
say that in practice many of the same contingencies would have 
applied in Dartford as there are only a limited number of actions that 
can be taken in response to some of these problems. However the key 
point is that the outcomes would have been different because the 
Council applied more prudent planning assumptions. No polling 
stations were understaffed and the Council had assumed and planned 
for a much higher turnout than actually materialised. Unlike some 
authorities which faced the possibility of running out of ballot papers by 

Agenda Item 7 Page 18



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
underprinting on the basis of an assumed level of turnout, Dartford 
ordered sufficient ballot papers to cater for a 100% turnout. Polling 
station staff were appropriately briefed and were fully aware of the 
need to raise issues with the Election Office at an early stage and all 
stations were contacted by office staff during the day to ensure that 
everything was going according to plan. No polling stations were 
located in unsuitable buildings. 

 
4.12 In addition to maintaining robust planning processes the Council also 

undertakes comprehensive reviews of electoral arrangements 
following each election to identify any issues, opportunities for 
improvement or best practice. Following the General Election  
comprehensive review meetings took place involving the multi-
disciplinary officer team on 4 June, led by the Member Services 
Manager, and the Strategic Senior Officer Team on 19 July chaired by 
the Acting Returning Officer. Feedback from both meetings will inform 
the planning process for future elections and referendums. A report on 
the latest review of polling places appears elsewhere on the Sub-
Committee’s agenda. 

 
4.13 The Electoral Commission’s findings are a timely reminder about the 

dangers of complacency. However it is difficult to see that similar 
difficulties could arise in Dartford in view of the prudent approach 
taken to planning and resourcing the electoral process. Providing this 
remains the case in future Members can be assured that these 
problems should not occur in Dartford.      

 
5.  Report on the Administration of the 2010 UK General Election            

    
 

5.1     The central message of this Electoral Commission report is a warning 
that the basic building blocks of electoral administration need long 
term reform, support and maintenance and that, whilst the 
Government has set out an ambitious programme of democratic 
reform this will also put more pressure on the machinery of electoral 
administration at a time of financial constraint. The report also contains  
many statistics about the conduct of the General Election which 
generally support the conclusion that the election was well conducted 
but also that some of the problems described in the interim report do 
seem to have damaged public confidence in the running of the 
election. Two thirds of voters surveyed by the Commission were 
confident that the 2010 elections were well run but one third were not 
confident of this compared to just 4% at the 2009 elections. Only 78% 
of candidates at the General Election were satisfied with the way that 
the elections were run.  

 
5.2 The Electoral Commission report sets out its agenda for the next five 

years including: 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 19



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 

• The introduction of individual voter registration; 

• Reconsidering the timing of the annual canvass in order to 
ensure complete and accurate electoral registers; 

• The simplification and consolidation of electoral legislation; 

• Asking the Government to bring forward proposals for a 
comprehensive electoral modernisation strategy including 
strengthening the security of postal voting, lengthening the 
timetable for Parliamentary elections from 17 to 30 working 
days, looking at further options for advance voting and 
reviewing the case for requiring voters to show proof of identity 
when voting in polling stations; 

• A change in the law to allow voters who are in a queue at a 
polling station at  the close of poll to vote; 

• Dealing with a raft of problems in the current legal framework 
such as poorly designed ballot papers and voter materials, 
descriptions and emblems for joint party candidates, emergency 
proxy votes not being available to people unable to vote at the 
last minute due to employment related reasons, Returning 
Officers being unable to request refresher signatures from 
absent voters and the limited number of suitable buildings that 
can be used as polling stations; 

• Ensuring that elections and electoral administration is properly 
and transparently funded; 

• Reviewing the regulatory regime for party and candidate 
spending; 

• Any changes to electoral law to be fully consulted and 
introduced at least six months before the next general election 
in order to allow for proper planning; and 

• The current election petition process to be reformed to allow for 
easier challenge of results by candidates on the grounds of 
poor administration.  

 
5.3 The Electoral Commission’s agenda contains an ambitious 

programme for the future. Electoral administrators have been pressing 
the case for the consolidation of the myriad electoral laws and 
regulations for years and the proposal to extend the electoral timetable 
is long overdue. The 17 working day timetable for the General Election 
placed unnecessary demands on elections staff which do not sit easily 
with rules introduced in recent years which allow for registration up to 
11 days before the election thereby not allowing the production of 
registers until 5 days before the election. Three key deadlines fell on 
the same day, 20 April: close of nominations, and the deadlines for 
applications to register and to vote by post. This put immense 
pressure on staff during “Super Tuesday”. At the same time staff 
dealing with combined elections found themselves operating according 
to different, and not complimentary, statutory timetables. The tight 
General Election timetable also made it difficult to train and brief staff 
as fully as might be desired in future to ensure the efficient conduct of 
an election, particularly against a background of financial constraint. 

Agenda Item 7 Page 20



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
The timetable also resulted in many overseas votes and replacement 
postal votes not being received back, nationally, in time to be counted. 
Individual registration as opposed to householder registration 
represents a major change and has already been introduced in 
Northern Ireland where voters are also required to produce 
photographic identification when casting their votes at polling stations. 
This seems to have had little impact on voter turnout but would 
represent a big change of practice. Each change introduced to 
improve the integrity and flexibility of the electoral process also 
introduces fresh challenges and demands for administrators which will 
need to be resourced in order to deliver the expected results.     

 
5.4 Since the publication of the report the Government has announced 

that it intends to introduce individual registration in 2014, with the 
proviso that no-one will be removed from the electoral register for 
failing to register individually until after the 2015 general election. 
Individuals will therefore have at least 12 months to comply with the 
new compulsory requirement of individual registration, ensuring that 
the register used for the election will be as complete as possible. 
However from 2014 all new registrants and all those requesting a 
postal or proxy vote would have to register individually.            

 
6.  Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The provision of effective electoral services underpins the Council’s democratic 
processes and reflects a strongly performing Council. 
 

 7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 
Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Failure to establish and implement 
suitable plans and contingency 
arrangements could result in electoral 
challenge and cost to the authority both 
in terms of finance and reputation. 

 
 

8.  Appendices 
 
Appendix A – The Electoral Commission Interim report “2010 UK General Election 
– Review of Problems at Polling Stations at Close of Poll on 6 May 2010” 
 
Appendix B – The Electoral Commission “Report on the administration of the 2010 
UK General Election” 

 

Agenda Item 7Page 21



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Electoral 
Commission 
Interim Report  
“2010 UK 
General 
Election – 
Review of 
problems at 
Polling Stations 
at Close of Poll 
on 6 May 2010”  
 
Electoral 
Commission 
“Report on the 
administration 
of the 2010 UK 
General 
Election” 
 

20 
May 
2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
July 
2010 

 Alan Twyman 
Member Services 
Manager  

Member 
Services /  
Executive 
Directorate 

N/A 

  
 

Agenda Item 7 Page 22



2010 UK Parliamentary
general election
Interim report: review of problems at polling

stations at close of poll on 6 May 2010

20 May 2010

Appendix A

Agenda Item 7Page 23



Translations and other formats 

For information on obtaining this 

publication in another language or in 

a large-print or Braille version, please 

contact the Electoral Commission:

Tel: 020 7271 0500

Email: publications@electoralcommission.org.uk

© The Electoral Commission 2010

Agenda Item 7 Page 24



Contents

1 Introduction and summary 1
Summary of the main problems and the changes needed 1
The scope of this review 3
Our approach to this review 3

2 The statutory framework for providing and managing 
polling stations 

5

Roles and responsibilities 5
The law and guidance on providing polling stations and 
conducting the poll 

8

3 The scale and nature of problems at polling stations on 
6 May 2010 

16

The areas affected 16
The scale of problems experienced 17
The experience at the polling stations affected 19
What caused the problems? 25

4 Conclusions and areas for change 29
The restrictive rules which prevented participation should be 
changed

29

Local authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers should 
review their approach to planning for adequate polling station 
and staffing provision for all future elections – the Electoral 
Commission will give more prescriptive guidance 

30

The unnecessary and inappropriate structural complexity in 
electoral administration should be addressed

32

Appendix

<xx>

Agenda Item 7Page 25



1 Introduction and summary 

1.1 The UK held a Parliamentary general election on Thursday 6 May 2010, 
and in many areas of England local government elections were also held at 
the same time. During the final hours of polling, there were reports of queues 
forming outside some polling stations, and it was later reported that some 
people in those queues had been unable to vote when polls closed at 10pm.

1.2 These problems were not widespread, but some voters were badly let 
down on 6 May. Everyone involved in running elections must make sure that it 
never happens again.

1.3 The responsibility for running Parliamentary and other elections in the 
United Kingdom lies with independent local Returning Officers appointed for 
each of the 650 constituencies of the UK Parliament.

1.4 The UK Electoral Commission does not run elections but we do provide 
advice and guidance to those who run elections, and we set standards for 
how they do their jobs, and monitor their performance.  Some of those running 
the elections on 6 May failed to follow our guidance, and their performance fell 
short of the expected standard. We also have a duty to report on the 
administration of UK Parliamentary general elections, and to keep electoral 
law under review. 

1.5 We made a commitment to carry out a swift review and publish an 
interim report in advance of publishing our scheduled election report in July 
2010, to establish more clearly the scale and nature of the particular problems 
with queues at the close of polling, and to identify what the next steps should 
be towards addressing the causes of the problems.

Summary of the main problems and the changes needed

1.6 As part of this interim review we have identified a total of 27 polling 
stations in 16 constituencies where we have been able to confirm that there 
were problems with queues at the close of poll on 6 May 2010. In total, more 
than 40,000 polling stations were used at the May 2010 elections. Just over 
1,200 people appear to have been affected, although there are some areas 
where the (Acting) Returning Officer has not yet been able to provide an 
estimate of the number of people affected. 

1.7 The main factors that we have identified as having contributed to these 
problems were: 

! Evidence of poor planning assumptions in some areas.  

! Use of unsuitable buildings and inadequate staffing arrangements at 
some polling stations. 

! Contingency arrangements that were not properly triggered or were 
unable to cope with demand at the close of poll.

1

Agenda Item 7 Page 26



! Restrictive legislation which meant that those present in queues at 
polling stations at the close of poll were not able to be issued with a 
ballot paper.

1.8 Urgent action is required to make sure these problems do not happen 
again – major elections are scheduled to take place in all parts of the UK in 
May 2011, and at the time of publishing this report it remains the case that a 
Parliamentary general election could be called at any time. This report sets 
out the urgent changes which we believe are necessary: 

The restrictive rules which prevented participation should be 
changed

! Legislation should be introduced to amend the relevant rules for all 
elections in the UK to make clear that any elector who is entitled to vote 
at a polling station and who is in the queue to enter the polling station at 
the close of poll will be allowed to vote. 

! As part of a comprehensive electoral modernisation strategy, the UK 
Government should consider what role advance polling might play in 
helping to provide more flexible options for people wanting to vote and 
reducing the potential for queues to build up on polling day; (Acting) 
Returning Officers should be given statutory powers to use any public 
building as a polling station. 

Local authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers should review 
their approach to planning for adequate polling station and staffing 
provision for all future elections – the Electoral Commission will 
give more prescriptive guidance 

! (Acting) Returning Officers for any future elections in the UK should – as 
a matter of urgency – review their planning assumptions for the provision 
and staffing of polling stations, reflecting on the problems at the May 
2010 elections.

! Local authorities in Great Britain should take steps immediately to begin 
the process of conducting reviews of polling districts and polling places, 
reflecting on the problems identified at the May 2010 elections.

! The Electoral Commission will review our guidance for (Acting) 
Returning Officers to set out in more detail key factors they should 
consider in planning for the provision and staffing of polling stations. We 
will also consider whether, although we have no formal powers to require 
(Acting) Returning Officers to co-operate, we can put informal monitoring 
arrangements in place to ensure that these recommended actions are 
taken.

! The Electoral Commission will publish our assessment and analysis of 
the performance of (Acting) Returning Officers at the 2010 UK 
Parliamentary general election as part of our scheduled election 
reporting in July. We will use the results of this interim review, and the 
performance standards assessment, to identify particular areas where 
we will need to follow up and challenge poor performance. 

2

Agenda Item 7Page 27



The unnecessary and inappropriate structural complexity in 
electoral administration should be addressed 

! The UK Government should bring forward a comprehensive plan for 
modernising and ensuring professional electoral administration in Great 
Britain, including responding to the recommendations made in the 
Commission’s August 2008 review of electoral administration in the UK. 

The scope of this review 

1.9 This interim review focused on the problems experienced by people in 
queues at polling stations who were unable to vote when polls closed at 
10pm. There were a number of other problems which may have affected 
voters on polling day, including incorrect information printed on poll cards and 
ballot papers, and we will reflect these issues when we produce our main 
election report in July this year. 

1.10 We have taken as the starting point for this interim review the 23 
constituencies where queues were reported outside polling stations at the 
close of poll on 6 May. For seven of these constituencies we have received no 
complaints directly from members of the public that they were unable to vote 
as a result of queues at polling stations at the close of poll, and having de-
briefed polling station staff the (Acting) Returning Officer has confirmed to us 
that they believe there were no queues at the close of poll.

1.11 We have also taken into account direct feedback from people who said 
they were affected by problems with queues at polling stations. Most of these 
responses corroborate the initial reports of which areas were affected, but up 
to five other areas with possible problems have also been identified following 
comments from electors. In the short time available we have not been able to 
include these additional areas in this analysis, but we will nevertheless fully 
investigate all complaints made to us and conclude this analysis in time for 
our scheduled election report in July. 

Our approach to this review 

1.12 During the week after the election, 10–14 May, we conducted a series of 
interviews with the (Acting) Returning Officers for the 23 constituencies where 
problems were initially reported to have occurred.

1.13 We also reviewed comments submitted directly to the Commission by 
people who may have been affected by problems, and we received comments 
on the areas included in this review from approximately 500 people since 
Friday 7 May. We also invited feedback from political parties and Members of 
Parliament for the constituencies affected. We will continue to monitor and 
respond to any comments or feedback received after we have published this 
interim report. 

1.14 This report sets out the Commission’s conclusions from this interim 
review. Section 2 sets out the complex legal and procedural framework which 

3

Agenda Item 7 Page 28



underpins the administration of elections, and in particular the provision and 
staffing of polling stations. Section 3 sets out an initial analysis of the 
information that we have so far been able to gather from the people who 
experienced problems on 6 May and from the (Acting) Returning Officers 
responsible for the constituencies involved. Finally, section 4 explains the 
conclusions we have drawn from this review, and the key changes which we 
think are needed to ensure these problems are not repeated at future 
elections.

4

Agenda Item 7Page 29



2 The statutory framework for providing and 
managing polling stations 

2.1 This section explains what UK electoral law says about responsibilities 
for planning and managing elections and on procedures at the close of poll 
including the rules for issuing ballot papers and closing polling stations. It also 
sets out the relevant Electoral Commission guidance for (Acting) Returning 
Officers and local authorities, including the performance standards for (Acting) 
Returning Officers which relate to planning and organisation issues. 

Roles and responsibilities 

2.2 The structure of electoral administration is highly complex and varies 
between the different parts of the United Kingdom. The following paragraphs 
set out the structures of electoral administration across the UK and the roles 
of those responsible for the conduct of the 6 May 2010 elections in more 
detail.

Legislation and funding arrangements 

2.3 The legal framework for the conduct of UK Parliamentary general 
elections is set out in primary legislation, specifically in the Representation of 
The People Acts of 1983 and 2000, as amended by a number of additional 
statutes.

2.4 Funding for the conduct of UK Parliamentary general elections is 
provided by the UK Government. The maximum amount of money which can 
be claimed per constituency for the conduct of the election is set by a Fees 
and Charges Order made by the UK Government. The Order for the 2010 UK 
Parliamentary general election was made on 15 March 2010, and guidance 
notes were also published in March 2010.1

2.5 The Order for the 2010 UK Parliamentary general election allowed 
discretion for individual (Acting) Returning Officers to allocate different levels 
of funding (within the overall maximum amount) to different parts of the 
process as they saw fit, rather than a prescriptive schedule of amounts which 
could be claimed. 

2.6 The legal framework for local government elections in England is set 
out principally in regulations made under the Representation of the People Act 
1983. Funding for the administration of local government elections in England 
is provided directly by the local authorities concerned: each local authority 
fixes a maximum amount, and all expenditure properly incurred by a local 
government Returning Officer must be paid by the relevant local authority as 
long as it is within the maximum.2

                                           
1
 The Parliamentary Elections (Returning Officers’ Charges) Order 2010, see 

http://www.justice.gov.uk/guidance/general-election-2010.htm for the guidance notes. 
2
 Section 36(4), RPA 1983. 

5

Agenda Item 7 Page 30



Conduct of elections 

2.7 In broad terms, Returning Officers are responsible for the administration 
of elections in accordance with the rules set out in legislation. Where the term 
(Acting) Returning Officer is used in this report, it is used to refer to both the 
Returning Officer in England and Wales and the Returning Officer at UK 
Parliamentary general elections in Scotland. 

Returning Officers for UK Parliamentary general elections – England and 
Wales
2.8 In England and Wales, the Representation of the People Act 1983 
specifies that the Returning Officer for the election of a member of the UK 
Parliament is the Sheriff of the County – an unpaid, partly ceremonial post 
appointed by the Crown – for a county constituency, and the mayor or 
chairman of the district council for a borough constituency in England or of a 
county borough in Wales.3 The formal rights of the Returning Officer are only 
to receive and return the writ for the election, and to announce the result at 
the end of the count if they wish to do so.

2.9 The responsibility for actually discharging the duties of the Returning 
Officer for the administration of the election lies with an (Acting) Returning 
Officer for each constituency, who is the person appointed as the Electoral 
Registration Officer for the local authority area.4 In most instances this is the 
Chief Executive of the local authority, but may be another senior officer. The 
individual appointed as (Acting) Returning Officer may claim a fee for the 
services provided, in accordance with amounts specified in the Fees and 
Charges Order for the election. 

2.10 (Acting) Returning Officers can appoint Deputies with full or specific 
duties to assist them, but they remain personally responsible for the conduct 
of the election. The detailed planning and administration of the election is 
usually carried out by members of the local authority’s permanent staff. 

Returning Officers for UK Parliamentary general elections – Scotland 
2.11 In Scotland, the Returning Officer for the election of a member of the UK 
Parliament is the same person who has been appointed by the local authority 
as the Returning Officer for local government elections.5 As in England, in 
most instances this is the Chief Executive of the local authority. The role of 
(Acting) Returning Officer is not used in Scotland. The individual appointed as 
Returning Officer may claim a fee for the services provided, in accordance 
with amounts specified in the Fees and Charges Order for the election. 

2.12 As in England and Wales, Returning Officers in Scotland can also 
appoint deputies, known as Deputes; and the detailed planning and 
administration of the election is usually carried out by members of the local 
authority’s permanent staff. 

                                           
3
 Section 24, RPA 1983. 

4
 Section 28, RPA 1983. 

5
 Section 25, RPA 1983. 

6

Agenda Item 7Page 31



Returning Officer for UK Parliamentary general elections – Northern 
Ireland
2.13 The Chief Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland is the Returning Officer 
for all elections in Northern Ireland, including UK Parliamentary general 
elections.6 The Chief Electoral Officer is appointed by the Secretary of State 
for Northern Ireland, and is supported by permanent staff in the Electoral 
Office for Northern Ireland (EONI).  

2.14 The EONI consists of seven Area Electoral Offices located across 
Northern Ireland. Each office is headed by an area electoral officer whose role 
is primarily to manage the compilation of the electoral register, and each area 
electoral officer is also appointed as a Deputy Returning Officer. 

Returning Officers for local government elections in England 
2.15 A number of local authorities in England also held elections on the same 
day as the UK Parliamentary general election on 6 May 2010.

2.16 Every district, unitary, metropolitan and London borough council is 
required to appoint an officer of the council to be the Returning Officer for the 
election of councillors to the local authority.7 This person is generally the 
same person who has been appointed as the Electoral Registration Officer, 
but they do not have to be. 

2.17 As is the case for UK Parliamentary general elections, Returning Officers 
for local government elections can appoint deputies to carry out all or some of 
their functions, but they remain personally responsible for the conduct of the 
election.

2.18 Where the poll at a UK Parliamentary general election is combined with 
the poll at a local government election, the (Acting) Returning Officer takes on 
some of the functions of the local government Returning Officer.8 The law 
sets out which functions in that case become the responsibility of the (Act
Returning Officer.

ing)

                                           

9 These functions include the provision and equipment of 
polling stations and the appointment of Presiding Officers and Poll Clerks. 

Guidance, performance monitoring and review 

2.19 The Electoral Commission provides advice and assistance on electoral 
matters to all those involved in elections, including (Acting) Returning Officers 
at UK Parliamentary general elections in Great Britain and Returning Officers 
at local government elections in England.10 We publish a range of manuals, 
circulars, templates and online resources. We also provide briefings and 
seminars, and an enquiries service, for those who run elections.

6
 Section 26, RPA 1983. 

7
 Section 35, RPA 1983. 

8
 Regulation 4, Representation of the People (Combination of Polls) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2004. 
9
 Regulation 5(2), Representation of the People (Combination of Polls) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2004. 
10

 Section 10, Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000. 

7

Agenda Item 7 Page 32



2.20 Guidance provided by the Commission is, however, advisory, not 
binding, and there is no requirement on (Acting) Returning Officers to follow it. 

2.21 We also have powers to set and monitor performance standards for 
(Acting) Returning Officers in Great Britain.11 The performance standards for 
(Acting) Returning Officers are published on our website at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/performance-standards, and they include 
standards relating to the key areas of planning and management, electoral 
integrity and public awareness. They are not intended to replicate or monitor 
the detailed rules governing the conduct of elections. 

2.22 We can formally direct (Acting) Returning Officers to report, after a UK 
Parliamentary general election, to us on how they have performed against 
these standards – on the basis of their view of the assessment of the 
evidence, which we may audit.  

2.23 We published performance standards for Returning Officers in March 
2009 and on 16 March 2010 we directed (Acting) Returning Officers for all 
Parliamentary constituencies in Great Britain to report against the standards 
by 28 May 2010. We will report our analysis of the performance of (Acting) 
Returning Officers at the May 2010 elections in our July statutory election 
report, although this interim report includes some initial information about the 
performance of (Acting) Returning Officers in the areas covered by our review. 

2.24 Although we publish our assessment of how (Acting) Returning Officers 
have performed against the standards, neither the Commission nor any other 
body has any powers to compel (Acting) Returning Officers to improve their 
performance where they fall short of the standards. We do, however, use the 
results of our assessments to identify particular areas which they may need 
support and more detailed monitoring to improve performance.

The law and guidance on providing polling stations and 
conducting the poll 

General principles 

2.25 The law governing the conduct of a UK Parliamentary general election is 
set out principally in the Representation of the People Act 1983 (the RPA),12

which sets out the legislative basis for the appointment and duties of (Acting) 
Returning Officers (as statutory appointees charged with the running of 
elections) as well as prescribing the Parliamentary Elections Rules13 (the 

                                           
11

 This power does not apply in Northern Ireland or to local government elections in Scotland. 
12

 The law governing the conduct of a local government election is set out in secondary 
legislation that derives from the RPA 1983. It is similar, if not identical, in many respects to the 
parliamentary elections rules. References to the local government elections are therefore 
included only where the law differs to that for a parliamentary election. 
13

 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 

8

Agenda Item 7Page 33



Rules), the detailed rules for the conduct of the UK Parliamentary general 
election.14

2.26 An (Acting) Returning Officer has a duty to conduct a parliamentary 
election; and any such election must be conducted in accordance with the 
Rules.15 The Rules contain provision for the setting up and resourcing of 
polling stations, as well as the procedure throughout polling day, the close of 
poll and the count. 

2.27 The Courts have made it plain that Parliament has conferred duties but 
not discretions on (Acting) Returning Officers – (Acting) Returning Officers 
have a duty to follow the rules, and no discretion to depart from them. This 
principle ensures that (Acting) Returning Officers do not act in any way that is 
(or appears to be) partial, judgmental between candidates, inconsistent or 
arbitrary.16

Provision of polling districts and polling places, polling stations and 
staff

2.28 Each constituency for a UK Parliamentary general election is divided 
into a number of polling districts – this enables the practical administration 
of the polling process to be carried out at a reasonably local level. Each 
polling district has a designated polling place, which is the building or area 
within which polling stations will be selected by (Acting) Returning Officers. 
Each polling place may contain one or more polling stations, each of which 
consists of a discrete set of staff, ballot boxes, polling booths and electoral 
register to allow those included on the register to be issued with and to cast a 
vote.

2.29 While individual (Acting) Returning Officers are responsible for the 
administration of the election, local authorities in Great Britain have a separate 
responsibility for determining and keeping under review a ‘scheme’ of polling 
districts for constituencies (which sets out the areas which make up each 
polling district) and for designating polling places within each district.17 This 
responsibility falls to the Chief Electoral Officer in Northern Ireland. 

2.30 Local authorities in Great Britain were required to carry out a review of 
parliamentary polling districts and polling places in 2007 and should repeat 
the review at least once every four years after that, although authorities are 
able to undertake a review at any time.

2.31 In undertaking a review, authorities are required to seek the views of 
people who have particular expertise in relation to access to premises or 
facilities for people who have different forms of disability. They must always 
consult the (Acting) Returning Officer as part of any review.  While the (Acting) 

                                           
14

 See the Local Elections (Principal Areas) (England and Wales) Rules 2006 for 
corresponding rules relating to a local government election. 
15

 Section 23, RPA1983.   
16

 R (Begum) v Tower Hamlets [2006] LGR 674; R (De Beer) v Balabanoff [2002] EWHC 670 
17

 Sections 18A to 18E, RPA 1983. 

9

Agenda Item 7 Page 34



Returning Officer is required to make representations to the local authority as 
part of the review, the ultimate responsibility remains with the local authority.

2.32 Once a local authority has made a polling district scheme, specified 
interested parties – including any group of 30 or more electors – may make 
representations to the Electoral Commission to reconsider any polling district 
scheme.18 The Electoral Commission may direct the relevant authority to 
make any alterations to the polling places that the Commission think 
necessary in the circumstances and, if the alterations are not made within two 
months, may make the alterations itself.19

2.33 Within the framework of the local authority’s polling district scheme, the 
Rules require the (Acting) Returning Officer to ensure adequate resources are 
available for the conduct of the poll. In particular the (Acting) Returning Officer 
must decide how many polling stations are required for each polling place,
and must allocate electors to the polling stations in such manner as he or she 
thinks most convenient.20

2.34 The (Acting) Returning Officer must also provide enough equipment, 
including ballot papers and ballot boxes, and members of staff necessary for 
the conduct of the election.21 The (Acting) Returning Officer must also provide 
copies of the register of electors, or such part of it as contains the names of 
the electors allotted to the polling station.22 A polling place containing three 
polling stations, for example, must be provided with three sets of staff, 
materials and the electoral register split into three separate parts. 

Electoral Commission guidance on provision of polling districts, polling 
stations and resources 
The Electoral Commission has issued the following guidance to local 
authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers on polling district reviews and 
planning for the provision and staffing of polling stations: 

! June 2007, Electoral Commission Circular EC28/2007 Reviews of polling 
districts, polling places and polling stations – provided guidance to local 
authorities and Returning Officers on the new duty to keep polling districts, 
polling places and polling stations under review, setting out a range of 
factors which should be taken into account, including the possibility that 
turnout may be higher at UK Parliamentary general elections than at local 
government elections. 

! March 2009, Performance standards for Returning Officers – set out the 
expected standard of planning required by (Acting) Returning Officers, in 
particular that formal, written plans are in place for any election which 
should include: 
– clearly defined objectives and success measures 

                                           
18

 Section 18D, RPA 1983 – does not apply in Northern Ireland. 
19

 Section 18D(4), RPA 1983. 
20

 Rule 25 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 
21

 Rule 25 (5), Rule 26 and Rule 29 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 
22

 Rule 29(3) Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 

10

Agenda Item 7Page 35



– risks – identification and mitigation 
– recruitment of temporary/permanent staff where needed 
– business continuity arrangements 
– consideration of physical and communication accessibility, including a

plan of the layout of the count premises 
– an outline of the roles and duties of all the staff present at the count 

! September 2009, Electoral Commission Circular EC18/2009 – Checklist: 
actions to take now to ensure you are ready to deliver a well-run UK 
Parliamentary general election – provided a checklist of action points for 
(Acting) Returning Officers to complete as soon as possible in order to 
ensure that they and their team would be ready to deliver the election 
when Parliament was dissolved. The checklist asked (Acting) Returning 
Officers to identify what was new or different about the forthcoming UK 
Parliamentary general election, and consequently what issues they would 
need to pay particular attention in their planning. One example that was 
highlighted was turnout: 

“Turnout at a UK Parliamentary election may be higher than for other
types of election. Think about the impact this could have on all of the
election processes, such as number of polling stations, numbers of  
enquiries from the public, supply of ballot papers to polling stations and
the count.” 

! September 2009, Essentials of effective election management: Planning 
for a UK Parliamentary general election – highlighted the duties of local 
authorities in maintaining and reviewing polling district and polling places 
schemes, and provided guidance to (Acting) Returning Officers on 
planning for polling station staffing and equipment requirements. It also 
emphasised the importance of taking into account experience at previous 
elections, and noted the recommended staffing ratios included in the Fees 
and Charges guidance issued by the UK Government for the 2005 UK 
Parliamentary general election: 

“The recommended ratios for staffing arrangements at the last UK 
Parliamentary general election were as follows: 
–   In addition to a Presiding Officer, there should be one Poll Clerk for       
    1,000 voters or less. 
–    One additional Poll Clerk may be appointed for the next 750 electors. 
–   A third Poll Clerk may be appointed to a polling station with up to a
     maximum of 2,500 electors. 
–   Wherever possible, a polling station should not have more than 2,500
     electors allocated to it.” 

11

Agenda Item 7 Page 36



Conduct of the poll 

2.35 An election must be conducted in accordance with a strict timetable. 
Polling takes place between the hours of 7am and 10pm on the day of the 
election.23

2.36 A ballot paper must be correctly issued to a voter who applies for one 
before 10pm. The law sets out the process which must be followed when 
issuing ballot papers.24 This includes: 

! calling out the number and name of the elector as stated in the copy of 
the electoral register 

! marking the number of the elector on the corresponding number list of 
ballot papers issued 

! placing a mark in the register against an elector’s number to denote that 
a ballot paper has been received.

2.37 The steps that must be carried out when issuing a ballot paper and 
voting necessarily affect the speed at which a polling station can deal with 
voters.

2.38 A voter who is duly issued with a ballot paper is required forthwith to 
mark his paper and then, having shown the Presiding Officer the back of the 
paper, to put it in the Presiding Officer’s presence in the ballot box without 
undue delay. It is the clear duty of the Presiding Officer to see the official mark 
after the voter has marked the paper. 

2.39 There is no provision for extension of polling time, or for the issue of 
ballot papers, beyond 10pm (except in the case of riot or open violence, 
where polling would be adjourned to the following day25). Consequently, there 
is no discretion for the (Acting) Returning Officer to extend the time for polling 
beyond 10pm.

2.40 The Presiding Officer (in the presence of any polling agents) must as 
soon as practicable after the close of the poll seal ballot boxes and take other 
closing down actions relating to election paperwork, and then deliver the 
boxes and election paperwork to the (Acting) Returning Officer.26

2.41 The Courts have previously considered the position where electors have 
turned up to vote but have not been able to cast their ballot by the stipulated 
time for close of the poll. In such case the Courts have held27 that where a 
ballot paper has been duly issued to an elector, that elector should be allowed 
to complete it and put it in the ballot box provided this is done without undue 

                                           
23

 Rule 1 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 
24

 In addition to these steps in Northern Ireland an elector is required to present a valid form 
of photographic identification before being issued with a ballot paper. 
25

 Rule 42 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 
26

 Rule 43 Schedule 1, RPA 1983. 
27

 The West Division of the Borough of Islington [1901] 5 O’M & H 120; Fermanagh and South 
Tyrone [2001] NIQB 36. 

12

Agenda Item 7Page 37



delay. However no ballot papers should be issued after the time of close of 
poll.

2.42 The Courts have stated: 

‘We are of the opinion that the true dividing line is the delivery of the 
ballot paper to the voter. If [a voter] has had a ballot paper delivered to 
him before [10pm] he is entitled in our judgment to mark that ballot 
paper and deposit it in the ballot box before the ballot box is closed and 
sealed. This interpretation of the enactment […..] appears to us to give 
a simple, definite, and just rule of procedure…. As the polling 
commences at [7am] by the officials, and the machinery being ready 
then to supply ballot papers to voters who apply for them, so in our 
view the poll must be no longer ‘kept open’ beyond [10pm], the officials 
then ceasing to supply ballot papers to applicants.’28

2.43 This position found expression most recently by an election court in 
Northern Ireland29 which confirmed in 2001, one hundred years after the case 
referenced above, that: 

‘It was the duty of the presiding officer to close the poll at 10pm by 
ceasing to issue any more voting papers. So long as voting papers 
were issued by 10pm, however, if electors marked them and deposited 
them in the boxes without delay the votes were valid.’30

Electoral Commission guidance on conduct of the poll 

The Electoral Commission has issued the following guidance to (Acting) 
Returning Officers and their polling station staff on managing the conduct of 
the poll: 

! December 2009, Managing a UK Parliamentary general election: guidance 
for (Acting) Returning Officers - Part D gives guidance to (Acting) 
Returning Officers on the poll, including managing polling stations and the 
procedure on the close of poll: 

“All polling station staff should be required to attend a briefing session  
shortly before polling day. This session should give Presiding Officers  
and Poll Clerks all the information that they require to run the poll,
including any relevant local information. 

Presiding Officers should be briefed to close their polling stations
punctually at 10pm.”

! February 2010, Handbook for polling station staff – sets out the process 
that Presiding Officers should follow on close of poll:

                                           
28

 The West Division of the Borough of Islington [1901] 5 O’M & H 120 @ 129. 
29

 Fermanagh and South Tyrone [2001] NIQB 36. 
30

 Ibid, page 4. 

13

Agenda Item 7 Page 38



“• Make sure that the doors to the polling station are closed at exactly
   10pm. 
 • Anyone who has been issued with a ballot paper by 10pm must be
   allowed to vote. 
 •  No one may be issued with a ballot paper after 10pm even if they
    are inside the polling station and waiting to receive their ballot paper. 

The following are permitted to be present at the close of poll: 
• the (Acting) Returning Officer and staff 
• candidates, election agents and polling agents 
• police officers on duty in the polling station 
• representatives of the Electoral Commission 
• accredited observers 

After the close of poll, the Presiding Officer must seal the slot of the
ballot box(es), and any candidate, election agent or polling agent  
present may also affix their seal to it.” 

Accountability for the administration of elections 

Electoral petitions 
2.44 The outcome of a UK Parliamentary election can only be questioned in 
the courts through a petition complaining of an undue election or undue 
return.31 Those grounds for complaint cover acts or omissions on the part of 
(Acting) Returning Officers or Presiding Officers, as well as actions by 
candidates such as corrupt practices. A local government election may only 
be questioned through a petition complaining that the person whose election 
is questioned was disqualified at the time of the election, was not duly elected 
or that the election was invalidated by corrupt or illegal practices.32

2.45 The category of people entitled to present a petition about a UK
Parliamentary election includes a person who voted as an elector at an 
election or who had a right so to vote,33 as well as a candidate or alleged 
candidate. A petition questioning a local government election may be 
presented by four or more persons who voted or had a right to vote34 (as well 
as a candidate or alleged candidate). A petition must be in a form prescribed 
by rules of court35 and must be presented to the High Court, or the Court of 
Session in Scotland.36 With certain limited exceptions where it relates to the 
election expenses return of a candidate, a petition must be presented within 
21 days.37

                                           
31

 Section 120, RPA 1983. 
32

 Section 127, RPA 1983. 
33

 Section 121, RPA 1983. 
34

 Section 128, RPA 1983. 
35

 Section 185, RPA 1983. 
36

 Sections 121 and 128, RPA 1983. 
37

 Sections 122 and 129, RPA 1983. 

14

Agenda Item 7Page 39



2.46 Thus the only remedy where a voter has been unable to cast his or her 
vote, in either the UK Parliamentary or local elections, is to lodge a petition. 
However the law provides that no election shall be declared invalid by reason 
of any act or omission by an official, if it appears to the relevant tribunal that 
the election was so conducted as to be substantially in accordance with the 
law and the act or omission did not affect the result.38

Breach of official duty
2.47 The RPA 1983 also provides that (Acting) Returning Officers, Presiding 
Officers and their staff can be prosecuted on the grounds of breach of official 
duty. Such prosecutions are rarely considered by prosecutors to be in the 
public interest. Persons found guilty of such an offence would be liable to a 
fine and a criminal conviction.

                                           
38

 Sections 23 and 48, RPA 1983. 

15

Agenda Item 7 Page 40



3 The scale and nature of problems at polling 
stations on 6 May 2010 

The areas affected 

3.1 On polling day, 6 May, and in the days immediately following, there were 
numerous reports of constituencies where people may have been unable to 
vote because of queues forming at polling stations. We took these areas as 
the starting point for our review, and carried out interviews with (Acting) 
Returning Officers and their staff to establish the potential extent of problems 
in those areas. 

3.2 The constituencies which formed the focus of our initial review are listed 
below:

! Birmingham – Birmingham Ladywood constituency  

! Hackney – Hackney North and Stoke Newington, and Hackney South 
and Shoreditch constituencies 

! Islington – Islington North constituency 

! Lewisham – Lewisham Deptford constituency 

! Liverpool – Liverpool Wavertree, and Garston and Halewood 
constituencies 

! Manchester – Manchester Withington constituency 

! Milton Keynes – Milton Keynes North constituency 

! Newcastle-under-Lyme – Newcastle-under-Lyme constituency 

! Newcastle upon Tyne – Newcastle upon Tyne East and Newcastle 
upon Tyne North constituencies 

! Runnymede – Runnymede and Weybridge constituency 

! Sheffield – Sheffield Hallam, Sheffield Heeley, and Penistone and 
Stocksbridge constituencies 

3.3 In several other areas where problems were reported on polling day and 
immediately after, our review has indicated that although voters may have 
faced other problems (which we will address in our scheduled report on the 
elections in July), the problems were not caused by queuing at the close of 
poll. In these areas, we have received no complaints directly from members of 
the public that they were unable to vote as a result of queues at polling 
stations at the close of poll, and having de-briefed polling station staff the 
(Acting) Returning Officer has confirmed to us that they believe there were no 
queues at the close of poll. These constituencies are: 

! Battersea 

! City of Chester 

! Islington South and Finsbury  

! Manchester Central  

! Newcastle upon Tyne Central 

! Sutton Coldfield  

! Tyneside North 

16

Agenda Item 7Page 41



The scale of problems experienced 

3.4 Having conducted detailed interviews with the (Acting) Returning Officer 
(or a senior staff member authorised to speak on behalf of the (Acting) 
Returning Officer) for each of the constituencies listed in paragraph 3.2, we 
set out below our current assessment of the scale of the problems at the close 
of poll on 6 May.

3.5 We are confident that the information we have obtained from (Acting) 
Returning Officers represents a realistic assessment of the problems as far as 
they are aware, although in some cases (Acting) Returning Officers were 
unable to provide an estimate of the numbers of electors affected. We will 
continue to monitor and investigate reports that we have received directly from 
people affected. 

3.6 Some people may have tried to vote earlier during polling day and were 
either unable to wait in a queue to vote or unable to return before the close of 
poll. We have not been able to quantify reliably the number of people who 
may have been affected in this way. 

3.7 Table 1 below summarises the information that we have received from 
(Acting) Returning Officers for each constituency. This information should be 
set in the context of the total of more than 40,000 polling stations which were 
used across the UK at the 2010 UK Parliamentary general election. 

Table 1: Estimated number of electors unable to vote at 10pm as a result 
of polling station queues on 6 May 2010 

Constituency 
(relevant local authority 
areas)

Polling station Estimated
number of 

electors affected 

Birmingham Ladywood 
(Birmingham)

St. Paul’s Church 100

Hackney North and Stoke 
Newington (Hackney) 

Clissold Leisure Centre 30

Trinity Centre 51

Hackney South and 
Shoreditch (Hackney) 

St John the Baptist 
Primary School 

2

Ann Taylor Children’s
Centre

134

Comet Day Nursery 50
Our Lady of St Josephs 
Primary School 

5

Islington North (Islington) St John Highbury Vale 
Primary School 

36

Lewisham Deptford 
(Lewisham) 

City Learning Centre 0*

17

Agenda Item 7 Page 42



Constituency 
(relevant local authority 
areas)

Polling station Estimated
number of 

electors affected 

Liverpool Wavertree 
(Liverpool) 

Rudstone Junior School Information not yet 
available from 

(A)RO
East Wavertree and 
Childwell Community 
Centre

Information not yet 
available from 

(A)RO
Dovedale Junior School Information not yet 

available from 
(A)RO

Booker Avenue Junior 
School

Information not yet 
available from 

(A)RO
Garston and Halewood 
(Liverpool) 

Ambergate Guide Hut Information not yet 
available from 

(A)RO
Manchester Withington 
(Manchester)

Ladybarn Community 
Centre

200

Didsbury United
Reformed Church 

100

Milton Keynes North (Milton 
Keynes)

Wyvern School at 
Wolverton

0*

Newcastle-under-Lyme
(Newcastle-under-Lyme)

St Chad's Church 0*

Newcastle upon Tyne East 
(Newcastle)

Jesmond Church Hall 0*

Heaton Community
Centre

0*

Newcastle upon Tyne North 
(Newcastle)

Gosforth (temporary 
polling station)

7

Runnymede and Weybridge 
(Runnymede and Elmbridge) 

Oatlands County Infant 
School

34

Sheffield Hallam (Sheffield) St John’s Parish Church 
Ranmoor

200

Ecclesall Parish Halls 100
Millhouses Methodist
Church

40

Sheffield Heeley (Sheffield) Woodseats Library 70

Penistone and Stocksbridge 
(Sheffield)

St John’s Church Hall 70

* Note: The (Acting) Returning Officer for these constituencies have confirmed 
that all people queuing at 10pm were in fact able to cast a vote at this polling 
station. See the following section for a description of the actions taken at 
these polling stations. 

18

Agenda Item 7Page 43



The experience at the polling stations affected 

3.8 The following section provides information about what appears to have 
happened at polling stations in each of the areas included in this interim 
review, based on our interviews with the (Acting) Returning Officers for the 
areas affected.

Birmingham

3.9 Concerns centred around the St Paul's Church polling station in the 
Birmingham Ladywood Constituency. For this polling station the total 
electorate was 2,981 of which 303 were postal voters. Therefore 2,678 
electors were eligible to vote at the polling station. Turnout for this election 
increased to 40% compared with 12–18% in the last three years. The polling 
station had one Poll Clerk and a Presiding Officer. Each ward had a polling 
station inspector, compared with one inspector for every two wards in 
previous years. 

3.10 Long queues had formed at this polling station prior to the close of polls. 
A reserve Presiding Officer was sent to the polling station to help with demand 
prior to the close of poll. Subsequently a polling station inspector went to the 
polling station to help the Presiding Officer deal with the situation and explain 
the position to the electors.

3.11 In order to allow as many people as possible to vote the Presiding 
Officer, just before 10.00 pm asked staff present in the polling station to 
confirm the time on their watches. One staff member's watch was about five 
minutes slower than the others. The Presiding Officer took this as the correct 
time and issued ballot papers until that particular watch said 10.00 pm at 
which point the Presiding Officer sealed the ballot boxes and closed the 
polling station. The police were eventually called to disperse the crowd. It is 
estimated that between 65 and 100 electors, some inside and some outside 
the polling station, were turned away without having been issued with ballot 
papers.

3.12 There were also reports of queues at Mere Green polling station in 
Sutton Coldfield and Canterbury Primary School in Aston. The (Acting) 
Returning Officer has spoken to the relevant Presiding Officers who have 
confirmed that while they had queues before the close of polls they closed 
promptly at 10pm and no voters were turned away.

London Borough of Hackney 

3.13 Polling stations were busy throughout much of the day, with voters 
arriving at some polling stations before 7am. Extra polling booths were 
requested by Presiding Officers at some polling stations. In addition, the 
issuing and completion of three ballot papers (for the UK Parliamentary 
general election, the local government election and the Mayoral election) and 
the need to explain the three different voting systems to voters resulted in a 
slowing down of the polling station administration process. 

19

Agenda Item 7 Page 44



3.14 Six polling stations were affected across the two Hackney constituencies 
(Hackney South and Shoreditch, and Hackney North and Stoke Newington). 
These were as follows (numbers in parentheses exclude postal voters): Ann 
Taylor Centre (2,174 electors), Clissold Leisure Centre (1,610 electors), 
Trinity Centre (2,324 electors), St John the Baptist Primary School (2,264 
electors), Comet Day Nursery (2,428 electors) and Our Lady of St Josephs 
Primary School (1,806 electors). The (Acting) Returning Officer has indicated 
that other polling stations in both constituencies with the same resources and 
similar or larger electorates managed to process all voters before 10pm. 

3.15 Of the six affected polling stations, five were assigned one Presiding 
Officer and two Poll Clerks. The exception was Clissold Leisure Centre, which 
had two extra staff allocated on account of it being a triple polling place, 
although only one of the polling stations located within the building had to turn 
away voters at 10pm.

3.16 At 7pm numbers at the six affected polling stations were gradually 
building. By 9.15 – 9.30pm it was clear that there was a problem, with 
significant numbers of people arriving to vote. One extra member of staff was 
deployed at approximately 9pm to the Ann Taylor Centre, but this was not 
sufficient to deal with the scale of the problems with queues. 

3.17 Based on estimates from those who were present, the worst affected 
polling station was the Ann Taylor Centre, with 134 electors being turned 
away, followed by the Trinity Centre (51 electors), Comet Day Nursery (50 
electors) and Clissold Leisure Centre (30 electors). In total, it has been 
estimated that 272 electors were affected at the six polling stations. 

3.18 As 10pm approached some Presiding Officers contacted the elections 
office for advice on what to do at close of poll and then informed waiting 
electors. At approximately 10pm the (Acting) Returning Officer confirmed with 
the Electoral Commission that he was correct to close the polls at 10pm 
despite queuing voters still being present in six polling stations.  

3.19  In some cases the police were called to deal with problems inside and 
outside polling stations and at the Ann Taylor Centre some electors staged a 
sit-in protest. 

London Borough of Islington

3.20 One polling place in the Islington North Constituency (which contained 
two polling stations), St. John Highbury Vale Primary School, reportedly 
experienced high demand at the start and towards the end of the day. It is in 
one of the most highly populated wards in the borough, with a total of 10,700 
electors; 3,900 of these electors were assigned to the polling place. The local 
authority carried out a polling district review in 2007, which sought to 
implement a consistent pattern of three polling districts per ward across the 
borough.

3.21 Excluding people who had been sent postal votes, a total of 1,635 
electors were allocated to one polling station and 1,946 were allocated to the 

20

Agenda Item 7Page 45



other. The (Acting) Returning Officer allocated two Poll Clerks and a Presiding 
Officer for each polling station. 

3.22 One polling station was much busier in the evening than the other. This 
appeared to cause concern from electors, who did not understand why there 
appeared to be unused polling station staff capacity. The problem was 
identified and flagged by a candidate’s agent at about 9.45pm, and the 
Electoral Services Manager sent instructions to the Presiding Officer to 
confirm the correct advice and action which should be taken at close of poll. 
No ballot papers were issued after 10pm. It is estimated that 36 electors may 
have been unable to vote as they were still in the queue. 

London Borough of Lewisham 

3.23 One polling station in the Lewisham Deptford Constituency experienced 
a prolonged build up of voters – City Learning Centre on Manwood Road in 
Crofton Park Ward. By 9pm potential problems in being able to process 
electors in a few polling stations had emerged where demand appeared to be 
high. The flow of electors through the polling stations appeared to be slow and 
the queues were lengthening.  However assignment of Visiting Officers (who 
acted as polling station inspectors) to these stations resolved the issues. 

3.24 In Lewisham, one Presiding Officer and three Poll Clerks were assigned 
to each polling station. Also a Visiting Officer was assigned to each ward 
(previously one inspector had covered two wards). These officers visited each 
polling station a minimum of three times during the day. In the Manwood Road 
polling station there were 1,799 electors eligible to vote; however, as 187 of 
them voted by post, the potential total who could vote at the station was 
1,612. The average number of (non-postal) voters in the Borough's 109 
polling stations was 1,490 and so this polling station had eight per cent more 
than the average. 

3.25 At about 9pm the senior police officer (a Detective Chief Inspector) in 
attendance at the station contacted the (Acting) Returning Officer, via the 
central police control that was at the count, to advise him that there was a real 
danger of a flashpoint at the polling station as the numbers queuing to vote 
were growing and that there was a potential public order problem. At 9.40 the 
(Acting) Returning Officer spoke personally to the Visiting Officer – who was 
at the station helping the Presiding Officer, alongside another Visiting Officer 
from another ward who had been redeployed to assist at this particular station 
– as well as to the DCI who was still on duty. Again, the advice was that a 
public order problem might occur. The (Acting) Returning Officer has indicated 
that prior to the close of poll at this polling station, all electors in the queue 
outside were invited into the polling station to be given their ballot papers. 
Voters with ballot papers then queued in the station to vote. The queue was 
supervised within the station by the police. The polling station was closed at 
10pm.

21

Agenda Item 7 Page 46



Liverpool 

3.26 Voting was steady through the day into the late afternoon. Electors were 
being dealt with swiftly.  Queues began to form at a number of polling stations 
from 7:30pm. However, in most cases, they were only up to ten minutes long.

3.27 Five polling stations were affected: Rudstone Junior School (2,815 
electors allocated, excluding postal voters); East Wavertree & Childwell 
Community Centre (1,285); Dovedale Junior School (2,384); Booker Avenue 
Junior School (960); and Ambergate Road Guide Hut (3,280).  Polling stations 
with fewer than 2,500 electors had been each allocated one Presiding Officer 
and one Poll Clerk; those with greater than 2,500 electors had a second Poll 
Clerk. Additional Poll Clerks were sent to some polling stations in the city to 
deal with unanticipated demand, including Ambergate Road Guide Hut, at 
7pm.

3.28 The polling stations were closed at 10pm and no further ballot papers 
were issued. The (Acting) Returning Officer has not, at this stage, been able 
to provide an estimate of the number of electors who may have been affected. 

Manchester

3.29 Many polling stations reportedly experienced high demand throughout 
the day. As close of poll approached there were reports of staff struggling to 
cope with demand at approximately seven polling stations. The (Acting) 
Returning Officer reported that he was confident that the problems in these 
polling stations were managed by the deployment of additional resources 
during the day and queues at these polling stations were resolved by the 
close of poll. 

3.30 Problems did, however, occur in two further polling places in the 
Manchester Withington constituencies – Ladybarn Community Centre and 
Didsbury United Reformed Church – each of which contained two polling 
stations. In both cases, queues had formed, but additional support was not 
requested until it was too late for any assistance to be effective. 

3.31 The numbers of electors (excluding postal voters) allocated to the 
Ladybarn Community Centre polling stations were 3,132 and 2,761, while the 
Didsbury United Reformed Church polling stations had been allocated 2,661 
electors and 1,604 electors. Each polling station had one Presiding Officer 
and one Poll Clerk. 

3.32 It is estimated that 200 electors may have been affected at Ladybarn 
Community Centre and 100 electors at Didsbury United Reformed Church. 
Electors who were still queuing at 10pm were informed by staff that they were 
not permitted to issue any further ballot papers and no ballot papers were 
issued after the close of poll. 

22

Agenda Item 7Page 47



Milton Keynes 

3.33 The pattern of voting in Milton Keynes North Constituency was steady 
throughout the day, though busier in the evening – this was expected and 
highlighted to polling station staff in their training.

3.34 Excluding postal voters, the Arts Centre had 2,320 electors allocated to 
it, Green Park had 2,707 electors (one station of 2,039 and one of 668) and 
2,282 at the Wyvern School, Wolverton. 

3.35 The Arts Centre and Wyvern School, Wolverton each had one Presiding 
Officer and two Poll Clerks, while the smaller polling station at Green Park had 
one Presiding Officer and one Poll Clerk and the larger one Presiding Officer 
and two Poll Clerks. 

3.36 The (Acting) Returning Officer was made aware that the three polling 
stations had queues at approximately 8.30pm: the Arts Centre, Great Linford; 
Green Park Centre at Newport Pagnell (which contained two polling stations); 
and Wyvern School at Wolverton. In response to this, a senior officer was sent 
out to each of these polling stations for the last hour of polling. The (Acting) 
Returning Officer also went to Wolverton. 

3.37 The (Acting) Returning Officer confirmed that by 10pm one of the polling 
stations – Wolverton – still had a queue consisting of approximately 100 
electors. Following concerns about the safety of staff, the (Acting) Returning 
Officer stopped the queue outside and anyone ahead of that point was 
allowed to vote. 

Newcastle-under-Lyme

3.38 At St Chad’s Church polling station in Chesterton queues had built up 
during the evening of polling day, prompting the Presiding Officer to contact 
the (Acting) Returning Officer for advice on what action to take at the close of 
poll. Approximately 80 people were still queuing to enter the polling station by 
10pm.

3.39 The (Acting) Returning Officer has reported that he considered the 
guidance issued by the Electoral Commission, but decided to allow those who 
had arrived at the polling station before 10pm to be issued with a ballot paper 
and allowed to vote. 

Newcastle upon Tyne 

3.40 Presiding Officers reported that polling had been consistently busy 
across the three constituencies: Newcastle upon Tyne Central, Newcastle 
upon Tyne East and Newcastle upon Tyne North. Some queues had formed 
during the day but it was expected that they would be cleared by 10pm. 
Reports came in after 9pm that there were long queues at a temporary polling 
station in Gosforth.

23

Agenda Item 7 Page 48



3.41 Three polling stations still had queues at 10pm - Heaton Community 
Centre, Jesmond Church Hall and Gosforth temporary polling station. The 
number of electors allocated to the Heaton Community Centre polling station 
was 2,749, while the Jesmond Church Hall polling stations had been allocated 
3,815 electors. The Heaton polling station had one Presiding Officer and two 
Poll Clerks while the Jesmond station had one Presiding Officer and one Poll 
Clerk. The temporary polling station in Gosforth served 2,599 electors and 
had one Presiding Officer and two Poll Clerks.  

3.42 Presiding Officers did not report the anticipated problems in dealing with 
the queues until after 9.00pm (in the case of Heaton, at 9.50pm). The doors of 
these three stations were closed at 10pm, the decision having been taken to 
admit as many queuing electors as was safe. Approximately 100 electors 
were admitted to the Jesmond polling station, 300 to Heaton Community 
Centre and, due to its size, three to the temporary station in Gosforth.  An 
estimated seven people were turned away from the Gosforth station but no 
electors remained outside of the other two.  Staff continued to issue ballot 
papers after 10pm to those electors inside the polling stations.

Runnymede

3.43 Presiding Officers in the Runnymede and Weybridge Constituency 
reported that polling had been busy throughout the day. A queue had formed 
at the Cherstey polling station at around 7:30pm but was no longer evident at 
8:30pm; aside from that, no polling station had reported difficulties. 

3.44 The only area affected at the close of polls was at Oatlands County 
Infant School in Weybridge. The polling place contained three polling stations 
with 1,800, 1,950 and 631 electors allocated respectively. The two larger 
polling stations were served by one Presiding Officer and two Poll clerks each, 
whilst the smallest had one Presiding Officer and one Poll Clerk. The polling 
place was also allocated a ‘floating’ Poll Clerk to assist as needed. At 10pm, 
one of the Presiding Officers reported that there was still a long queue and 
was advised to close the polling station and stop issuing ballot papers, in line 
with the guidance. 

3.45 It is estimated that 34 electors may have been affected at Oatlands. 
Electors who were still queuing at 10pm were informed by staff that they were 
not permitted to issue any further ballot papers and no ballot papers were 
issued after the close of poll. 

Sheffield

3.46 Five polling stations were affected across the City: three in Sheffield 
Hallam; one in Sheffield Heeley and one in Penistone and Stocksbridge 
Constituency. The (Acting) Returning Officer reported that there had been 
queues at various locations throughout polling day and in these cases 
assistance was provided by polling station inspectors.

3.47 The polling station where the largest queues were reported was at St 
John’s Parish Church, Ranmoor, which had 4,469 electors (excluding postal 

24

Agenda Item 7Page 49



voters) allocated to it. The other affected polling stations had been allocated 
the following number of electors (excluding postal voters): Ecclesall Parish 
Rooms (2,904 electors), Millhouses (2,870 electors), Woodseats (2,772 
electors), St John’s Church Hall (2,795 electors).  

3.48 St John’s Ranmoor had one Presiding Officer and three Poll Clerks, with 
additional staff deployed during the evening. The other affected polling 
stations each had one Presiding Officer and two Poll Clerks. 

3.49 It is estimated that 480 electors were affected across the five polling 
stations, with the most electors affected being at St John’s Ranmoor. At this 
polling station, approximately 100 students staged a protest after 10pm. 

3.50 Just before 10pm, clarification was sought from the Commission as to 
whether ballot papers could be issued to any electors after 10pm. Pending 
this, at two of the stations, all electors in the queue were permitted into the 
building in case there was some provision allowing those in the polling station 
at the close of poll to be issued with ballot papers. After the Commission 
confirmed that there was not, the polling station staff then had to remove 
these electors from the polling stations. 

What caused the problems? 

3.51 Queues built up at polling stations on 6 May for various reasons. But in 
most cases, the common factors were inadequate planning processes and 
systems – in particular unrealistic, inappropriate or unreliable assumptions; 
and inadequate risk management and contingency planning. 

Availability and suitability of buildings for use as polling places

3.52 At present, the Rules only provide that (Acting) Returning Officers may 
use certain publicly-funded schools or “rooms funded out of any rate” free of 
charge as premises for polling stations. This means that although there may 
be other fully accessible premises which would make an ideal polling station, 
(Acting) Returning Officers have no legal right to ensure they are able to use 
these premises.

3.53 A number of reports received after 6 May suggested that some of the 
polling stations where voters experienced problems were small, cramped and 
unsuited to dealing with a steady stream of voters – this became particularly 
apparent as 10pm approached, when large queues of electors formed inside 
and outside affected buildings. While it is unlikely that the size or nature of any 
particular building was the primary cause of the problem, it is likely that in 
some cases a cramped environment and the consequent restrictions in the 
layout of polling equipment did impede the efficient throughput of voters, and 
limited the remedial actions that (Acting) Returning Officers were able to take 
in response to reports of queues building up. 

25

Agenda Item 7 Page 50



Allocation of electors to polling stations 

3.54 As outlined in section 2, guidance issued by the UK Government to 
support the Fees and Charges Order for the 2005 UK Parliamentary general 
election indicated that the number of electors allocated to one polling station 
should not exceed 2,500 if this can be avoided.39 That guidance indicated that 
further polling stations should normally be allocated in these circumstances 
but, if there are exceptional circumstances which mean that this is not 
possible, suitable provision should be made bearing in mind the likely 
demand. Although these indicative ratios were not included in the Fees and 
Charges Order for the 2010 UK Parliamentary general election, they were 
directly referenced in the Commission’s Essentials of election management,
issued to (Acting) Returning Officers in 2009.

3.55 In several of the areas we have considered as part of this review, the 
allocation of electors to polling stations far exceeded this ratio, with some of 
the polling stations where voters experienced problems having well in excess 
of 3,000 electors allocated to them and as many as 4,500 electors. (Acting) 
Returning Officers had clearly not anticipated that these elector allocation 
levels would cause problems. It is likely that the problems with queues in 
some areas would have been less serious had fewer electors been allocated 
to certain polling stations. 

Staffing of polling stations 

3.56 The guidance on the staffing of polling stations issued by the UK 
Government for the 2005 UK Parliamentary general election (and referenced 
in guidance issued by the Electoral Commission) recommends that in addition 
to the Presiding Officer (or one senior Presiding Officer per polling place 
where there is more than one polling station), approximately one Poll Clerk for 
the first 1,000 electors and one further Poll Clerk for the next 750 electors at a 
particular polling station should be sufficient. A third Poll Clerk may be 
necessary up to the recommended maximum of 2,500 electors.40

3.57 We found various patterns of staffing across the affected constituencies.
Some (Acting) Returning Officers allocated one Presiding Officer and one Poll 
Clerk to all polling stations regardless of elector allocation. Some allocated 
one Presiding Officer and two Poll Clerks to each polling station. Some based 
their allocation of staff on a ratio of electors to staff as recommended in the 
guidance.

3.58 In some areas extra polling staff were brought in throughout the day and 
in the run up to close of poll in an effort to speed up the administration 
process and provide support and manage queues. In some cases this proved 
effective, although problems which did not arise until late in the evening in 
some areas could not be resolved by 10pm despite additional staff being 
deployed.  

                                           
39

 Acting Returning Officers’ Expenses: Guidance Notes, UK Parliamentary Elections, 
Department for Constitutional Affairs, Electoral Policy Division, February 2005. 
40

 Ibid. 

26

Agenda Item 7Page 51



Electoral registration and turnout 

3.59 Almost all (Acting) Returning Officers in the areas we identified as 
experiencing problems with queues reported to us that polling station turnout 
had been higher in the areas affected than they had anticipated. Some had 
based their assumptions on turnout at elections up to and including the 
previous UK Parliamentary general election in 2005, while others had taken 
into account only local government elections since 2006. (Acting) Returning 
Officers reported that there had been a steady flow of voters throughout the 
day at polling stations and significant surges in demand during the final hours 
before close of poll. In several cases, they told us that polling station staff 
were simply unable to cope with higher than anticipated demand at a relatively 
late stage on polling day. We have not been able, in the time available during 
this interim review, to carry out any detailed analysis of comparative turnout 
for the areas affected. 

3.60 A number of (Acting) Returning Officers reported that the number of 
electors across constituencies increased as a result of registration 
applications received in the last weeks before the deadline for applications on 
20 April, although the impact of this on individual polling stations appears to 
have been minimal. 

3.61 Guidance issued to (Acting) Returning Officers in the year preceding the 
election had highlighted the need to plan on the basis of higher turnout than in 
recent elections, and quite possibly higher than in the last UK Parliamentary 
general election. It appears that some (Acting) Returning Officers’ plans were 
not always based on robust, reasonable assumptions about the possible level 
of turnout. It also appears that contingency plans were not always robust 
enough to cope with demand on polling day itself which was higher than 
(Acting) Returning Officers had anticipated.  

Combining different elections 

3.62 A further factor which contributed to the problems experienced by people 
in queues arose from the fact that in many areas in England the poll at the UK 
Parliamentary general election was combined with the poll at the local 
elections on 6 May, including in London and the large metropolitan boroughs. 
In four areas – the London Boroughs of Hackney, Newham and Lewisham, 
and Watford – the two elections were also combined with an election for a 
directly elected Mayor. In all areas included in the scope of this initial review 
the poll at the UK Parliamentary general election was combined with the poll 
at the local elections. While most (Acting) Returning Officers with combined 
elections coped without difficulty, in some cases (Acting) Returning Officers 
and their staff did not cope so well with the requirement for two, and 
sometimes three, ballot papers to be issued to each voter, and the need – 
especially where there were three separate elections – to explain the different 
ballot papers to voters. This contributed to queues in polling stations. 

3.63 Some (Acting) Returning Officers also reported to us that their staff had 
spent more time than they expected explaining to electors the rules on who 
can vote in which elections – for example, a European Union citizen was 

27

Agenda Item 7 Page 52



eligible to vote in the local government elections but not in the UK 
Parliamentary general elections. However, the majority of areas in England 
where local government elections were held at the same time as the UK 
Parliamentary general election did not report having experienced similar 
problems.

Polling day: monitoring polling stations and dealing with problems  

3.64 An essential element of planning for elections is putting in place effective 
procedures for monitoring the situation in polling stations as the day goes on, 
and mechanisms which enable problems to be escalated and resolved swiftly. 
Most of the (Acting) Returning Officers we interviewed used staff designated 
to act as polling station inspectors to visit polling stations at specified intervals 
throughout the day, e.g. to check that polling stations had been set up 
properly, collect postal votes and to check on how busy the stations were. In 
addition, polling staff generally had mobile phones and were given the 
telephone number of the relevant elections office and (Acting) Returning 
Officer.

3.65 This should have enabled problems to be escalated as soon as they 
occurred so that they could be dealt with quickly. However, despite extra staff 
being deployed in some cases to help deal with the long queues that 
developed at polling stations during the early and later evening, the problems 
were not always resolved by close of poll – even where several hours’ notice 
had been given that problems were occurring. Other polling staff did not report 
problems until very late in the day – some as late as 9.45pm – by which point 
they proved impossible to resolve.

3.66 Our evidence suggests that while all the (Acting) Returning Officers we 
interviewed had a team of polling inspectors in place to visit polling stations in 
their area, and had ensured that all polling staff were contactable should 
problems need to be reported, in most cases these processes did not operate 
effectively. A common factor here seems to have been that staff in polling 
stations were not always clear enough about when they should have 
contacted the elections office or (Acting) Returning Officer urgently to ask for 
help. Even where polling staff reported to polling inspectors that polling was 
heavy throughout the day, this did not always result in prompt action being 
taken to increase resources in those polling stations. 

Actions taken by Presiding Officers at the close of poll 

3.67 We are also aware that in some areas Presiding Officers continued to 
issue ballot papers after the close of poll at 10pm to people who were in 
queues at polling stations. As outlined in section 2, legislation and case law 
has established clearly that no ballot papers should be issued after the close 
of poll at 10pm. Guidance issued to (Acting) Returning Officers and materials 
provided to support Presiding Officers explained the law and the procedure 
which should have been followed in detail. 

28

Agenda Item 7Page 53



4 Conclusions and areas for change 

4.1 There were a number of reasons for the problems on polling day.  Each 
of the areas that we have considered as part of this review appears to have 
experienced different problems, or combinations of problems. 

4.2 But a number of clear conclusions can be drawn, and we need urgent 
changes to ensure these problems do not arise at future elections. 

The restrictive rules which prevented participation should 
be changed 

4.3 The rules governing the procedure at close of poll are summarised in 
section 2 of this report. While the overall amount of time provided for people to 
vote on polling day – 15 hours – is generous in comparison with many other 
mature democracies, the detailed rules for the close of poll in the UK are 
restrictive. They provide no leeway to allow people who have made an effort 
to attend a polling station to exercise their right to vote, if they are still waiting 
to be issued with a ballot paper at the close of poll. 

4.4 The detail of electoral legislation in other countries varies, but in general 
the rules are more inclusive than in the UK. For example, at Federal elections 
in Australia and Parliamentary elections in New Zealand, all electors who are 
present inside the polling place at the close of poll are entitled to vote. At 
Parliamentary elections in Canada, electors who are in the polling station or in 
a queue at the door of the polling station at the close of poll are entitled to 
vote.41

4.5 We believe that there would be clear benefits for voters if the rules for all 
UK elections were revised to provide clarity that those who are present, or in a 
queue, at a polling station at the close of poll are entitled to vote. We first 
recommended a change to this rule following the November 2003 Assembly 
elections in Northern Ireland, but the recommendation has not been 
addressed.42

4.6 This would not absolve (Acting) Returning Officers from the responsibility 
of properly resourcing and managing polling stations to avoid unnecessary 
queues, but would provide a backstop in the event of unexpected late 
demand.

                                           
41

 [Australian] Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918 (No 27) s220; [New Zealand] Electoral Act 
1993 (No 87) s161; Canada Elections Act 2000 (c.9) s153. 
42

 Electoral Commission The Northern Ireland Assembly elections 2003 (2004).

29

Agenda Item 7 Page 54



Urgent actions for the UK Government and the Scottish Government

The UK Government should introduce legislation to amend the relevant rules 
for all elections in the UK to make clear that any elector who is entitled to vote 
at a polling station and who is in the queue to enter the polling station at the 
close of poll will be allowed to vote. The Scottish Government should 
introduce similar legislation for local government elections in Scotland, which 
is a devolved matter. 

Actions required to make this change should be commenced immediately to 
ensure that this problem is not repeated at future elections, including the 
scheduled May 2011 elections to the Scottish Parliament, National Assembly 
for Wales and Northern Ireland Assembly and local government elections in 
England, as well as any future UK Parliamentary general election or by-
elections.

The UK Government should ensure that the rules for any future referendums 
– including the proposed referendum in Wales on further law making powers 
for the National Assembly for Wales – are similarly amended. The Scottish 
Government should introduce similar legislation for any referendums held 
under its powers. 

The UK Government should, as part of a comprehensive electoral 
modernisation strategy, consider what role advance polling might play in 
helping to provide more flexible options for people wanting to vote and 
reducing the potential for queues to build up on polling day. The Scottish 
Government should also consider the relevant implications for local 
government elections in Scotland. The UK and Scottish governments should 
also give Returning Officers statutory powers to use any public building as a 
polling station, as the Electoral Commission has recommended since 2004. 

Local authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers should 
review their approach to planning for adequate polling 
station and staffing provision for all future elections – the 
Electoral Commission will give more prescriptive guidance 

4.7 It is clear that some polling stations were unable to cope with demand 
from people wanting to vote on 6 May. While not all constituencies 
experienced the same problems, the key contributory factors which we have 
identified during this initial review are: 

! inadequate or inappropriate planning assumptions 

! inadequate levels of staffing at polling stations 

! inappropriate premises used for polling places 

! failure of polling station monitoring and support arrangements to respond 
effectively to problems as they arose on polling day 

30

Agenda Item 7Page 55



4.8 (Acting) Returning Officers used different assumptions on which to base 
their plans for polling station provision and staffing levels. While (Acting) 
Returning Officers drew on data and information from previous elections in 
drawing up their plans for polling station provision and staffing, it appears that 
despite frequent warnings and reminders, some areas drew only on the more 
recent experience of local government elections and did not fully consider the 
possible impact of combined UK Parliamentary general and local government 
elections held on the same day. 

4.9 The number of polling station staff varied between the polling stations 
affected, and the ratio of staff to electors also varied dramatically. In some 
cases it is clear that there were simply not enough staff to deal with all the 
electors who wished to vote. 

4.10 In other areas it appears that while the number of staff may have been 
sufficient, the size and layout of the premises used as a polling station were 
unable to cope with the number of people who wanted to vote. It also appears 
that some (Acting) Returning Officers were not able to identify satisfactory 
polling station venues because of decisions taken as part of the polling district 
review process by local authorities. 

4.11 (Acting) Returning Officers had put in place arrangements to monitor and 
support polling station staff during polling day itself, and had made 
contingency arrangements to provide additional staff for polling stations if 
needed. It appears, however, that these contingency arrangements were not 
triggered in all cases, and in some cases were triggered too late on polling 
day to ensure fresh staff could be sent to relieve pressure. 

4.12 Better planning and management of polling station arrangements could 
have prevented many of the identified problems occurring, and we have 
recommended improvements above. The unprecedented late surge in 
demand in some cases, however, suggests that additional staffing capacity 
alone may not have helped, and we have made separate recommendations 
on changing the law on close of polls. 

Urgent actions for all (Acting) Returning Officers, local authorities and 
the Electoral Commission

(Acting) Returning Officers for any future elections in the UK should – as a 
matter of urgency – review their planning assumptions they for the provision 
and staffing of polling stations, reflecting on the problems at the May 2010 
elections. These reviews should take into account population increases and 
demographic trends within their constituencies, as well as projected turnout.

Local authorities in Great Britain should take steps immediately to begin the 
process of conducting reviews of polling districts and polling places, reflecting 
on the problems identified at the May 2010 elections. Although such reviews 
are the responsibility of the local authority, we strongly recommend that 
authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers should work closely together in 
undertaking the review process. 

31

Agenda Item 7 Page 56



The Electoral Commission will review our guidance for (Acting) Returning 
Officers to set out in more detail key factors they should consider in planning 
for the provision and staffing of polling stations. We will also publish revised 
guidance on conducting polling district reviews in July 2010 to support local 
authorities and (Acting) Returning Officers in taking forward this work. 

In the absence of any specific body or bodies with responsibility and authority 
to ensure (Acting) Returning Officers have adequate plans in place for 
elections, the Electoral Commission will consider how to put informal 
monitoring arrangements in place to ensure that these recommended actions 
are taken. 

The Electoral Commission will publish our assessment and analysis of the 
performance of (Acting) Returning Officers at the 2010 UK Parliamentary 
general election as part of our scheduled election reporting in July. We will 
use the results of this interim review, and the performance standards 
assessment, to identify particular areas where we will need to follow up and 
challenge poor performance. 

The unnecessary and inappropriate structural complexity 
in electoral administration should be addressed 

4.13 Section 2 of this report summarises the various individuals and bodies 
with statutory responsibilities for supporting the provision of polling stations at 
elections in Great Britain. It is undoubtedly a confusing and complex pattern, 
including some plainly redundant ceremonial positions which are – at best – 
out-of-date and confusing in an era when expectations are that public services 
will be delivered efficiently and professionally. In contrast, responsibility for 
electoral administration in Northern Ireland rests clearly with the Chief 
Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland. 

4.14 We have repeatedly highlighted the risks associated with this structural 
complexity in reports to the UK and Scottish Governments and evidence to 
inquiries since 2007. The issues explored in this report relate to a series of 
specific problems for voters at the close of poll, but they represent only the 
most visible manifestation of a wide range of problems which have affected 
voters at these elections as well as almost every other election that the 
Commission has reported on since 2001. The problems experienced on 6 
May illustrate once again some of the weaknesses inherent in the current 
structure for the administration of elections: 

! Too many different individuals and bodies with authority and statutory 
responsibilities: individual (Acting) Returning Officers for UK 
Parliamentary elections; local government Returning Officers; the 
Ministry of Justice; local authorities; and the Electoral Commission. 

! The involvement in the administration of elections by local authorities in 
approving schemes for polling districts and polling places. 

32

Agenda Item 7Page 57



! Inappropriate and inadequate accountability arrangements for (Acting) 
Returning Officers, with no established middle ground between ‘naming 
and shaming’ (Acting) Returning Officers who have failed to meet 
performance standards and the ultimate sanction of criminal prosecution 
for breach of official duty. 

! No effective statutory mechanism for ensuring that (Acting) Returning 
Officers have planned consistently and professionally to manage a 
successful election in line with national guidance, or for ensuring that 
they follow the law or guidance designed to ensure access to the 
electoral process.

4.15 Section 2 also outlines the legal framework for the provision, staffing and 
management of polling stations. We have issued comprehensive guidance 
and support to (Acting) Returning Officers in delivering their duties under this 
framework, and we recommend below a further series of urgent actions for 
(Acting) Returning Officers and local authorities to take steps to improve the 
provision and staffing of polling stations. There is, however, no structural 
mechanism for ensuring that these actions are taken forward, and no 
mechanism for ensuring that adequate planning provision is made for future 
elections.

4.16 When we published the results of our comprehensive review of the 
structure of electoral administration in the UK in August 2008, we made a 
series of recommendations for changes to improve the coordination and 
management of elections in Great Britain, including the establishment of an 
electoral management board (EMB) in Scotland and similar arrangements 
elsewhere.43

4.17 Good progress has been made in Scotland, where an Interim Electoral 
Management Board was established in 2009 to coordinate the delivery of the 
European Parliamentary elections. It also coordinated Returning Officers as 
they prepared for the 2010 UK Parliamentary general election.

4.18 The Scottish Government and the Scotland Office of the UK Government 
have responded to this positive progress by making a joint commitment to 
recognise the EMB in statute and provide the Convener of the Board with 
powers to issue directions to Returning Officers.  We understand that the 
Scottish Government is expected to introduce legislation  into the Scottish 
Parliament recognising the EMB in statute later this year for local government 
elections in Scotland, similar to the powers already held by Regional 
Returning Officers in relation to European Parliamentary elections. 

4.19 The response from the UK Government has, however, been 
disappointing. The Ministry of Justice has not responded to our August 2008 
report.

4.20 The current structures for the administration of elections in Great Britain 
do not provide an environment designed to ensure the professional delivery of 
elections. Until the improvements that we have recommended are taken 

                                           
43

Electoral administration in the United Kingdom (2008) Electoral Commission. 

33

Agenda Item 7 Page 58



forward fully by the UK and Scottish Governments there remains an 
unacceptable risk that electors will continue to suffer from problems caused by 
poor quality planning and administration. 

Urgent actions for the UK Government 

The UK Government should bring forward a comprehensive plan for 
modernising and ensuring professional electoral administration in Great 
Britain, including responding to the recommendations made in the 
Commission’s August 2008 review of electoral administration in the UK.  

We will set out in more detail the elements which we believe this plan should 
include in our July report on the 2010 UK Parliamentary general election, but 
in broad terms it should set out how the Government intends to: 

! Improve coordination and accountability for the delivery of elections, 
including building on existing regionally based models. 

! Provide authority to achieve improvements though powers to direct and 
ensure actions are taken by (Acting) Returning Officers where needed. 

! Simplify and consolidate the legal framework for elections. 

! The Scotland Office of the UK Government, working with the Ministry of 
Justice, should bring forward legislation to establish and recognise the 
Electoral Management Board for Scotland for UK Parliament, European 
Parliament and Scottish Parliament elections, in line with its joint 
commitment with the Scottish Government. 

34

Agenda Item 7Page 59



How to contact us

The Electoral Commission

Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0500
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0500
info@electoralcommission.org.uk
www.electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Scotland Office
38 Thistle Street
Edinburgh EH2 1EN
Tel: 0131 225 0200
Fax: 0131 225 0205
Textphone: 18001 0131 225 0200
infoscotland@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Wales Office
Caradog House
1–6 Saint Andrews Place
Cardiff CF10 3BE
Tel: 029 2034 6800
Fax: 029 2034 6805
Textphone: 18001 029 2034 6800
infowales@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Northern Ireland Office
Seatem House
28–32 Alfred Street
Belfast BT2 8EN
Tel: 028 9089 4020
Fax: 028 9089 4026
Textphone: 18001 028 9089 4020
infonorthernireland@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Eastern and South East Office
Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0600
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0600
easternandsoutheastoffice
@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

London Office
Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0689
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0689
london@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Midlands Office, No 2 The Oaks
Westwood Way, Westwood Business Park
Coventry CV4 8JB
Tel: 02476 820086
Fax: 02476 820001
Textphone: 18001 02476 820086
midlands@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

North of England Office
York Science Park
IT Centre
Innovation Way
Heslington
York YO10 5DG
Tel: 01904 567990
Fax: 01904 567719
Textphone: 18001 01904 567990
north@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

South West Office
Regus, 1 Emperor Way
Exeter Business Park
Exeter EX1 3QS
Tel: 01392 314617
Fax: 01392 314001
Textphone: 18001 01392 314617
southwest@electoralcommission.org.uk

Agenda Item 7 Page 60



The Electoral Commission

Trevelyan House

Great Peter Street

London SW1P 2HW

Tel 020 7271 0500

Fax 020 7271 0505

info@electoralcommission.org.uk

www.electoralcommission.org.uk

To contact our offices in the English regions,

see inside back cover for details.

We are an independent body set up by 

the UK Parliament. Our aim is integrity and

public confidence in the democratic process.

We regulate party and election finance and

set standards for well-run elections.

Democracy matters

Agenda Item 7Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



Report on the

administration of the

2010 UK general election
July 2010

Appendix B

Agenda Item 7Page 63



Translations and other formats

For information on obtaining this

publication in another language or in

a large-print or Braille version, please

contact the Electoral Commission:

Tel: 020 7271 0500

Email: publications@electoralcommission.org.uk

© The Electoral Commission 2010

Front Cover © Simon Roberts 2010

Photograph reproduced by kind permission of Simon Roberts in his capacity

as the Official General Election Artist, appointed by the Speakers Advisory

Committee on Works of Art to record the UK general election 2010. For more

information visit www.theelectionproject.co.uk.

Agenda Item 7 Page 64



Contents  
   
 Foreword 1
  
 Analysis 2010: Our agenda for the next five years 3

  
1 UK general election 2010: An introduction 9

 Background 9
 The Electoral Commission and this report 9
  
2  Planning and managing the 2010 UK general election 13

 Roles and responsibilities for UK general elections 14
 Updating the legal framework for the elections 16
 Planning and coordinating the elections 20

 
The performance of Returning Officers in delivering well-run 
elections 

26

 Preventing and detecting electoral malpractice and fraud 29
  
3 Campaigning and standing for election in 2010 31

 Parties and candidates at this election 32
 The experience of candidates and political parties 36
  
4 Registering to vote at the 2010 UK general election 38

 The register for the May 2010 UK general election 39
 Promoting electoral registration 40
  
5 Taking part and voting in the 2010 elections 45

 Turnout and participation 46
 People’s experience of voting at the elections 52
 Accessibility of the voting process 57
  
 Appendices  59

 Appendix A 59
 Appendix B 61

 

Agenda Item 7Page 65



 

Agenda Item 7 Page 66



Foreword 
Elections provide the foundation for the stable democracy that the UK has 
enjoyed for generations – they allow us to express our views and resolve our 
differences peacefully. The 2010 UK Parliamentary general election was the first 
UK general election since my appointment as Chair of the Electoral 
Commission, and perhaps more than any other election for many years it 
demonstrated that respect for the results of well-run elections allows an orderly 
transition of power even when the outcome is close. 

International observers – allowed for the first time officially to observe a general 
election in the UK – have highlighted the culture of trust and honesty that 
underpinned the May 2010 election process. Everyone involved in elections can 
take pride in this. 

But maintaining trust in elections takes hard work and commitment, and it can 
take a long time to re-build confidence after well-publicised problems like those 
experienced in Scotland in 2007 or at some polling stations at 10pm on polling 
day this year.  

Our central message from this report is that the basic building blocks of 
electoral administration need long-term reform, support and maintenance: it is 
not enough simply to trust that the machinery of electoral administration will 
always work well and deliver elections to a consistently high standard; it is not 
enough simply to trust that those who want to undermine elections will resist the 
temptation to exploit the system; it is not enough simply to trust that people and 
systems will be able to adapt and cope with change without proper time to 
prepare. 

The UK Government has set out an ambitious programme of democratic reform, 
which is likely to mean more opportunities for voters to express their views. It will 
also, inevitably, mean more pressure on the machinery of electoral 
administration, particularly at a time when financial pressures are increasing 
across the public sector. It may not attract the same degree of attention as the 
politics of reform, but the role of electoral administration in delivering these 
changes should not be overlooked.  

Alongside our analysis of the 2010 general election, we have set out in this 
report our assessment of the key electoral administration challenges for the UK 
Government during this Parliament. The Government is responsible for electoral 
policy, for maintaining and updating the legislative framework for electoral 
administration, to ensure elections can be well run, and for ensuring electoral 
administration is properly funded.  

We are ready to support and provide advice to the Government in identifying 
opportunities to change the law where it is needed. We will challenge the 
Government and scrutinise its proposals to ensure that voters’ interests come 
first. We thank Returning Officers and electoral administration staff for the work 
they do locally to make democracy a reality, we will continue to work with them 

1 

Agenda Item 7Page 67



to help improve the service that voters receive, and we will challenge them 
where the level of service doesn’t meet the high standards that voters expect.  

As part of our reporting processes for the next elections, and proposed 
referendums in 2011, we will provide voters with an assessment of the progress 
made against our agenda as set out in this report. We will review what the UK 
Government has done, set out the challenges that remain, and identify the 
opportunities that must be taken within the next five years in order to ensure that 
the electoral system puts the voter first.  

Jenny Watson, Chair 

2 

Agenda Item 7 Page 68



Analysis 2010: Our agenda for 
the next five years 

Planning and managing the 2010 UK general election 

We want people across the UK to be confident that electoral registration and 
elections are well run, and that they will receive a consistently high quality 
service, wherever they live and whichever elections or referendums are being 
held. 

At the 2010 UK general election: 

! In the vast majority of constituencies the elections were well run, without 
major problems.  

! Our initial analysis of the performance of Returning Officers in Great Britain 
suggests that there has been a general improvement since 2009 when 
measured against the current set of standards, with particular 
improvement in relation to maintaining the integrity of elections and 
delivering public awareness activities. 

! Queues formed at several polling stations on polling day (6 May), and 
some people in those queues were unable to vote when the polls closed at 
10pm. Just over 1,200 people were affected at 27 polling places in 16 
constituencies. The main contributory factors were poor planning, the use 
of unsuitable buildings, inadequate staffing arrangements and the failure 
of contingency plans.  

! There were further isolated instances of poor administration which led to 
problems for voters and candidates, including inadequate staffing of 
polling stations, errors in printing poll cards and ballot papers, and errors 
in counting votes. 

! Two-thirds of voters surveyed were confident that the 2010 elections were 
well run, but confidence may be fragile – three in 10 voters said that they 
were not very or not at all confident that these elections were well run, 
compared with just 4% of voters at the 2009 elections. 

! Of the UK general election candidates who responded to our survey, 78% 
were satisfied that the elections were well run.  

! Returning Officers have – as in previous elections – expressed concerns 
about the statutory timetable for UK general elections, and in particular the 
challenges of key deadlines within the timetable. Where combined polls 
occurred there were competing strains on resources from the different 
election timetables. 

3 

Agenda Item 7Page 69



Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the UK Government to respond to the recommendations we made in 
20081 to bring forward a comprehensive plan for ensuring consistently effective 
management and delivery of future elections, in particular to ensure that: 

! there is effective management and coordination of the delivery of statutory 
functions by Returning Officers across the UK, rather than relying on trust 
in the effectiveness of several hundred individual Returning Officers 

! there are appropriate mechanisms to hold Returning Officers to account 
for the delivery of their statutory functions, including mechanisms to direct 
them to ensure action is taken to address poor administration 

! the current election petition process is reformed to provide proportionate 
and accessible procedures for challenging the result of an election where 
poor-quality administration may have affected the outcome   

! the costs of running elections are properly met, through comprehensive 
and transparent funding mechanisms 

We welcome the joint commitment of the Scottish Government and the UK 
Government to recognise the Interim Electoral Management Board in statute 
and provide the Convener of the Board with powers to issue directions to 
Returning Officers, but we want to see early legislation to consolidate this 
commitment. 

We will work with the local government associations across Great Britain to 
consider how best to support more effective scrutiny of the delivery of elections 
by local authorities. We are pleased that some authorities have used our report 
on the problems experienced by people queuing at the close of polls on 6 May 
to initiate local reviews aimed at identifying how best to support Returning 
Officers and electoral administrators at future elections.   

Campaigning and standing for election at the 2010 UK 
general election 

We want people throughout the UK to be confident that there is transparency 
about party and election finance so that people know where money comes from 
and how it is spent, and that the rules on party and election finance are followed 
and those who do not follow them are dealt with appropriately and effectively. 

 
 

                                           

1 The Electoral Commission (August 2008), Electoral Administration in the United Kingdom. 

4 

Agenda Item 7 Page 70



 
At the 2010 UK general election: 

! A total of 4,150 candidates, representing 135 registered political parties, 
contested the UK general election. 

! Eighty-two new political parties were registered between 1 January and the 
close of the register of political parties on 16 April 2010. We also dealt with 
170 applications for changes to existing registered party details in this 
period.  

! Five third parties (individuals or organisations who are not contesting the 
election but who campaign to influence the outcome) renewed existing 
registrations, while a further 13 registered for the first time. 

 

Our agenda for the next five years 

We will publish our full analysis of party and candidate spending in February 
2011. During the coming year we intend to review the need for changes to the 
regulatory regime in place since 2001, for party and election finance.  

This work will take account of issues that emerged during the election 
campaign. This includes considering whether there is scope to simplify aspects 
of the rules that those we regulate found difficult to relate to their activity, and 
whether the election-related reporting requirements are appropriate for smaller 
parties and those not contesting the election. We will also consider whether the 
law on party registration is working effectively in the interests of voters. 

Registering to vote at the 2010 UK general election 

We want people across the UK to be confident that registering to vote is 
straightforward, accessible and secure. We want to make sure people know 
how to register to vote and encourage them to do so. 

At the 2010 UK general election: 

! The electoral registers for the UK general election contained just fewer 
than 45.6 million entries, an increase of 1.3 million since the 2005 UK 
general election. 

 

! The registers for the areas of England where local government elections 
also took place on 6 May contained 21.3 million entries. 

 

! The eligible electorate increased by over 700,000 between publication of 
the 1 December 2009 registers and the close of registration on 20 April 
2010. This increase was made up of attainers on the registers who turned 
18 by polling day and people who registered to vote after the annual 
canvass. 

 

! Over two million visits were made to our public information website 
www.aboutmyvote.co.uk, 500,000 registration forms were downloaded, 

5 

Agenda Item 7Page 71



and a further 10,000 forms were sent out from our call centre in Great 
Britain. In Northern Ireland 5,150 forms were downloaded from the website 
or sent out from the call centre. We are aware that some of these forms 
went to voters who were already registered, and we will use the feedback 
from Electoral Registration Officers to improve this service and minimise 
duplication. 

 

! Of the people we surveyed, 86% reported that they were fairly or very 
satisfied with the process of registering to vote. Satisfaction was higher 
among voters than non-voters, and was also higher among older than 
younger people. 

 

Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the UK Government to implement the change approved in the Political 
Parties and Elections Act 2009 to provide a system of individual electoral 
registration in Great Britain which ensures that: 

! everyone eligible to take part in elections in Great Britain can be registered 
to vote 

! no one ineligible to vote is included in an electoral register 

! changes to the system are easily explained to, and understood by, 
electors 

! personal data is properly managed and protected 

! changes to the registration system are made efficiently, without a 
detrimental impact on the existing duties and responsibilities of Electoral 
Registration Officers 

We want the UK Government to address the key policy challenges which we 
identified in our March 2010 electoral registration research report:2  

! Consider the timing of the annual canvass in order to best ensure 
complete and accurate registers for elections, and what role it will have 
once individual electoral registration has been fully implemented in Great 
Britain.  

! Capture population movements between each annual canvass more 
swiftly and accurately, and consider the potential for access to new data 
sources to improve the completeness and accuracy of electoral registers.  

                                           

2
The Electoral Commission (March 2010), The completeness and accuracy of electoral registers 

in Great Britain available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/87111/The-completeness-and-
accuracy-of-electoral-registers-in-Great-Britain.pdf.  

6 

Agenda Item 7 Page 72



! Review the current allocation of resources for electoral registration, to 
ensure that where there is greater risk of incomplete or inaccurate electoral 
registers, Electoral Registration Officers are better equipped to tackle 
those risks. 

Taking part and voting in the 2010 UK general election 

We want people across the UK to be confident that taking part in elections is 
straightforward, accessible and secure. We want to make sure people know 
how to cast their vote, so that anyone who is entitled to participate in elections is 
able to do so. 

At the 2010 UK general election: 

! The majority of the people in the UK were satisfied with the procedure for 
voting. 

! Three-quarters (75%) of people asked (including those who said they did 
not vote) were very or fairly satisfied with the procedure for voting, with 
13% saying they were dissatisfied.  

! Among those who said they had voted, 80% said they were satisfied with 
the voting process.  

! Satisfaction levels were highest among those aged 55 and over (83%), 
compared with 67% of 18–34-year-olds who said they were very or fairly 
satisfied.  

 

Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the Government to bring forward proposals for a comprehensive 
electoral modernisation strategy to set out how it intends to address significant 
policy issues, including:  

! improving voting opportunities for service personnel and other overseas 
electors 

! further strengthening the security of postal voting, in particular by requiring 
the personal identifiers on all returned postal voting statements to be 
verified before ballot papers are counted 

! lengthening the timetable for UK Parliamentary elections and bringing key 
deadlines into line with those for other elections 

! considering what role advance voting might play in helping to provide 
more flexible options for people wanting to vote 

! reviewing the case for requiring proof of identity for voters at polling 
stations 

7 

Agenda Item 7Page 73



We want the Government to change the law to make clear that eligible electors 
who are entitled to vote at a polling station and who are in the queue to enter the 
polling station at the close of poll will be allowed to vote. 

We have also identified a number of problems with the current legal framework 
for electoral administration that impact upon voters. These include poorly-
designed ballot papers and voter materials, the description and emblems for 
joint party candidates, emergency proxy votes not being available for 
employment related reasons, Returning Officers unable to request refresher 
signatures from absent voters and the limited number of suitable buildings that 
can be used as polling stations. We want the UK Government to address these 
problems as soon as possible.  

Any future changes to electoral law must be developed in an open and 
consultative way, and implemented in good time before the next UK general 
election, so that the rules allow people to plan no later than six months before 
polling day. 

8 

Agenda Item 7 Page 74



1 UK general election 2010: 
An introduction 

Background 
1.1 Parliamentary general elections in the UK must be held within five years of the 
first sitting of the previous Parliament, and the latest possible date for this election 
was 3 June 2010. The Prime Minister announced his intention to dissolve Parliament 
on 6 April 2010, and polling day was set for Thursday 6 May. 

It will come as no surprise to all of you, and it is probably the least well-
kept secret of recent years, but the Queen has kindly agreed to the 
dissolution of Parliament and a general election will take place on May 6. 

Rt Hon Gordon Brown MP,  
(6 April 2010, Speech at 10 Downing Street) 

1.2 The 2010 UK general election was widely expected to be one of the 
closest and hardest-fought elections for a generation. All 650 constituencies of 
the UK were due to elect a new Member of Parliament. Following the death 
during the election period of a candidate nominated in the Yorkshire 
constituency of Thirsk and Malton, the election timetable was suspended and 
the poll was postponed until 27 May in this constituency. 

1.3 Local government elections were already scheduled to take place on 6 
May 2010 in many parts of England, and the poll for the general election was 
therefore combined with the poll for these local elections. A total of 4,178 seats 
in 2,940 wards of 164 local authorities were contested. 

1.4 Elections for parish councils had also been scheduled for 6 May, and 
under the provisions of the Representation of the People Act 1985, if a UK 
general election is called once the timetable for parish or community elections 
has commenced, the poll for any contested parish or community council 
elections is postponed by three weeks.3 Contested parish council elections 
were held over, and took place on 27 May. 

                                           

The Electoral Commission and this report 
1.5 The Electoral Commission is an independent body which reports directly 
to the UK Parliament. We were set up in 2000 to regulate the financial affairs of 
political parties and to monitor the conduct of elections in the UK. We are 

3 Section 16(1) (b) of the Representation of the People Act 1985. 

9 

Agenda Item 7Page 75



required by law to report on certain types of elections, including the 2010 UK 
general election. 

1.6 We produce these reports so that people who have taken part in the 
election – as voters, as candidates and campaigners, or as electoral 
administrators – can see how their experience contributed to the result of the 
election and the Parliament now sitting in Westminster. We especially want to 
make sure that people are confident that the election process was fair, 
accessible and well run.  

1.7 We also use these reports to highlight where things need to change for 
future elections. The UK Government has outlined an ambitious programme of 
political and constitutional reform which is likely to lead to an expansion of 
opportunities for participating in the electoral process, including referendums 
and the possibility of elections for members of police authorities and health 
boards. It has also indicated that it intends to establish five-year fixed-terms for 
the UK Parliament, so that the next UK general election will be held on the first 
Thursday of May 2015. There is now a clear window of opportunity to develop 
and implement a programme of changes to improve the administration of 
elections in time for the next UK general election. 

This report sets out our agenda for change for the next five years.  

It sets out what we believe electors, candidates and political parties should 
expect from the election process. 

We want the UK Government to respond to this agenda by developing policy 
solutions that deliver the improvements and changes sought. 

In doing so the UK Government must ensure that it considers the interests of 
voters, candidates and political parties in all parts of the UK and also the impact 
of any changes on those responsible for running elections. We will scrutinise 
any proposals for change and ensure that the interests of voters are put first. 

This report also sets out our initial views on the performance of Returning 
Officers on the conduct and administration of the election.  

How we have compiled this report 

1.8 This report is intended to provide an accurate account and assessment of 
how the May 2010 UK general election was conducted, and in particular to 
reflect the experiences of voters, candidates and the electoral administrators 
responsible for delivering the elections. We have drawn on evidence from a 
range of sources to inform this report, including: 

! public opinion research 

! analysis of feedback from candidates and agents   

! feedback from Returning Officers and Electoral Registration Officers and 
other electoral administrators 

10 

Agenda Item 7 Page 76



! electoral data submitted by Returning Officers and Electoral Registration 
Officers, although complete data have not been supplied for all 
constituencies4 

! feedback from electors and others, including candidates, submitted 
directly to the Commission either by post, email or through our website 

! the performance standards and improvement framework 

! our observation of the preparation by electoral administrators and the 
proceedings on polling day and the count, from a selection of 
constituencies across the UK 

Observing the May 2010 UK general election 

1.9 For the first time at a UK general election, as a result of changes brought 
forward by the Electoral Administration Act 2006, individuals and organisations 
from within the UK and across the world were entitled to observe key electoral 
processes under a system of accreditation by the Electoral Commission.  

1.10 Compared with elections since 2007, there was a significant rise in 
applications for accreditation. By polling day the Commission had accredited 
415 observers, 213 individuals and 202 representatives from a total of 43 
organisations. These included international electoral management bodies, 
media organisations, disability and human rights organisations, education 
establishments, software providers, government departments and embassies. 
Those nominated to observe on behalf of international organisations came from 
countries all over the world, including Albania, Armenia, Australia, Canada, 
Denmark, Georgia, Ghana, Kazakhstan, Lesotho, Lithuania, Malaysia, Mexico, 
Nigeria, St Christopher & Nevis, the United Arab Emirates and Zambia, as well 
as a team of observers from the Commonwealth which published its report on 
25 May 2010. 

1.11 The Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) fielded 
three delegations: an election assessment mission from the organisation’s 
Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR); a delegation from 
the OSCE-Parliamentary Assembly; and a small group of officials led by the 
OSCE Presence in Albania. The OSCE/ODIHR report was published on 9 July 
2010.5 

1.12 Electoral observation is an essential element underpinning confidence in 
free and fair elections throughout the world, and we were pleased to have been 
able to host observers from so many developed and developing democracies.    

Further reporting on the UK general election 2010 

1.13 Following extensive reports of problems experienced by electors as a 
result of queues at some polling places at the close of poll on 6 May, we 

                                           

4 Data returns received from 620 of 650 constituencies unless otherwise stated. 
5 Available at www.osce.org/documents/odihr/2010/07/45252_en.pdf.  

11 

Agenda Item 7Page 77



undertook an immediate review of the extent and nature of the problems. We 
published a report of our findings and conclusions on 20 May.6 Our report also 
made recommendations about changes which should be made to ensure these 
problems do not happen at future elections.  

1.14 In addition, we will also publish analysis and information on specific 
aspects of the 2010 UK general election: 

! September 2010: Analysis of Returning Officers’ performance against the 
standards set by the Commission in Great Britain 

! January 2011: Analysis of cases of alleged electoral malpractice during 
2010, including the May 2010 elections 

! February 2011: Analysis of campaign expenditure returns for the May 2010 
elections

                                           

6 The Electoral Commission, 2010 UK Parliamentary general election – Interim report: review of 

problems at polling stations at close of poll on 6 May 2010 (20 May 2010) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/99091/Interim-Report-Polling-
Station-Queues-complete.pdf. 

12 

Agenda Item 7 Page 78



2 Planning and managing the 
2010 UK general election 

Planning and managing elections  

We want people across the UK to be confident that electoral registration and 
elections are well run, and that they will receive a consistently high quality 
service, wherever they live and whichever elections or referendums are being 
held. 

At the 2010 UK general election: 

! In the vast majority of constituencies the elections were well run, without 
major problems.  

! Our initial analysis of the performance of Returning Officers in Great Britain 
suggests that there has been a general improvement since 2009 when 
measured against the current set of standards, with particular 
improvement in relation to maintaining the integrity of elections and 
delivering public awareness activities. 

! Queues formed at several polling stations on polling day (6 May), and 
some people in those queues were unable to vote when the polls closed at 
10pm. Just over 1,200 people were affected at 27 polling places in 16 
constituencies. The main contributory factors were poor planning, the use 
of unsuitable buildings, inadequate staffing arrangements and the failure 
of contingency plans.  

! There were further isolated instances of poor administration which led to 
problems for voters and candidates, including inadequate staffing of 
polling stations, errors in printing poll cards and ballot papers, and errors 
in counting votes. 

! Two-thirds of voters surveyed were confident that the 2010 elections were 
well run, but confidence may be fragile – three in 10 voters said that they 
were not very or not at all confident that these elections were well run, 
compared with just 4% of voters at the 2009 elections. 

! Of the UK general election candidates who responded to our survey, 78% 
were satisfied that the elections were well run.  

! Returning Officers have – as in previous elections – expressed concerns 
about the statutory timetable for UK general elections, and in particular the 
challenges of key deadlines within the timetable. Where combined polls 
occurred there were competing strains on resources from the different 
election timetables. 

13 

Agenda Item 7Page 79



Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the UK Government to respond to the recommendations we made in 
20087 to bring forward a comprehensive plan for ensuring consistently effective 
management and delivery of future elections, in particular to ensure that: 

! There is effective management and coordination of the delivery of statutory 
functions by Returning Officers across the UK, rather than relying on trust 
in the effectiveness of several hundred individual Returning Officers. 

! There are appropriate mechanisms to hold Returning Officers to account 
for the delivery of their statutory functions, including mechanisms to direct 
them to ensure action is taken to address poor administration. 

! The current election petition process is reformed to provide proportionate 
and accessible procedures for challenging the result of an election where 
poor-quality administration may have affected the outcome.   

! The costs of running elections are properly met through comprehensive 
and transparent funding mechanisms. 

! We welcome the joint commitment of the Scottish Government and the UK 
Government to recognise the Interim Electoral Management Board (IEMB) 
in statute and provide the Convener of the Board with powers to issue 
directions to Returning Officers, but we want to see early legislation to 
consolidate this commitment. 

! We will work with the local government associations across Great Britain to 
consider how best to support more effective scrutiny of the delivery of elections 
by local authorities. We are pleased that some authorities have used our report 
on the problems experienced by people queuing at the close of polls on 6 May 
to initiate local reviews aimed at identifying how best to support Returning 
Officers and electoral administrators at future elections.   

Roles and responsibilities for UK 
general elections 
2.1 The structure of electoral administration is complex and varies between the 
different parts of the UK. A wide range of partners are required to collaborate 
and work together to successfully deliver well-run elections.  

Legislation and funding for elections 

2.2 The UK Government is responsible for the legal and funding frameworks 
for UK general elections. It is also responsible for the legal framework for local 

                                           

7 Electoral Commission, Electoral Administration in the United Kingdom (August 2008). 

14 

Agenda Item 7 Page 80



government elections in England. Funding for local government elections is 
provided directly by the local authorities themselves. 

Conduct of elections 

2.3 Returning Officers appointed for each constituency are responsible for the 
administration of elections in accordance with the rules set out in legislation. For 
the 2010 UK general election a total of 372 individual Returning Officers were 
responsible for the 632 constituencies in Great Britain: 

! In England and Wales, practical responsibility for the administration of the 
election lies with an Acting Returning Officer for each constituency, who is 
the person appointed as the Electoral Registration Officer for the relevant 
local authority area. In most instances this is the Chief Executive of the 
local authority, but may be another senior officer. The detailed planning 
and administration of the election is usually carried out by members of the 
local authority’s permanent staff. 

 

! In Scotland, the Returning Officer for the election of a member of the UK 
Parliament is the same person who has been appointed by the local 
authority as the Returning Officer for local government elections. As in 
England, in most instances this is the Chief Executive of the local authority, 
and again the detailed planning and administration of the election is 
usually carried out by members of the local authority’s permanent staff. 

 
2.4 The Chief Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland is the Returning Officer for 
all elections in Northern Ireland, including UK general elections. The Chief 
Electoral Officer is appointed by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland, and 
is supported by permanent staff in the Electoral Office for Northern Ireland.  

2.5 Responsibility for the conduct of local government elections in England lies 
with an officer appointed as Returning Officer by the district, unitary, 
metropolitan or London borough council. This person is generally the same 
person who has been appointed as the Electoral Registration Officer, but they 
do not have to be. 

Guidance, performance monitoring and review 

2.6 The Electoral Commission provides advice and assistance on electoral 
matters to all those involved in elections, including Returning Officers at UK 
general elections in Great Britain and Returning Officers at local government 
elections in England. We publish a range of manuals, circulars, templates and 
online resources. We also provide briefings and seminars, and an enquiries 
service, for those who run elections. Our guidance is advisory rather than 
binding, and there is no legal requirement for Returning Officers to follow the 
guidance that we provide, although a court would have regard to any guidance 
provided. During the period from 1 January until 6 May, there were 3,561 logged 
enquiries about electoral administration matters. We answered 97% of these 

15 

Agenda Item 7Page 81



within five days. The three issues which generated the largest number of 
enquiries were nominations, registration and absent voting.8 

2.7 We also have powers to set and monitor performance standards for 
Returning Officers in Great Britain. These standards set out what needs to be 
achieved in order to support a well-run election. They cover planning and 
organising for an election, the integrity of the election locally, and participation in 
the election through public awareness, the accessibility of information for 
electors, and support to candidates and agents. We can formally direct 
Returning Officers to report to us, after a UK general election, on how they have 
performed against these standards. Although we publish our assessment of 
how Returning Officers have performed against the standards, neither the 
Commission nor any other body has any powers to compel Returning Officers to 
improve their performance where they fall short of the standards. We have 
provided further support to those Returning Officers who fall short of our 
expected performance. In areas where performance needs to challenged, we 
are carrying out more detailed monitoring to improve performance. 

Other key partners 

2.8 Other key partners involved in supporting the delivery of the 2010 UK 
general election included: the Association of Chief Police Officers for England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland (ACPO) and for Scotland (ACPOS), which helped to 
develop and maintain a network of specialist officers to coordinate work, and 
prevent and detect possible electoral malpractice; Royal Mail, which played a 
major role in ensuring campaign literature and voting materials including poll 
cards and postal ballot packs were delivered to voters; and the Association of 
Electoral Administrators, which provided training and support for Returning 
Officers’ staff. 

Updating the legal framework for the 
elections 
2.9 The legal framework for UK general elections, including the detailed election 
rules, is set out in the Representation of the People Act 1983. Following the election, 
the Cabinet Office has assumed the responsibilities for electoral policy, previously 
held by the Ministry of Justice. Because the rules are set out in primary legislation, 
changes can only be made in a further Act: this means that any problems or errors in 
the rules can be difficult to correct in advance of any election. We have previously 
recommended to the Government the need to simplify and consolidate electoral law, 
and urge them once again to do so.9 

2.10 The Gould Report on the conduct and administration of the 2007 Scottish 
Parliamentary elections recommended that any changes to electoral law should 

                                           

8 Nomination enquiries 818, registration enquiries 575, absent voting enquiries 427. 
9 The Electoral Commission, Electoral Administration in the United Kingdom (August 2008).  

16 

Agenda Item 7 Page 82



be introduced no later than six months prior to polling day for the election they 
concern.10 The UK Government has not yet formally accepted this 
recommendation. However the Secretary of State for Scotland announced on 23 
October 2007, as part of his response to the Gould Report, that he accepted the 
recommendation with respect to legislation for Scottish Parliamentary elections. 
We believe that the rules need to be clear to allow six months to plan for 
electoral events throughout the UK. 

2.11 A number of significant changes to electoral law were introduced in 2006 
by the Electoral Administration Act, including: 

! reducing the minimum age for candidates from 21 to 18 

! allowing new applications to register to vote up to 11 working days before 
polling day 

! requiring personal identifiers to be provided with all returned postal vote 
applications and subsequent ballots, and for a minimum sample of 20% of 
postal ballot packs to be checked in Great Britain 

! allowing domestic and international observers to be accredited and given 
access to observe polling and counting processes 

! giving the Electoral Commission powers to set and monitor performance 
standards for Returning Officers in Great Britain 

2.12 Returning Officers, political parties and many candidates were familiar with 
the changes for the 2010 UK general election, which had also applied at 
previous other elections since 2006. Our election reports since 2007 have 
highlighted how these changes have been implemented, and have identified 
where amendments should be made to improve their operation. 

2.13 The Political Parties and Elections Act 2009 introduced measures to 
ensure greater transparency of political donations and to change the 
arrangements for regulating candidate expenditure. It also provided for 
candidates at UK Parliamentary elections to choose not to include their home 
address on certain election documents, such as the ballot paper. 

2.14 The 2010 UK general election also saw new constituency boundaries in 
England, Wales and Northern Ireland following the completion of reviews by the 
relevant Boundary Commissions since the 2005 UK general election. The 
Parliamentary Order for the new constituencies in Wales was made in 2006, in 
England by an Order in 2007 and in Northern Ireland by an Order in 2008. 

2.15 The costs for running a general election are met by the UK Government, 
which makes an Order in Parliament to set out the maximum amounts which 
can be recovered by individual Returning Officers. The Fees and Charges Order 

                                           

10 The Electoral Commission, Scottish elections 2007: The independent review of the Scottish 

Parliamentary and local government elections 3 May 2007 (October 2007) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/scotland/research/Scottish-Election-Report-A-Final-For-
Web.pdf.  

17 

Agenda Item 7Page 83



for the May 2010 UK general election was made on 15 March 2010. A separate 
fees and charges order is made for Northern Ireland and specifies the amount 
the Returning Officer can recover for each of the 18 Parliamentary 
constituencies. The Government has indicated that it intends to review and 
evaluate the operation of the fees and charges framework for the UK general 
election, and we expect it to publish the results of its review. 

Identifying problems with the legal framework 

In 2006, changes to the rules for parties registering joint descriptions were 
introduced. However, corresponding changes to the rules for using emblems 
were not made at the same time, and the Ministry of Justice, the Commission, 
political parties and electoral administrators all failed to spot the potential 
problem this might cause. Our guidance for Returning Officers and candidates 
also did not identify the issue. 

As a result this caused particular confusion and difficulties for candidates and 
electoral administrators as candidates who wanted to use a joint description, 
approved by two or more political parties, could not also include a party 
emblem on the ballot paper.  

Forty-two joint Labour and Co-operative candidates intended to stand with a 
joint description at the UK general election; those wishing to retain an emblem, 
who were already nominated had to withdraw their nominations and resubmit to 
stand as a candidate for only one party. They were then able to include an 
emblem on the ballot paper. Those wishing to retain a joint description were 
able to do so without emblem. 

In Northern Ireland, joint Conservative and Ulster Unionist Party candidates 
opted to retain their shared description on the ballot paper, and were unable to 
use an emblem. 

The problem also affected a larger number of joint Labour and Co-operative 
candidates at the local government elections in England, where the deadline for 
nominations had already passed by the time the issue was identified. It meant 
that they could not include an emblem on the ballot papers, and some local 
government Returning Officers had to destroy and then re-print ballot papers. 

We regret that we did not identify this in time for it to be addressed before our 
guidance for the elections was issued. The problem highlights the importance of 
ensuring sufficient time is available in future to properly scrutinise draft 
legislation in detail before it is approved by Parliament. Having been made 
aware of this, we want the UK Government to address it as soon as possible. 

Counting of ballot papers 

2.16 Finally, the Constitutional Reform and Governance Act (CRAG), which 
received Royal Assent on 8 April 2010, less than a month before polling day, 
required all Returning Officers to take steps to begin counting votes for the UK 
general election within four hours of the close of poll.  

18 

Agenda Item 7 Page 84



2.17 This late change followed debate in the House of Commons and a high-
profile campaign to ensure that votes in the vast majority of constituencies were 
counted and the results announced during the evening and early morning 
following the close of poll on 6 May. In particular, Members of Parliament 
expressed concerns that Returning Officers had taken decisions about the 
timing of the count (which is within their discretion under electoral law) without 
having consulted candidates and political parties about the possible 
implications.  

2.18 Returning Officers, for constituencies where counting did not begin within 
this timescale, were required to publish a statement setting out the steps taken 
and the time at which counting did begin, and send a copy of the statement to 
the Commission within 30 days of the declaration of the result. We are required 
to publish in this report a list of the constituencies where counting did not begin 
within the prescribed timescale. This can be found in Appendix A. 

2.19 We have received statements from the Returning Officers for the 23 
constituencies where the count did not begin within the four hours of the close 
of poll, but had been planned to begin on the morning after polling day. Some 
of these Returning Officers have indicated that, in their judgment, the geography 
of their constituencies meant that safely transporting ballot boxes from polling 
stations could only be achieved on the morning after polling day. These 
included some Returning Officers who had to transport ballot boxes from 
remote islands by helicopter or boat. Other Returning Officers indicated that, 
having carried out comprehensive planning and risk assessments based on the 
availability of suitable and experienced staff, they had determined that they 
would not be able to commence and complete the counting of votes directly 
after the close of polls.   

2.20 Many of the Returning Officers who opted to begin the count on the day after 
polling day completed the checking of signatures and verification of the postal vote 
ballot paper accounts, (tallying the number of ballot papers received against the 
records of the number of ballot papers that had been issued) on Thursday night after 
close of poll, before adjourning until the following day. The verification of the ballot 
paper accounts for votes cast at polling stations was done the next morning. In the 
majority of constituencies where this was done, the counting of all verified votes was 
completed within three hours of starting the count.  

2.21 We have also received statements from Returning Officers from a further 
22 constituencies where the verification stage of ballot paper accounts began 
as soon as possible after the close of poll, but where the counting of all ballot 
papers did not begin within four hours after the close of poll. The majority of 
these Returning Officers indicated that, despite having taken steps to begin 
counting votes within four hours after the close of poll, it took longer to complete 
the verification process than they had anticipated.  

 

 

19 

Agenda Item 7Page 85



2.22 Returning Officers suggested a number of possible reasons for the delay: 

! The geography of some large rural constituencies meant that some ballot 
boxes took several hours to be delivered to the count centre. 

! The lack of suitably sized venues to conduct the count meant that it was 
not possible to provide the level of staffing required to complete the 
verification stage within four hours after the close of poll. 

! A larger than anticipated number of postal ballot packs arrived late during 
polling day and required opening and checking before the verification 
stage could be completed. 

2.23 Some Returning Officers also noted that the sorting of ballot papers and 
the verification of ballot paper accounts for the UK general election and local 
government elections in England took longer than four hours, and the rules for 
the combination of the poll meant that counting votes for the general election 
could not begin until all ballot paper numbers had been tallied and checked. We 
will discuss with the UK Government options for changing the law to ensure that 
counting UK general election ballot papers can begin more swiftly at future 
elections where the poll is combined with another election.  

2.24  The new provisions of the 2010 CRAG Act were intended to ensure that 
the vast majority of Returning Officers began counting within four hours after the 
close of poll. For many constituencies the decision had already been made 
many months before as part of the planning process. All 18 Northern Ireland 
constituencies had decided to count overnight for the first time, well in advance 
of the legislation. However, based on our own observations and data about the 
timing of declarations, we believe that there are likely to be more constituencies 
where the counting of votes did not begin within four hours after the close of poll 
as verification took so long to complete. 

Planning and coordinating the elections 
The election timetable  

2.25 Following the Prime Minister’s announcement on 6 April 2010 of his 
intention to dissolve Parliament, the writs for the election (the formal notification 
issued on behalf of the Queen)11 were issued on 12 April 2010.12 This 
commenced an election timetable of 17 working days, the shortest for elections 
in the UK, except Parliamentary by-elections. The formal timetable for the local 
government elections held in many parts of England on 6 May had begun by 29 
March, before the date of the general election had been announced.    

                                           

11 The Clerk of the Crown in Chancery initiates a Parliamentary election in a constituency by 
sending an election writ to the Returning Officer. 
12 Writ – notification of the election sent from Parliament, and delivered to all Returning Officers 
for each constituency in the UK. Each Writ has to be returned to Parliament with the results of 
the election. 

20 

Agenda Item 7 Page 86



2.26 The formal election timetable includes a number of deadlines by which key 
administrative processes must be completed, including deadlines for candidates to 
be nominated and agents to be appointed, as well as deadlines for applications to 
register to vote and applications for postal or proxy votes for those who may be 
absent on polling day. The key dates are shown in Figure 1. 

2.27 The election timetables for the UK general election and the local 
government elections in England ran separately rather than in parallel, and both 
the overall length and certain key deadlines including the last date for 
nominations were different. 

2.28 The election timetable for these elections included a particular pressure 
point for electoral administrators in Great Britain as three key deadlines fell on 
the same day, 20 April 2010: nominations for candidates at the UK general 
election were required by 4pm; applications to register to vote were required by 
midnight; and applications for postal votes were required by 5pm. In Northern 
Ireland the closing date for absent vote applications was earlier, 15 April.13 The 
comments below reflect concerns expressed by a number of Returning Officers 
and electoral administrators in Great Britain: 

I have serious reservations about being able to conduct future elections if 
there is no change to the timetable and if local authorities cut back on 
staff due to deficit problems.  

 Returning Officer, northern England  

Instead of trying to deal with an artificial spike in the timeline built up by 
registration and nominations, we should actually be trying to flatten the spike. 

Electoral Services Manager, South East England

                                           

13 Deadline for absent vote applications was 5pm on 15 April 2010, unless for unforeseen illness 
which allows applications on these grounds until 5pm on 27 April 2010. Other variations to the 
timetable also apply. 

21 

Agenda Item 7Page 87



22 

Figure 1: 2010 UK general election formal timetable, 12 April–6 May 

 

 

External Date Process 

Thursday 15 

April 2010

Tuesday 20 April 

2010 

Thursday 22 

April 2010

Thursday 29 

April 2010

Tuesday 13 April 

2010 

Monday 12 April 

2010 

Wednesday 21 

April 2010

Volcanic ash cloud – 

more than 500 flights 

suspended  

First TV Debate 

Volcanic ash cloud – 

flights resumed 

Second TV Debate 

Third TV Debate 

Royal Mail last collections 

from post boxes and 

sorting centres.  

Delivery to Returning 

Officers by 9pm 

Issue of writ/proclamation

Deadline for absent vote 

applications in  

Northern Ireland * 

Nominations begin for  

UK general election 

Receipt of writ  

Notice of election for  

UK general election 

 

Deadline for withdrawals of 

nomination for English local 

government elections 
Wednesday 14 

April 2010 

4pm: Nominations close for 

UK general election 

 

5pm: Publication of persons 

nominated for  

UK general election 

 

5pm: Deadline for new postal 

vote applications/ changes to 

postal or proxy votes in  

Great Britain 

 

12 midnight: Deadline for new 

registrations 

7am Polls open 

10pm Polls close 

Thursday 6 May 

2010 

* The deadline for absent vote applications on the grounds of unforeseen illness was  

5pm, 27 April. 

Agenda Item 7 Page 88



2.29 Some Electoral Registration Officers have expressed concern that the 
shorter period of time now available between the deadline for registration 
applications and the point at which changes must be made to the register has 
made it harder for them to carry out effective checks on applications, particularly 
if they receive large numbers of applications close to the deadline. They have 
also noted that there can be little time to notify other Electoral Registration 
Officers if they receive an application from an elector who has moved from 
another area. Many Electoral Registration Officers, however, appear to have 
managed to deal well with large volumes of applications, particularly where 
adequate and appropriate staff resources were made available. This again 
highlights the importance of adequate levels of planning, preparation and 
resources. 

2.30  Electoral Registration Officers and Returning Officers have also expressed 
concern following previous elections about the impact of receiving large batches 
of registration or absent vote applications from some political party workers and 
candidates, often very close to the statutory deadline. These concerns have 
again been raised following the 2010 UK general election. We want to ensure 
that applications to register to vote are properly processed in good time, before 
the deadline, and we will discuss with the political parties and others whether 
any changes should be made to the voluntary code of conduct for handling 
postal application packs. 

2.31 The relatively short timetable for the UK general election, and in particular 
the proximity of the deadline for registration and the last date for postal vote 
applications, also caused problems for voters. These issues are explained in 
more detail in chapters 4 and 5 of this report. In 2003 we submitted a number of 
detailed recommendations to government to ensure consistency of election 
timetables. The UK Government has now indicated that it intends to legislate to 
establish five-year fixed term Parliaments so the date for the next UK general 
election is already set for 7 May 2015. It must take the opportunity to 
standardise election timetables and rationalise the key deadlines within the 
election timetable as part of its proposals. 

Coordinating the delivery of the elections 

2.32 In contrast with other significant elections in the UK, including elections for 
the European Parliament, Scottish Parliament, National Assembly for Wales, and 
Greater London Assembly and Mayor, there is no formal coordination between 
Returning Officers for UK general elections. Individual Returning Officers are 
responsible for discharging their statutory duties, and are ultimately accountable 
to the courts for their actions.   

2.33 The UK Government sought to build on the UK-wide coordination group 
that it had established to help ensure the delivery of the 2009 European 
Parliamentary elections, which was attended by the 12 Regional Returning 
Officers. Many of the Regional Returning Officers continued to attend the group 
after the 2009 elections, despite having no formal role or responsibilities in 
relation to the UK general election. With no formal status, the group could only 

23 

Agenda Item 7Page 89



act in an advisory capacity, and there was no official process for coordination or 
management of the delivery of the elections. The Commission also continued to 
convene a working group of electoral administrators to provide more detailed 
practical advice and feedback to the UK Government. 

England 

2.34 While electoral administrators in England, in particular through the branch 
network of the Association of Electoral Administrators, continued to meet and 
exchange information and experiences informally during the months leading up 
to the May 2010 elections, there were no consistent mechanisms for 
coordination among Returning Officers in England. This contrasts with the 
efforts in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to ensure Returning Officers and 
electoral administrators were able to take advantage of some existing 
coordination and planning groups. 

Scotland 

2.35 In Scotland the Interim Electoral Management Board (IEMB) has continued 
to progress since the European Parliamentary elections in 2009. The IEMB has 
added value to the planning and delivery of elections in Scotland and built upon 
the positive support it has among the various stakeholders in the electoral 
community. 

2.36 It meets on a regular basis and its remit varies from the operational detail 
of planning the delivery of the UK general election, through to the more strategic 
consideration of legislation and policy. For instance its report on the timing of 
counts, in anticipation of the CRAG Act, included a national consultative 
exercise which was supported by local efforts to ascertain views of voters and 
party representatives.  

2.37 The Elections Convener of the IEMB currently does not have a power of 
direction for a UK general election.14 As such, the Convener relied upon 
collective agreement to ensure the delivery of the UK general election. As he 
stated in his April 2010 bulletin to Returning Officers/Electoral Registration 
Officers: 

The creation of the IEMB was intended to bring clear benefits to the 
electoral community in Scotland and to other stakeholders in the process 
– the most important of whom are the voters. The aims of consistency 
across Scotland and a simplified model of decision making have been 
guiding the work of the Board and I hope you have seen benefits from 
the Board’s work… 

Elections Convener, IEMB 
 

                                           

14 Unlike in 2009 when, as a result of his other coincidental role as Regional Returning Officer for 
the Scottish European Parliamentary electoral region, he did. 

24 

Agenda Item 7 Page 90



2.38 There were discernable benefits from its efforts and work in relation to 
preparations for the general election, in particular, its discussions with Royal 
Mail. Other benefits also include additional guidance on recounts and 
adjudication of doubtful ballots, and its work to achieve a greater consistency in 
the design of election materials, which has led to the establishment of a 
‘Community of Practice’ in this area.  

2.39 The Elections Convener also put in place an escalation procedure 
amongst Returning Officers to allow discussion of issues arising locally which 
could have impacted elsewhere in the immediate run-up to polling day. All this 
contributed to a well-run election in Scotland. The IEMB has also undertaken 
post-election evaluation and is developing ideas to inform its future thinking. 

2.40 We are therefore concerned that the IEMB still remains interim. It is three 
years since the Gould Report recommended legislative change to establish in 
statute an Elections Convener with a power of direction within an EMB. 
Permanent structures are needed to ensure electoral administrative 
performance continues to improve. While we commend the discussions 
between governments on this matter we would urge early legislative action is 
taken. 

Wales 

2.41 In Wales, coordinated forward planning was achieved to a greater degree 
than for any previous UK general election. The Regional Returning Officer for the 
2009 European Parliamentary elections had given a strong lead to Wales-wide 
planning, and Returning Officers agreed to take forward similar arrangements 
for the UK general election. These were facilitated by the Commission. 

2.42 Alongside operational planning, the Wales Election Planning Group 
continued as a forum for a collaborative approach to election planning and is 
comprised of the European Parliamentary Regional Returning Officer, 
representatives of electoral administrators, political parties, UK Government and 
Welsh Assembly Government officials, Welsh Local Government Association 
and the Commission. It was facilitated by the Assembly Government and 
chaired by a senior Assembly Government official. Its main benefit was as a 
forum for sharing information between all the relevant organisations and 
reviewing significant developments. 

Northern Ireland 

2.43 Planning for the election in Northern Ireland commenced in September 
2009 to ensure that the Electoral Office for Northern Ireland would be ready to 
react as soon as the date of the election was announced. Preparations included 
new arrangements for selecting staff at count centres by means of a test of their 
speed and accuracy of counting. The Chief Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland 
established a steering group comprising key personnel from the Electoral Office 
and representatives from the Police Service of Northern Ireland. A detailed 
election plan was produced and progress against key targets was received at 
regular intervals. Commission representatives attended meetings of the group to 
hear about the plans and provided updates on public awareness activity.   

25 

Agenda Item 7Page 91



2.44 Such planning and coordination proved invaluable when the count for the 
Foyle constituency at the Templemore Sports Complex in Londonderry was 
suspended for two hours due to a bomb explosion outside the count centre. 
Working with the Police Service of Northern Ireland, the Deputy Returning Officer 
secured the integrity of the electoral process and all staff were evacuated safely 
and there were no injuries. The count recommenced at 1.30am on Friday 
morning. 

The performance of Returning Officers 
in delivering well-run elections 
Satisfaction with the delivery of the UK general election 

2.45 Voter confidence in the way the 2010 UK general election was run was 
generally high, despite problems with queues at a small number of polling 
stations in England which were widely reported in the media. Our public opinion 
research, conducted by Ipsos MORI during the weeks following the election, 
found that about two-thirds (69%) of voters were very or fairly confident that the 
elections were well run, with a quarter of all voters saying that they were very 
confident. Voters in Northern Ireland were more confident (86%) than those in 
England (68%), Scotland (71%) and Wales (73%). 

2.46 Nevertheless, three out of 10 voters (30%) across the UK as a whole said 
that they were not very, or not at all confident that the 2010 elections were well 
run. This compares with higher levels of confidence among those who voted in 
2009, when only 4% said that they were not confident that the elections were 
well run. It is possible that widespread media coverage of the problems at some 
polling stations may have affected people’s confidence. There is no directly 
comparable information for the 2005 UK general election.  

26 

Agenda Item 7 Page 92



 

Chart 1: Confidence that the May 2010 elections were well run 

 

42%

27%

28%

24%

25%

45%

46%

43%

45%

45%

9%

20%

23%

21%

21%

7%

9%

9%

1%

6%

3%

1%

1%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Northern Ireland

Wales

Scotland 

England

UK

Very confident Fairly confident Not very confident

Not at all confident Don’t know 
 

  
Source: Ipsos MORI, May 2010 Post-election survey UK general election and local 

elections in England   
 

 
Question: How confident, if at all, are you that the election(s) was/were well run on 
Thursday 6th May? 

 

 
Base: All voters (1,790) UK of which England 512, Scotland 500, Wales 524,  
Northern Ireland 254 

 

 
 

 

2.47 Of those who responded to our surveys, 78% of candidates and 82% of 
agents said they were very or fairly satisfied with the administration of the 
election in their constituency. More than 85% of candidates and 90% of agents 
agreed that they had found the Returning Officer helpful.     

2.48 Around 10% of candidates and agents, however, said that they were very 
or fairly dissatisfied with how the election was run. Responses to our survey of 
candidates indicated some areas of particular dissatisfaction. There was 
criticism that some election counts were disorganised, slow or lacking 
transparency, despite improved guidance and management materials issued by 
the Commission. These are concerns which have been expressed in previous 
years. Candidates were also concerned that voting, particularly postal voting 
was open to fraud. Other concerns expressed by candidates focused on the 
performance of Royal Mail in delivering election materials, including delivery to 
the wrong addresses or not delivering them at all. We will work with Royal Mail to 
identify how these concerns can be resolved. 

27 

Agenda Item 7Page 93



Performance standards for Returning Officers 

2.49 The Commission was given powers in 2006 to set and monitor the 
performance of Returning Officers in Great Britain. In March 2010 we directed 
Returning Officers to report to us against the performance standards which we 
had published in March 2009. This was the second time we had directed 
Returning Officers to report against the standards. 

2.50 Our initial analysis of the performance of Returning Officers at the 2010 UK 
general election suggests that there has been a general improvement against all 
the standards, and particularly in relation to the standards for maintaining the 
integrity of elections and planning and delivering public awareness activities. We 
had identified these as the weakest areas of performance by Returning Officers 
in 2009.  

2.51 We are currently verifying the reports from Returning Officers, and expect to 
publish detailed data and analysis of the performance of Returning Officers against 
our standards in September 2010. We will also reflect on the findings from the first 
two years of performance assessments and will consider what adjustments should 
be made to the performance standards framework for future elections. 

2.52 There were also, however, a relatively small number of isolated – but often 
high-profile – instances of errors or poor administration by Returning Officers 
which caused problems for voters and candidates. These included errors in 
printing ballot papers or poll cards, inadequately resourced polling stations 
which led to queuing and prevented some electors from voting, and at least one 
instance of significant errors in managing the counting of votes.  

2.53 We have already published a detailed report exploring the scale, nature 
and causes of the problems experienced by people who were prevented from 
voting because of polling station queues at the close of poll.15 We have 
recommended a number of changes to ensure these particular problems are 
not repeated at future elections, including changing the law to make clear that 
eligible electors who started queuing to vote before the close of poll will be able 
to vote. 

2.54 We will also, as we identified in our report on these problems, consider 
how to put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that the improvements 
to planning which we also recommended are taken forward by Returning 
Officers. In particular, standards must be met in terms of the provision and 
staffing of polling stations including training and awareness for polling station 
staff, and that proper polling district and polling place reviews are carried out, 
and risk assessments are complete and up to date. 

                                           

15 The Electoral Commission, 2010 UK Parliamentary general election – Interim report: review of 

problems at polling stations at close of poll on 6 May 2010 (20 May 2010) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/99091/Interim-Report-Polling-
Station-Queues-complete.pdf.  

28 

Agenda Item 7 Page 94



Preventing and detecting electoral 
malpractice and fraud 
2.55 While police forces across the UK are responsible for investigating any 
allegations of electoral malpractice or fraud, a wide range of partners worked 
together to promote electoral integrity and prevent malpractice at the May 2010 
UK general election.  

2.56 The Commission and others involved with promoting electoral integrity, 
including police forces and prosecutors, recognised that there might be an 
increased number of reports of alleged electoral malpractice at this UK general 
election, particularly compared with elections in recent years. This was partly 
because the UK general election was considered to be the most closely 
contested election for over a decade, but also because local elections were 
scheduled to be held in areas with a previous history of reported electoral 
malpractice, such as London and the metropolitan areas of England.  

2.57 We have worked with ACPO and ACPOS to ensure that there is now a 
network of Single Point of Contact (SPOC) officers for election-related offences, 
who act as a liaison point for Returning Officers and others in each police force 
area as well as providing expert support to their colleagues. We also issued 
comprehensive guidance on election-related offences to assist police officers 
and Returning Officers, including a pocket-guide for police officers. We also 
provided training, including a national seminar for SPOC officers, during 2009 
and early 2010. 

Cases of electoral malpractice or fraud 

2.58 We have also worked with ACPO to ensure that cases of alleged electoral 
malpractice reported to the police have been consistently and comprehensively 
recorded across the UK since the beginning of 2010. Because many of the 
cases of alleged malpractice are still under active investigation by police forces, 
it is not possible at this time to give any definitive figures for the number of 
cases which relate to the 2010 UK general election. We will publish verified data 
and analysis on the extent and nature of cases of electoral malpractice at the 
UK general election in January 2011. 

2.59 Our initial analysis at this early stage indicates that so far around a third of 
the reported cases of alleged electoral malpractice have been closed with no 
further action because it was deemed there was either no offence, no evidence 
or the case was undetectable. One case has been resolved with a caution. A 
further 10% of cases have resulted in informal police advice being given. This 
step falls short of a caution that may result in a criminal record. 

2.60 Although the investigation of the remaining cases is still at a preliminary 
stage, three are currently awaiting advice from the Crown Prosecution Service 
for England and Wales, and court proceedings have already started in two other 
cases. 

29 

Agenda Item 7Page 95



Challenges to the results of the elections 

2.61 Election results can only be challenged by issuing an election petition 
which must be lodged with the High Court in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland, or the Court of Session in Scotland. Two petitions were issued 
challenging results at the 2010 UK general election. The first alleges that false 
statements were made about the personal character of a candidate in the 
election for the Oldham East and Saddleworth constituency. The second alleges 
mis-administration by the Returning Officer for the Fermanagh and South Tyrone 
constituency, involving inaccurate verification at the count of the number of 
ballot papers contained in 15 ballot boxes.   

2.62 Two further petitions relate to local government elections in England. One 
alleges a miscalculation of the counted votes by the Returning Officer for the 
London Borough of Waltham Forest. The other alleges that mis-administration 
by the Returning Officer for the London Borough of Croydon meant that a 
number of eligible electors were unable to vote after queuing at polling stations 
at the close of poll at 10pm. 

2.63 Preliminary hearings on all petitions will have taken place by the end of 
July and they could be resolved by the end of September. 

2.64 We have in the past highlighted to the UK government that the process for 
challenging elections is complex, expensive and inaccessible. In 2007 we held 
discussions with interested parties and issued a briefing paper calling for a 
wider debate on the current methods of challenging the result of an election. 
The UK Government must now put in place reforms to provide proportionate 
and accessible procedures for challenging the result of an election where poor- 
quality administration may have affected the result.  

30 

Agenda Item 7 Page 96



3 Campaigning and standing 
for election in 2010  

Campaigning and standing for election  

We want people throughout the UK to be confident that there is transparency 
about party and election finance so that people know where money comes from 
and how it is spent, and that the rules on party and election finance are followed 
and those who do not follow them are dealt with appropriately and effectively. 

At the 2010 elections: 

! A total of 4,150 candidates, representing 135 registered political parties, 
contested the UK general election. 

! Eighty-two new political parties were registered between 1 January and the 
close of the register of political parties on 16 April 2010. We also dealt with 
170 applications for changes to existing registered party details in this 
period.  

! Five third parties (individuals or organisations who are not contesting the 
election but who campaign to influence the outcome) renewed existing 
registrations, while a further 13 registered for the first time. 

Our agenda for the next five years 

We will publish our full analysis of party and candidate spending in February 
2011. During the coming year we intend to review the need for changes to the 
regulatory regime for party and election finance.  

This work will take account of issues that emerged during the election 
campaign, including whether there is scope to simplify aspects of the rules that 
those we regulate found difficult to relate to their activity, and whether the 
election-related reporting requirements are appropriate for smaller parties and 
those not contesting the election. We will also consider whether the law on party 
registration is working effectively in the interests of voters. 

31 

Agenda Item 7Page 97



Parties and candidates at this election 
3.1 A total of 4,150 candidates, representing 135 registered political parties, 
contested the 2010 general election across the UK. This compares with 119 
political parties and 3,554 candidates at the 2005 UK general election. In Wales 
17 parties fielded a total of 268 candidates, in Scotland 348 candidates 
contested the election and 21 parties were represented, while in Northern 
Ireland eight parties and 108 candidates contested the election. The high level 
of participation led to strong demand for the party registration and advice and 
guidance services that we provide.     

Registration of political parties and third parties 

3.2 As expected there was an increase in registration activity in the lead up to 
the election. A total of 82 new political parties were registered between 1 
January and the closure of the register on 16 April, all within our target of 20 
working days. This compares with 72 parties registered in the equivalent period 
before the 2005 UK general election. We also dealt with 170 applications for 
changes to existing registered party details in this period. Five third parties 
(individuals or organisations who are not contesting the election but who 
campaign to influence the outcome) renewed existing registrations, while a 
further 13 registered with the Commission for the first time, many after being 
contacted by us.   

3.3 The run-up to the election highlighted several issues with the rules on the 
registration of political party names, descriptions and emblems for use on ballot 
papers. Some related to the potential for confusion where ballot papers included 
registered party descriptions but not the name of the party. In 2009 we 
published ballot paper design guidance16 which recommended that ballot 
papers should always include the party name as well as any registered 
description or emblem. We will continue to press for this recommendation to be 
adopted for all ballot papers in future elections.     

3.4 One application for registration of an emblem by a new party resembled 
an emblem which was associated with and trademarked by an existing party, 
but was no longer registered with us by that party. This highlighted the issue of 
whether the law currently provides appropriate protection for emblems that are 
not registered with us, and thus properly addresses the risk of voters being 
confused. We are considering this and will make any necessary 
recommendations to the Government later this year.         

Providing advice and guidance 

3.5 Our aim as the regulator of party and election finance is to provide clear, 
helpful and accurate advice and guidance to those we regulate, to help them 

                                           

16 The Electoral Commission, Making your mark (2009) available at 
www.dopolitics.org.uk/making-your-mark.  

32 

Agenda Item 7 Page 98



comply with the rules. We saw a significant increase in demand for our advice 
services during the election period. The level of requests for advice on routine 
issues, and on novel or complex issues not covered in our written guidance, is 
shown in Table 1, along with our performance in responding to requests within 
the timescale targets in our Corporate plan.17 We were able to out-perform those 
targets despite the high volume of advice requests. We reallocated some 
resources from less pressing work in order to meet the demand for advice.      

Table 1: Requests for advice, 1 January – 6 May 2010 

 

Request type Corporate 
plan target 

Requests 
received 

Answered 
within target 

Performance 
against target 

Routine advice 95% answered 
within 5 days 

1,739 1,713 98.5%

Novel and 
complex 
advice 

90% answered 
within 30 days 

221 209 94.6%

 

3.6 We published written guidance for candidates and agents, including an 
explanation of the new candidate spending regime, in December 2009, and we 
updated our guidance for political parties and third parties in January 2010. 
During the election campaign we received a significant number of requests for 
guidance on two complex issues, the treatment of hustings events for candidate 
spending purposes, and the application of the third party rules to various types 
of campaigning activity. As a result we reviewed our previous guidance on these 
areas and published guidance updates that addressed many of the issues 
raised in individual enquiries. The updates were welcomed by many of those 
seeking our advice.    

3.7  Responses from candidates and election agents to our survey suggest 
that many found the advice and guidance provided by the Commission to be a 
useful resource, although it appears many relied on their political parties as their 
main source of information. Just over half (51%) of election agents who 
responded said that they found the Commission to be a useful source of 
guidance, while 14% said that they did not find it helpful. Candidates who 
responded to our survey indicated that guidance produced by the Commission 
was used as one source of information about the nomination process (identified 
by 45% of candidates), election expenses (52%) and more broadly the conduct 
of elections (41%). Feedback from political parties, election agents and 
Returning Officers suggests that the Commission’s guidance is often used when 
advising candidates.   

                                           

17 The Electoral Commission, Corporate plan 2010–11 to 2014–15 (March 2010) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/87744/Corporate-plan-2010-11-
web-updated.pdf.  

33 

Agenda Item 7Page 99



34 

Monitoring election campaigns 

3.8 As part of our risk-based approach to regulation we carried out some 

desk-based monitoring of campaign activity in 92 selected constituencies 

across the UK. The purpose of this work was to promote compliance by: 

! raising awareness of the rules and our role in policing them 

! obtaining information on campaigning activity which we may refer to when 

checking spending returns, and 

! identifying emerging issues and opportunities for us to offer advice and 

guidance to those we regulate 

3.9 The constituencies were selected using criteria that we set out in a 

consultation we carried out in 2009.18 The project included monitoring of 

advertising, leaflets and internet activity by staff in each of our offices and a 

small number of additional temporary staff in our London office. The outcome of 

the monitoring work will be set out in our final report on campaign spending at 

the election, which we will publish early in 2011 after we have received parties’ 

campaign spending returns.   

Reporting on donations and loans to parties 

3.10 We publish donations accepted by political parties in Great Britain and 

their accounting units on a quarterly basis (special provisions apply to parties 

registered in Northern Ireland).19 Once a UK general election is called, we also 

publish donations given to the headquarters of those parties contesting the 

election on a weekly basis until polling day. These reports do not include 

donations to candidates, who must report the donations they have received and 

their spending returns to the Returning Officer in the constituency they have 

contested. Table 2 shows the donations and loans reported to us by selected 

parties since July 2009.20 Full details of all donations and loans reported to us 

since the start of the regulatory regime in 2001 can be found in the registers on 

our website. 

3.11 Quarterly donation and loan returns for the period from January to March 

2010 were due to be sent to us by Friday 30 April. We usually publish quarterly 

returns 20 working days after receipt, using the intervening period to check that 

reports are accurate and to contact parties if there are queries or to obtain 

missing information. Given the proximity of the Quarter 1 2010 reporting 

deadline to the date of the election, we published the returns on Tuesday 4 May, 

one working day after receipt, so that voters would have this information 

available to them before going to the polls. We also published each of the five 

weekly reports during the election campaign within 24 hours of the deadline for 

                                           

18 The Electoral Commission, Better regulation of party and election finance (June 2009) 

paragraphs 3.15–3.18. 
19 Since 1 January 2010, parties must report any donation or loans above £7,500 made to the 

central party, or donations or loans exceeding £1,500 made to a local accounting unit. 
20 Parties in Great Britain that we expect to report income in excess of £250,000 for 2009. 

Agenda Item 7 Page 100



submission of the returns by parties, to ensure that the information was available 
to voters as soon as possible.    

Table 2: Donations and loans to selected parties since July 200921 

 

Party Quarter 3 

2009 
(Jul–Sep) 

(£) 

Quarter 4 

2009 
(Oct–Dec) 

(£) 

Quarter 1 

2009 
(Jan–Mar) 

(£) 

Weekly 

(6 April– 
6 May) 

(£) 

Total 

(£) 

BNP 13,805 0 0 0 13,805

Christian 
Party 
“Proclaiming 
Christ’s 
Lordship” 

0 20,000 100,000 60,000 180,000

Conservative 
Party 

5,378,354 10,481,949 12,357,714 7,317,601 35,535,619

Co-operative 
Party [The] 

90,163 204,735 477,545 33,745 806,189

Jury Team 0 0 19,500 0 19,500

Labour Party 
[The] 

3,046,377 4,968,385 4,070,432 5,283,198 17,368,392

Liberal 
Democrats 

873,405 1,151,851 1,931,147 724,000 4,680,403

Green Party 
[The] 

78,844 89,182 59,650 0 227,677

Scottish 
National Party 

17,236 26,110 5,123 10,000 58,471

Plaid Cymru – 
Party of Wales 
[The] 

13,250 11,617 98,002 0 122,869

UK 
Independence 
Party (UKIP) 

88,755 197,150 106,547 0 392,452

Total 9,600,192 17,150,983 19,225,660 13,428,546 59,405,381

3.12 The requirement to report donations received and loans entered into on a 
weekly basis applies to all registered parties unless they apply for an exemption 
on the grounds that they do not intend to contest the election. We were aware 
that some parties were unfamiliar with this obligation and went to considerable 
efforts to contact all registered parties to provide information about how to apply 
for an exemption, including follow-up letters and calls to some parties. However, 
29 registered parties failed either to apply for an exemption or to provide weekly 

                                           

21 Figures exclude public funding and impermissible donations. Totals may not match precisely 
because of rounding. 

35 

Agenda Item 7Page 101



returns. We are following up these cases to ensure that returns are submitted 
where relevant, and to emphasise the need to comply with the rules in future. 
Fines will be pursued where appropriate. We will also look closely at why the 
compliance rate for weekly returns was lower than the compliance rate for 
quarterly returns, and whether the current requirements are appropriate for 
smaller parties.22   

Reporting on spending 

3.13 All those parties that contested constituencies in the election are required 
to send details of their campaign spending to us for publication. Returns 
covering spending up to the value of £250,000 must be sent to us by 5 August 
2010, and returns covering spending above this value (which must be 
independently audited) must reach us by 5 November 2010. We will publish the 
returns as soon as practicable after we receive them. We will also publish a 
report on campaign expenditure by parties, candidates and third parties in the 
elections across the UK in early 2011.  

Dealing with breaches of the rules 

3.14 We are responsible for monitoring compliance with the rules on donation 
reporting, and campaign spending by political parties, third parties and 
candidates. We will review the campaign spending returns of political parties, 
third parties and candidates when they become available, and this may result in 
future investigation and enforcement activity. 

The experience of candidates and 
political parties 
The nomination process 

3.15 The vast majority of agents who responded to our survey (95%) thought 
the nominations process was well run, and there was little variation between 
agents from different political parties. Overall, the nominations process itself was 
also seen as straightforward by nearly 90% of candidates who responded. 
Around seven out of 10 candidates surveyed said that they had looked to their 
election agent or party officials as the main source of information about the 
nomination process. 

The count  

3.16 There was some dissatisfaction with the transparency of the count among 
agents, and more so among candidates. Sixty per cent of candidates agreed 
with the statement ‘Elections staff made it clear what was happening at all 

                                           

22 Average compliance rate for weekly returns over a five-week period is 73.2%. Average 
quarterly compliance since Quarter 1 2009 is 97%. 

36 

Agenda Item 7 Page 102



stages of the count,’ but over a quarter (26%) disagreed, making this one of the 
most notable area of dissatisfaction identified in our survey of candidates. 

3.17 Comments from candidates identified a number of other issues related to 
the count process. A number reported frustration with how long the verification 
and count process took. Some candidates attributed delays to the effect of 
more than one election being held on the same day, but others expressed the 
view that the count was disorganised. Some candidates who provided feedback 
also expressed concern that they had not been kept well-informed about count 
progress. 

Confidence in the integrity of the elections 

3.18 Candidates and agents were also asked how concerned they were about 
electoral fraud or abuse having taken place in their constituency. Just under a 
quarter (24%) said that they were very or fairly concerned, although only 15% of 
election agents said they were similarly concerned. 

3.19  In terms of the general safety of voting from fraud and abuse, candidates 
were less confident than electors, with 28% saying that they thought voting was 
fairly or very unsafe. This was also reflected in feedback from candidates, a 
small number of who expressed concern that electoral fraud may have taken 
place in their constituencies, while others stated that they believed the postal 
voting system to be open to abuse. 

3.20 Although not directly comparable, because the questions vary and the 
sample size is different, these levels of confidence in the integrity of the UK 
general election are broadly consistent with the levels of confidence expressed 
by candidates at the 2009 English local elections, where 80% of those who 
responded to our survey did not think that electoral fraud in Great Britain is a big 
or very big problem. 

37 

Agenda Item 7Page 103



4 Registering to vote at the 
2010 UK general election  

Registering to vote 

We want people across the UK to be confident that registering to vote is 
straightforward, accessible and secure. We want to make sure people know 
how to register to vote and encourage them to do so. 

At the 2010 UK general election: 

! The electoral registers for the UK general election contained just fewer 
than 45.6 million entries, an increase of 1.3 million since the 2005 UK 
general election. 

! The registers for the areas of England where local government elections 
also took place on 6 May contained 21.3 million entries. 

! The eligible electorate increased by over 700,000 between publication of 
the 1 December 2009 registers and the close of registration on 20 April 
2010. This increase was made up of attainers on the registers who turned 
18 by polling day and people who registered to vote after the annual 
canvass. 

! Over two million visits were made to our public information website 
www.aboutmyvote.co.uk, 500,000 registration forms were downloaded, 
and a further 10,000 forms were sent out from our call centre in Great 
Britain. In Northern Ireland 5,150 forms were downloaded from the website 
or sent out from the call centre. We are aware that some of these forms 
went to voters who were already registered, and we will use the feedback 
from Electoral Registration Officers to improve this service and minimise 
duplication. 

! Of the people we surveyed, 86% reported that they were fairly or very 
satisfied with the process of registering to vote. Satisfaction was higher 
among voters than non-voters, and was also higher among older than 
younger people. 

Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the UK Government to implement the change approved in the Political 
Parties and Elections Act 2009 to provide a system of individual electoral 
registration in Great Britain which ensures that: 

! everyone eligible to take part in elections in Great Britain can be registered 
to vote 

38 

Agenda Item 7 Page 104



39 

! no one ineligible to vote is included in an electoral register 

! changes to the system are easily explained to, and understood by, 

electors 

! personal data is properly managed and protected 

! changes to the registration system are made efficiently, without a 

detrimental impact on the existing duties and responsibilities of Electoral 

Registration Officers 

We want the UK Government to address the key policy challenges which we 

identified in our March 2010 electoral registration research report:  

! Consider the timing of the annual canvass in order to best ensure 

complete and accurate registers for elections, and what role it will have 

once individual electoral registration has been fully implemented in Great 

Britain.  

! Capture population movements between each annual canvass more 

swiftly and accurately, and consider the potential for access to new data 

sources to improve the completeness and accuracy of electoral registers.  

! Review the current allocation of resources for electoral registration, to 

ensure that where there is greater risk of incomplete or inaccurate electoral 

registers, Electoral Registration Officers are better equipped to tackle 

those risks. 

The register for the May 2010 UK 

general election  
Who could vote 

4.1 For the UK general election, the following people were eligible to vote if 

they were aged 18 or over and on the electoral register on polling day: 

! British or qualifying Commonwealth citizens23 resident in the UK  

! citizens of the Irish Republic resident in the UK 

! British nationals living overseas who moved up to 15 years ago, and who 

had previously been registered in the UK 

! service or Crown personnel serving in the UK or overseas in the armed 

forces or with Her Majesty’s Government 

 

4.2 For the local government elections in England, the following people were 

eligible to vote if they were aged 18 or over and on the electoral register on 

polling day: 

                                           

23 Including Rwanda which became a Commonwealth country in March 2010. Qualifying 

Commonwealth citizens who have leave to remain in the UK or do not require such leave. 

Agenda Item 7Page 105



! British or qualifying Commonwealth citizens resident in the UK 

! European Union citizens resident in the UK 

! service or Crown personnel serving in the UK or overseas in the armed 
forces or with Her Majesty’s Government 

Compiling the electoral register 

4.3 In order to vote in a UK general election, people who are eligible must first 
ensure they are included in the electoral register. Electoral Registration Officers 
are responsible for compiling and maintaining electoral registers in Great Britain. 
In Northern Ireland, this is the responsibility of the Chief Electoral Officer (CEO).  

4.4 The main focus of electoral registration activity in Great Britain is the 
registration of electors within households that takes place every autumn 
(commonly known as the ‘annual canvass’). The purpose of the annual canvass 
is to check the entries on the register and update them if necessary. Individuals 
can also register or change their existing details at any time of the year, usually 
as a result of moving home or having missed the annual canvass. 

4.5 Northern Ireland uses a system of continuous individual registration. There 
is no annual canvass, but people can apply to be included in the electoral 
register at any time. Applicants must provide personal identification information 
including their date of birth, National Insurance number and signature. Names 
stay in the electoral register until the CEO is told that someone is no longer 
entitled to be registered at the listed address, either because they have moved 
away or because they have died. 

4.6 The UK Parliament passed legislation in July 2009 to introduce individual 
electoral registration in Great Britain by 2015.24 Following the UK general 
election, the UK Government has indicated that it intends to implement 
individual electoral registration more swiftly than the current timetable set out in 
legislation. We welcome the commitment to moving to a system of individual 
electoral registration in Great Britain, and we look forward to the publication of 
the Government’s detailed plans for implementation. We will continue to monitor 
proposals for the successful introduction of this framework, so that people are 
served by a secure and convenient registration process that produces electoral 
registers, which are both complete and accurate.  

Promoting electoral registration 
Promotion of electoral registration by Electoral Registration 
Officers 

4.7 Complete and accurate electoral registers are the bedrock of secure elections. 
Since the end of 2006, Electoral Registration Officers in Great Britain have had a duty 

                                           

24 Provisions contained in the Political Parties and Elections Act 2009. 

40 

Agenda Item 7 Page 106



to proactively take steps to increase registration rates, and all Electoral Registration 
Officers should have a public awareness strategy in place to deliver this.    

4.8 In the months leading up to polling day, many Electoral Registration 
Officers in Great Britain carried out activities to promote electoral registration for 
the 6 May 2010 elections. These included writing to all non-respondents to the 
annual canvass and directing them to their council’s or our website; canvassing 
or setting up a registration point on university campuses; publicising the election 
in local authority magazines, on their websites and via Facebook and Twitter; 
sending text message reminders; and displaying posters in a range of 
community locations such as schools, hospitals, train stations, and on buses. 

4.9 Targeted advertising such as adverts in Asian magazines and discussions 
with students were also carried out in some areas to target black and minority 
ethnic communities and young people. 

The role of the Electoral Commission in promoting electoral 
registration 

4.10 We ran one public awareness campaign across Great Britain in advance of 
the local government and UK general election on 6 May. We ran a separate 
campaign in Northern Ireland. The campaigns aimed to increase the number of 
eligible people to register to vote and ran over a range of media including 
television, press, radio and online. The campaigns were particularly targeted at 
under-registered groups, including young adults, students, home-movers, 
private renters, and certain black and minority ethnic groups.  

4.11 The campaigns encouraged people to make sure they were registered to 
vote by visiting our website, www.aboutmyvote.co.uk, to download a registration 
form, or by contacting our telephone helpline.  

4.12 The campaign was successful in reaching its target audiences, particularly 
black and minority ethnic groups. There were over two million visits to our 
website, www.aboutmyvote.co.uk, and more than 500,000 registration forms 
downloaded. Our call centre in Great Britain answered over 22,000 calls and 
sent out 10,000 registration forms. In Northern Ireland, the call centre answered 
over 5,000 calls and sent out more than 3,800 registration forms, and more than 
1,350 forms were downloaded from the website.25 

4.13 While the campaign was clearly successful in raising awareness of 
registration among the target audience, initiating and prompting requests to be 
registered, it is not possible to tell how many unregistered people became 
registered as a result. Anecdotal feedback from some Electoral Registration 
Officers suggests that some of the forms they received were from people who 
were already registered, or from people who were registered at a previous 
address in the same authority and needed to update their registration details. 

                                           

25 Figures are for the period 1 April 2010 to 6 May 2010. 

41 

Agenda Item 7Page 107



4.14 Electoral Registration Officers have provided us with helpful feedback on the 
campaign and have suggested ways in which it could be improved to increase voter 
understanding of the registration process, avoid duplicate registration applications 
and to make it easier for them to deal with the returned forms. We will take this into 
account in planning any future campaigns and continue our efforts to encourage 
people to register to vote for future elections, making best use of data sources to 
effectively target people missing from the register. 

Registration levels 

4.15 This was the first UK general election where voters could register to vote 
after the election had been announced, following changes introduced in the 
Electoral Administration Act 2006.26 Previously, the deadline for new or changed 
registration applications had been up to a month and a half before polling day. 

4.16 The electoral registers for the 2010 UK general election included nearly 
45.6 million entries, an increase of over 1.3 million since the last UK general 
election in 2005. In those areas of England where local government elections 
were also held in May 2010 (164 local authorities in total), the registers included 
approximately 21.3 million entries. 

4.17 The registration deadline for both the UK general election and local 
elections in some parts of England was midnight on 20 April 2010, just over two 
weeks before polling day. The number of entries included in the registers of 
Parliamentary electors increased by over 700,000 between the publication of the 
register on 1 December 2009 and the close of registration on 20 April 2010. This 
figure includes those attainers on the register who would have turned 18 and 
been eligible to vote by 6 May; this figure is estimated at over 200,000. 

4.18 In March 2010, we published our report, The completeness and accuracy 

of electoral registers in Great Britain.27 Based on new analysis of existing data as 
well as new primary research in eight local authority case studies, the report 
concluded that Britain’s electoral registers have now stabilised after a period of 
decline since the late 1990s.  

4.19 However, the findings suggest growing local and regional variations in the 
completeness and accuracy of the registers, with the highest concentrations of 
under-registration most likely to be found in metropolitan areas, smaller towns 
and cities with large student populations, and coastal areas with significant 
population turnover and high levels of social deprivation. 

                                           

26 Previously, electors had to be on the register when Parliament was dissolved before the 
election. In effect this meant electors would have had to be on the register as it stood at 1 April 
for an election that was called in April, and held in May. 
27 The Electoral Commission (March 2010), The completeness and accuracy of electoral 

registers in Great Britain available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/87111/The-completeness-and-
accuracy-of-electoral-registers-in-Great-Britain.pdf. 

42 

Agenda Item 7 Page 108



4.20 Based on these findings, we have identified key actions for Electoral 
Registration Officers and policy makers, including the importance of using data-
mining techniques to identify possible anomalous entries in electoral registers 
and consideration of whether the annual canvass should continue to be carried 
out such a long time in advance of scheduled elections. 

4.21 We are also aware from data provided by Electoral Registration Officers 
that a relatively small number of people attempted to register after the deadline 
in Great Britain, an average of 145 per constituency, representing roughly 0.2% 
of the total number of entries in the registers for the UK general election.28 

4.22 Other factors may also have had an impact on the number of people 
registered to vote at the 2010 UK general election. This year, for the first time, 
televised debates were held between the leaders and senior representatives of 
the main political parties in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland in the 
run-up to the election, provoking a great deal of media and public interest. The 
first debates in England, Wales and Scotland were all held before the deadline 
for registration on 20 April, and may have encouraged people to register. The 
closure of UK airspace in mid-April, following a volcanic eruption in Iceland, 
resulted in a backlog of air mail, which may have delayed some registration 
applications.  

People’s experience and satisfaction with registering to vote 

4.23 Our public opinion research carried out in the weeks following the election 
found that 97% of people asked believed they were registered to vote, either at 
their current address or at another previous address.29 The most commonly 
mentioned reason for not being on the register was not being eligible to vote 
(mainly for reasons of nationality), followed by not being bothered or not seeing 
the point in registering to vote.  

4.24 Satisfaction with the electoral registration process was generally very high. 
Our public opinion research found that 86% of people were satisfied with the 
procedure for registering to vote. Satisfaction with the registration process 
increases with age, with 94% of people aged 55 or over reporting that they were 
very or fairly satisfied, compared with 75% of those aged 18–34. People who 
said that they had voted in the 2010 UK general election were also more likely to 
report that they were very or fairly satisfied with the process of registering to vote 
(90%) compared with non-voters (66%).  

4.25 In 2009, 87% of people said that they were very or fairly satisfied with the 
electoral registration process, with more than half (54%) reporting that they were 
very satisfied. Only 2% were dissatisfied with the registration process. 

                                           

28 This average is based on returns from 500 constituencies in Great Britain. 
29 Ninety-three per cent reported that they were registered at their current address and 4% said 
they were registered at another address. This registration level is based on self reporting, which 
previous research has shown to overestimate the proportion of people actually registered. This 
figure should therefore be treated with caution. 

43 

Agenda Item 7Page 109



4.26 Further research carried out on behalf of the Commission in December 
2009 suggests that people are generally confident that they know how to 
register to vote: 88% of respondents said that they were fairly or very confident 
that they knew how to register to vote, compared with only 10% who said that 
they were not very or not at all confident. There appears, nevertheless, to be 
some underlying confusion among the public about electoral registration. Our 
post-election survey asked people a series of ‘true or false’ questions on 
statements about electoral registration to gauge awareness of the rules. More 
than two in five (43%) incorrectly believed that registration is automatic for 
anyone aged 18 or over; three in 10 (31%) incorrectly believed that people 
would be automatically registered if they paid council tax; and one in four (25%) 
incorrectly believed that you can register until the day before an election. Just 
over one in 10 (12%) correctly answered that you may be fined if you don’t 
register to vote.  

44 

Agenda Item 7 Page 110



5 Taking part and voting in the 
2010 elections 

Taking part and voting  

! The majority of the people in the UK were satisfied with the procedure for 
voting. 

! Three-quarters (75%) of people asked (including those who said they did 
not vote) were very or fairly satisfied with the procedure for voting, with 
13% saying they were dissatisfied.  

! Among those who said they had voted, 80% said they were satisfied with 
the voting process.  

! Satisfaction levels were highest among those aged 55 and over (83%), 
compared with 67% of 18–34-year-olds who said they were very or fairly 
satisfied.  

Our agenda for the next five years 

We want the Government to bring forward proposals for a comprehensive 
electoral modernisation strategy to set out how it intends to address significant 
policy issues, including:  

! improving voting opportunities for service personnel and other overseas 
electors 

! further strengthening the security of postal voting, in particular by requiring 
the personal identifiers on all returned postal voting statements to be 
verified before ballot papers are counted 

! lengthening the timetable for UK Parliamentary elections and bringing key 
deadlines into line with those for other elections 

! considering what role advance voting might play in helping to provide 
more flexible options for people wanting to vote 

! reviewing the case for requiring proof of identity for voters at polling 
stations 

We want the Government to change the law to make clear that eligible electors 
who are entitled to vote at a polling station and who are in the queue to enter the 
polling station at the close of poll will be allowed to vote. 

45 

Agenda Item 7Page 111



We have also identified a number of problems with the current legal framework 
for electoral administration that impact upon voters. These include poorly-
designed ballot papers and voter materials, the description and emblems for 
joint party candidates, emergency proxy votes not being available for 
employment related reasons, Returning Officers unable to request refresher 
signatures from absent voters and the limited number of suitable buildings that 
can be used as polling stations. We want the UK Government to address these 
problems as soon as possible.  

Any future changes to electoral law must be developed in an open and 
consultative way, and implemented in good time before the next UK general 
election, so that the rules allow people to plan no later than six months before 
polling day. 

Turnout and participation 
5.1 A total of 29.7 million valid votes were cast in the UK general election, an 
overall turnout of 65.1%. Compared with the 2005 UK general election, when 
turnout was 61.4%, this represented an increase of approximately 2.5 million 
additional voters. Turnout varied quite significantly between constituencies: the 
lowest turnout was in Manchester Central constituency (44%), while the highest 
turnout was in East Renfrewshire constituency (77%).  

5.2 A total of 5.5m valid postal votes were received. More than 220,000 
returned postal votes were not included in the count, following checking of the 
signatures and date of births provided as identifiers, the reasons for which are 
set out in paragraph 5.22. In addition, approximately 80,000 ballot papers 
(representing around 0.3% of the total issued) were not included in the count 
because they had no votes marked, more votes than permitted or the voter’s 
intention was not clear, or they did not include the official mark, or they 
contained any mark or writing that might identify the voter.   

5.3 Turnout in England, Scotland and Wales increased compared with the 
2005 UK general election, but turnout in Northern Ireland decreased by just over 
5% from nearly 63% to under 58%. 

5.4  Turnout at the local government elections in England did not differ 
significantly from turnout at the UK general election. Our public opinion research 
found that 16% of voters in these areas said that they would not have voted in 
the local government elections if the UK general election was not on the same 
day, while only 2% said they would not have voted in the general election if the 
local elections were not on the same day. 

5.5 Turnout among postal voters was higher compared with those who voted 
at polling stations: 83% of people who were sent a postal ballot pack voted, 
compared with 63% of those who were required to vote at a polling station. 

46 

Agenda Item 7 Page 112



Participation among different groups at the 2010 UK general 
election 

5.6 It is not possible to analyse demographic trends in participation using 
official data, since no personal data such as age or gender is recorded in the 
electoral register.30 However, based on analysis of their voting-intention surveys 
conducted in the run-up to the election, Ipsos MORI has been able to make 
some estimates of participation among different groups. In particular, 
participation appeared to be highest among older voters, with three-quarters 
(75%) of people aged 55 or over saying that they had voted in the UK general 
election, compared with only 44% of those aged 18–24.31 

5.7 Our public opinion research after the elections asked why people had not 
voted in the May 2010 elections. About one-third (31%) said that circumstantial 
reasons prevented them from voting. The main circumstantial reason related to 
lack of time or being too busy (12% of non-voters). A further 13% noted their 
non-voting was because of administrative factors, such as not being registered, 
or not having received a polling card or postal vote. Just under one in five (18%) 
said that they did not vote because they did not like the parties or candidates 
standing at the elections, and only a very small proportion (2%) specifically cited 
criticism of MPs’ expenses as a reason for not voting. 

How people cast their vote 

5.8 Electors were able to cast their votes either in a polling station on polling 
day, or by post during the two weeks before polling day. Since 2000, all 
registered electors in Great Britain have had the option to vote by post if they 
choose to. In Northern Ireland people may only vote by post if they have a valid 
reason why they will be unable to vote in person at their local polling station. 

5.9 If an elector had a valid reason why they were unable to vote in person, 
such as illness, physical incapacity, work commitments, or that they live 
overseas, they could appoint a proxy to vote on their behalf, either in a polling 
station or by post.  

Voting at polling stations 

5.10 Polling stations across the UK opened at 7am on 6 May 2010 and closed 
at 10pm. The majority of votes at the UK general election were cast in polling 
stations: in total more than 22 million votes (representing just over 82% of all 
votes) were cast in around 40,000 polling stations across the UK. 

5.11 During the final hours of polling on 6 May, there were reports of queues 
forming outside some polling stations, and it was later reported that some 
people in those queues were unable to vote when polls closed at 10pm. Our 

                                           

30 Date of birth is recorded in the electoral registers in Northern Ireland.  
31 Ipsos MORI’s aggregated data is based on more than 10,000 interviews across Great Britain, 
and therefore provides a reliable indicator for looking at turnout among different groups.  

47 

Agenda Item 7Page 113



report on those problems estimated that just over 1,200 electors were affected 
at 27 polling stations across 16 constituencies.32 

5.12 Our report on the problems at polling station provides more information 
about these occurrences, and what needs to change. The UK government in 
particular must address the rules on participation at the close of poll and the 
current complex structures for delivering elections. Returning Officers must 
ensure they plan appropriately, and provide the level of resources needed for 
well-run elections. 

5.13 We are also aware of some isolated reports that voters at a small number 
of polling stations may also have experienced other problems. These included:  

! polling station staff that didn’t arrive to open the polling stations on time, 
insufficient numbers of staff 

! inappropriate polling places 

! the wrong ballot papers or electoral registers being delivered to the polling 
station 

! polling stations where supplies of ballot papers ran out during polling day 
before being replenished.  

 
5.14 While limited in number, these occurrences represented unacceptable 
levels of service to the voters who were affected. 

5.15 While electors in Northern Ireland were required to present a valid form of 
photographic identification when voting at polling stations, no such identification 
was required for electors in Great Britain. We have received feedback from a 
small number of electors who complained that they had been unable to vote as 
someone else had already been issued with a ballot paper in their name. Some 
electors and candidates also expressed concern that people who were 
legitimately registered as electors in more than one place (for example, second 
home owners or students) could have voted more than once in the UK general 
election because there is no mechanism to prevent this. There is currently no 
coordination between the different electoral registers which would enable 
Returning Officers to detect and prevent this. 

Voting by post 

5.16 There has been a steady increase in the take-up of postal voting in Great 
Britain since 2000, when this option was made available to all electors. Between 
the 2001 and 2005 UK general elections, the percentage of the electorate 
issued with a postal vote rose from 4% to 12%. Some 15% of eligible electors 
(approximately 6.9 million people) were issued with postal votes at the 2010 UK 
general election.  

                                           

32 The Electoral Commission, 2010 UK Parliamentary general election – Interim report: review of 

problems at polling stations at close of poll on 6 May 2010 (20 May 2010) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/99091/Interim-Report-Polling-
Station-Queues-complete.pdf. 

48 

Agenda Item 7 Page 114



5.17 The constituencies with the highest proportion of postal ballots issued 
were Newcastle Upon Tyne North (40.6% of electors) and Houghton and 
Sunderland South (38.9% of electors). Those (outside of Northern Ireland) with 
the lowest were Hull North (5.9% of electors) and Hull East (6.7% of electors).  

5.18 The proportion of electors in Northern Ireland who were sent a postal vote 
for the UK general election (1.4%) – was much lower than elsewhere in the UK. 
Postal voting is only available to those who are unable to vote in a polling 
station, rather than to any elector. 

5.19 As already mentioned, the deadline to apply for a postal or proxy vote in 
Northern Ireland was Tuesday 15 April, five days earlier than the deadline in 
Great Britain. The number of postal and proxy votes issued almost halved since 
the last UK general election in 2005 when 34,377 postal and proxy votes were 
issued compared with 18,071 at the May 2010 general election. The Chief 
Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland explained that the decrease was largely 
due to stringent measures put in place to detect fraudulent applications and that 
warnings about the consequences of fraudulent postal and proxy vote 
applications and robust counter-fraud measures were working.33  

5.20 In addition, 21% of all applications received in Northern Ireland for a postal 
or proxy vote were declined. Some of the most common reasons for declining 
these applications were due to incorrect or incomplete information supplied on 
the application form, such as the full name or National Insurance number not 
matching what was held on the electoral register. Almost 200 applications were 
also rejected because the signature contained on the form did not correspond 
with that in the electoral register 

5.21 Across the UK approximately 5.5 million valid postal votes were received, 
representing just over 18% of all votes cast at the UK general election. More 
than 220,000 returned postal votes (representing approximately 5% of those 
issued) were not included in the count because the details provided on the 
postal voting statement (which voters are required to complete and return with 
their postal vote) could not be successfully checked against the details provided 
on their original postal vote application. This checking process is required to be 
carried out on a minimum of 20% of returned postal votes, and is intended to 
ensure that no fraudulently completed postal votes are included in the count. 

5.22 Anecdotal feedback from Returning Officers and electoral administrators 
suggests that many returned postal votes were rejected because voters had 
inadvertently entered an incorrect date of birth, or that their signatures may have 
changed since their first application. While it is clearly important that measures 
are in place that are effective in detecting and preventing fraud, these measures 
should not inadvertently disenfranchise voters who simply make mistakes on 
their postal voting statements. 

                                           

33 Douglas Bain, Chief Electoral Officer, Electoral Office for Northern Ireland press release,  
30 April 2010. 

49 

Agenda Item 7Page 115



5.23 We have previously recommended to the UK Government a number of 
changes which would help to address these problems, including allowing the 
Returning Officer to request a refreshed identifying signature, and also provide 
electors with feedback if their identifier has been rejected. We expect the Government 
to explain how and when it intends to take these forward.  

5.24 Poorly-designed voter materials can cause voter confusion and contribute 
to ballot papers being rejected, and postal voting materials should be designed 
in a way that makes them easy for voters to read, understand and follow. We set 
out in our Making your mark good practice design guidance for electoral 

administrators and government policymakers how postal voting statements and 
guidance should be designed so that they are user-friendly.34  

5.25 We want changes in electoral law and policy to ensure that voter materials 
are usable and accessible. Our guidance should inform design decisions by 
governments when drafting new legislation. It is too easy for those of us involved 
in elections to assume that everyone finds the process of casting their votes 
easy. We need to ensure that the process is clear and accessible, otherwise we 
may disenfranchise people. 

5.26 Feedback from electors has also indicated that they experienced problems 
in some areas, including the late arrival of postal votes, in some cases after 
polling day, electors in areas with combined polls receiving postal votes for 
some but not all of the elections taking place, and electors not being 
successfully registered for a postal vote despite having claimed they submitted 
an application on time. 

Voting by proxy 

5.27 People who were unable to go to their local polling station for reasons 
such as illness, physical incapacity, work commitments, holiday arrangements, 
or living overseas, could appoint a proxy in advance to vote on their behalf. The 
deadline for appointing a proxy was 5pm on Tuesday 27 April 2010 in Great 
Britain, just over a week before polling day. After this time, anyone who was 
suddenly taken ill and unable to vote in person at their polling station could 
appoint an emergency proxy up to 5pm on polling day itself. 

5.28 Across the UK more than 130,000 people appointed a proxy, around 0.3% 
of the total number of people registered. A somewhat higher proportion of 
electors in Northern Ireland (0.6%) appointed proxies compared with other parts 
of the UK.  

5.29 Some Electoral Registration Officers told us that they were contacted after 
the proxy deadline by people who had to go away for work at short notice, and 
would be absent on polling day. The current emergency proxy provisions do not 
cover people who are away from home for employment reasons, and these 

                                           

34 The Electoral Commission, Making your mark (2009) available at 
www.dopolitics.org.uk/making-your-mark. 

50 

Agenda Item 7 Page 116



people were not able to appoint a proxy and therefore not able to vote. While 
fixed-term elections may help to mitigate the uncertainty for some workers, the 
Government should look at possible changes to the terms by which emergency 
proxy applications might be issued.  

Service voters 

5.30 Members of the Armed Forces (or the husband, wife or registered civil 
partner of a member of the Armed Forces) can register to vote as a service 
voter, which allows them to register in respect of a fixed address in the UK even 
if they have to move around for their job. Or they can register to vote in the 
normal way, as an ‘ordinary’ voter. In either case, as with other voters, they can 
either vote in a polling station, by post, or if they are away from home on polling 
day, they can appoint a proxy. 

5.31 For the 6 May elections the UK Government put in place new 
arrangements to support service personnel in Afghanistan to register and to 
vote. Couriers and dedicated space on military flights were used to speed up 
the delivery of electoral registration applications and postal ballot packs to and 
from service personnel based in Afghanistan. The Government was supported 
by the Head of the Democratic Services Team at Rushmoor Borough Council in 
England, who acted as a central coordination point for the postal fast-track 
process. 

5.32 The UK Government has indicated that 294 proxy voting applications were 
received and forwarded to Electoral Registration Officers through this initiative, 
and 217 postal votes were successfully returned from Afghanistan to Returning 
Officers in around 120 local authorities. We expect the Government to carry out 
a full evaluation of the initiative, and we look forward to considering the results of 
that evaluation.  

Overseas voters 

5.33 British citizens living overseas who had moved to another country within 
the last 15 years, and who had previously been registered in the UK, could 
register to vote in the UK general election as an ‘overseas voter’. Overseas 
voters could choose to vote by post or appoint a proxy. 

5.34 Some overseas voters who had registered for a postal vote have 
complained that they did not receive their postal ballot packs in time to vote in 
the election, or that they did not receive them at all. The election timetable 
meant that postal ballot packs could only be issued after 20 April 2010 at the 
earliest, leaving two weeks for ballot packs to be received by electors based 
overseas, completed and returned to Returning Officers in the UK before 10pm 
on 6 May. 

5.35 It was clear at this election that the tight timescale for the issue and return 
of overseas postal votes meant that some people were not able to return their 
postal ballot packs in time for their votes to be counted. The UK Government 
must take into account these concerns as it considers rationalising the election 

51 

Agenda Item 7Page 117



52 

timetable as part of its planned introduction of fixed-term elections for the UK 

Parliament. 

People’s experience of voting at the 

elections 
5.36 Elections are relatively infrequent events that take place only once a year in 

most parts of the UK, and less often in some parts. People’s experiences of the 

electoral process, and in particular their experience on polling day itself, can 

have a significant impact on their views of the electoral process as a whole and 

also on the results of the elections themselves. 

Satisfaction with the voting process 

5.37 Our public opinion research carried out after the election showed that the 

majority of the people in the UK are satisfied with the procedure for voting.35 

Three-quarters (75%) of people asked (including those who said they did not 

vote) were very or fairly satisfied with the procedure for voting, with 13% saying 

they were dissatisfied. Among those who said they had voted, 80% said they 

were satisfied with the voting process. Satisfaction levels were highest among 

those aged 55 and over (83%), compared with 67% of 18–34-year-olds who said 

they were very or fairly satisfied.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                           

35 All research findings are UK-wide unless otherwise stated.

Agenda Item 7 Page 118



 

 

Chart 2: Satisfaction with procedure for voting 

36%

15% 36%

45%

28%

7%

9%

9%

8%

3%

4%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Voters

Non-voters

Very satisfied Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied Don't know

 
Source: Ipsos MORI, May 2010 Post-election survey UK general election and 

local elections in England 
Question: Generally speaking, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the 
procedure for voting in elections in Great Britain/Northern Ireland?  
Base: Voters (1,790), Non-voters (1,796) UK   
 

The experience of people who voted in polling stations 
5.38 People generally consider voting in polling stations to be a convenient way 
to vote. Nearly three-quarters (74%) of people (including those who told us they 
did not vote) said that voting at the polling station on May 6 was convenient. 
This figure is higher among those who actually voted (80%) compared to those 
who didn’t (48%). Of people who went to vote in person at their local polling 
station, 93% were very or fairly satisfied with the process. 

5.39 At the last UK general election in 2005, a survey of those who had voted in 
person at polling stations had found that 97% of them rated polling stations as 
convenient. Eighty-nine per cent of those surveyed were satisfied with the 
guidance and assistance they received at the polling station.36 

                                           

36 British Election Study, 2005. 

53 

Agenda Item 7Page 119



5.40 Of the people we asked, 90% said it was or would have been easy to get 
to their local polling station, and 5% that it was or would have been difficult. 
Non-voters (14%) and those with a disability (15%) were more likely to report 
difficulties. Having arrived at their polling station, nearly all voters (97%) said that 
they found it very or fairly easy to get inside to vote, with only 2% reporting that it 
was fairly difficult. 

The experience of people who voted by post 

5.41 The most popular reason people gave for choosing to vote by post related 
to convenience: 58% said it was more convenient for them than voting in 
person, and 12% that they would have had difficulty getting to their polling 
station on polling day. 

5.42 When we asked voters and non-voters about the convenience of voting by 
post, around six in 10 (62%) said that voting by post was a very or fairly 
convenient way to cast their vote. Almost all (99%) of those who said they had 
voted in this way were satisfied with the voting process, and 77% of them were 
very satisfied.   

Confidence in the integrity of elections  

5.43 It is important that people in the UK have confidence that taking part in 
elections is secure. Confidence in the voting process in the UK is generally high, 
with more than three-quarters of people (77%) saying that voting in general is 
very or fairly safe from fraud and abuse. Just over one in 10 (11%) people 
responding to our survey said that they thought voting is fairly or very unsafe. 
Chart 3 shows how perceptions of the extent of electoral fraud have changed 
over time. 

54 

Agenda Item 7 Page 120



55 

Chart 3: Whether electoral fraud is a problem 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Dec-05 Nov-06 Jan-08 Dec-08 Dec-09

Very big problem Fairly big problem Not a very big problem

Not a problem at all Don't know

 

Source: Ipsos MORI, Winter trackers 2005–9  

Question: As you may know, there are many types of fraud such as benefit fraud 

and insurance fraud. How much of a problem, if at all, do you think electoral 

fraud, that is fraud relating to elections and voting, is in Great Britain/Northern 

Ireland? Do you think it is… 

Base: All respondents UK    

 

5.44 When asked specifically about the 2010 elections, however, just over a 

third of people (34%) reported that they were very or fairly concerned that 

electoral fraud and abuse took place (see Chart 4 below). In 2009, following the 

European Parliamentary and English local elections this figure was 27%. 

Agenda Item 7Page 121



Chart 4: Concern that fraud and abuse took place at the 2010 UK general and 

local elections 

 

11%

7%

22%

20%

38%

40%

26%

30% 3%

3% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Local elections in

England 2010 

UK general election

2010

Very concerned Fairly concerned

Not very concerned Not at all concerned

Don’t know 

 

Source: Ipsos MORI, May 2010 Post-election survey UK general election and 

local elections in England     
Question: How concerned, if at all, are you that electoral fraud and abuse took 
place at the UK general election/local council elections on Thursday 6th May? 
Base general: All respondents (3,586) UK   
Base local: All respondents in local election area (541) 
 

5.45 There were marked differences, however, in perceptions of the security of 
different voting methods. A small minority (6%) of people said that they thought 
voting at polling stations was fairly or very unsafe from fraud and abuse, while 
just over a quarter (26%) thought postal voting was fairly or very unsafe. Just 
under one in three people (29%) said that they were not very or not at all 
confident that voting by post ensures that votes are kept secret, compared with 
just 8% of people who said that they were not very or not at all confident that 
voting in person at a polling station ensures that votes are kept secret. 

5.46 The reasons people gave for being concerned that fraud took place varied, 
and several related to a general disapproval of fraud and abuse in any form (for 
example, people saying that fraud is generally a bad thing, or always possible). 
However, one of the most common reasons given, by 16% of those who said 
they were very or fairly concerned about fraud and abuse having taken place, 
was that people were not able to vote. This suggests that the queues at polling 
stations, which were widely reported in the media, may have damaged public 
confidence in the integrity of the 2010 elections.  

56 

Agenda Item 7 Page 122



People’s priorities for voting 

5.47 People told us that what matters to them most when voting is the safety 
and security of their vote. One-third (33%) prioritise their vote being safe from 
fraud or abuse, a similar proportion to those that value secrecy of the ballot as 
the most important feature of voting (31%). Ease of voting was also important, 
though less of a priority: 19% said that voting being easy or convenient was 
most important, and 14% said that their priority was having a choice of methods 
to vote. 

5.48 We also asked people whether they would be more likely to vote if certain 
changes were made to voting. For most of the options, the changes would have 
made no difference to the majority of people who did not vote. However, non-
voters said they would have been more likely to vote on 6 May if it was easier to 
get a postal vote (38%); they could have voted at the weekend (30%); or they 
could register to vote at the polling station on election day (24%). In Great 
Britain, 85% of people (both voters and non-voters) said that having to show 
photographic identification at the polling station would have made no difference 
to their likelihood of voting, while just over one in 10 (11%) reported that it would 
make them less likely to vote and 4% more likely. 

Accessibility of the voting process 
Polling stations 

5.49 Taking part in elections in the UK should be straightforward and 
accessible, and voters should be confident of receiving a consistently high 
quality service wherever they live. Our observations of polling stations across the 
UK suggest that the vast majority were accessible. This meant disabled 
entrances were well signposted with usable ramps in place, low polling booths 
were available for wheelchair users, and large-print ballot papers and tactile 
voting devices were available for voters with visual impairments. We are also 
aware that many electoral services managers have been more proactive in 
including access issues as part of their polling station staff training. 

5.50 SCOPE, the disability rights organisation, published in June 2010 the 
findings of its own survey of polling station accessibility. SCOPE’s assessment 
was that there had been a small improvement overall in the accessibility of 
polling stations since the 2001 and 2005 UK general elections. While it reported 
that only one in three polling stations included in its survey were fully accessible, 
SCOPE also indicated that just under one in four polling stations had only 
missed the basic accessibility criteria by one feature, including no tactile voting 
device to help visually impaired voters to vote independently, no large-print 
version of the ballot paper, or no level access into the polling station, including 
an adequate ramp when required. 

57 

Agenda Item 7Page 123



5.51 Well-designed layouts for polling stations and polling places are important 
not only for those with limited physical mobility, but also help to ensure a 
smooth flow of voters through the polling station. Our May 2010 report37 on the 
queues experienced at some polling stations on 6 May identified that poor 
layout and cramped environments inside some polling stations may have 
impeded access for voters, and limited the actions that Returning Officers were 
able to take in response to reports of queues building up. We have 
recommended that Returning Officers should be given powers to use any public 
building as a polling station.  

Ballot papers and voter materials 

5.52 Voters should be able to vote easily and confidently, knowing that their 
vote will be counted in the way they intended. In October 2009 we published our 
Making your mark design guidance,38 aimed at improving the usability and 
accessibility of voter materials used at elections across the UK. It included 
recommendations for changes to the design and presentation of voter materials, 
including the voter guidance and information displayed in polling stations and 
polling booths. We also produced user-friendly versions of these notices that 
electoral administrators could download and print for use in polling stations.  

5.53 At the time of publishing Making your mark, we did not recommend that the 
UK Government should make any legislative changes in terms of voter materials 
for future elections, as there was not sufficient time for these to be in place for 
planning six months before the election. We did, however, encourage electoral 
administrators to use the guidance and the templates we provided to help 
ensure that their voter information for the 2010 elections was usable and 
accessible.   

5.54 Our public opinion research carried out after the 2010 elections suggests 
that voters are generally confident that they know how to complete and cast 
their vote: 94% of voters said that they were very or fairly confident about filling 
in the ballot paper when elections are held; 74% of people who voted at a 
polling station said that help or support from polling station staff was very or 
fairly useful and 72% said that written instructions at polling stations were very or 
fairly useful; 97% of people who voted by post said that it was very or fairly easy 
to understand what they had to do to complete and return their postal vote. 

 

                                           

37 The Electoral Commission, 2010 UK Parliamentary general election – Interim report: review of 

problems at polling stations at close of poll on 6 May 2010 (20 May 2010) available at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/99091/Interim-Report-Polling-
Station-Queues-complete.pdf. 
38 The Electoral Commission, Making your mark (2009) available at 
www.dopolitics.org.uk/making-your-mark. 
 

58 

Agenda Item 7 Page 124



Appendix A 

List of Constituencies that had submitted statements in accordance with the 
requirements of Rule 53ZA (1)(b), Schedule 1, Representation of the People Act 
1983 (as inserted by Section 48 of the Constitutional Reform and Governance 
Act 2010). 

* denotes planned Friday Counts: 

! Argyll and Bute* 

! Basildon and Billericay 

! Berwick upon Tweed* 

! Bexleyheath and Crayford 

! Blyth Valley* 

! Broadland* 

! Buckingham* 

! Cheltenham* 

! Chorley 

! Copeland* 

! East Ham  

! Erith and Thamesmead 

! Greenwich and Woolwich 

! Hexham* 

! Hornsey and Wood Green 

! Huntingdon* 

! Ilford North 

! Ilford South 

! Kenilworth and Southam* 

! Lancaster and Fleetwood* 

! Lewisham Deptford 

! Lewisham East 

! Lewisham West and Penge 

! Meon Valley 

! Mid Sussex 

! Morcambe and Lunesdale* 

! North Cornwall* 

! North East Hampshire* 

! Norwich North* 

! Old Bexley and Sidcup 

! Penrith and the Border*   

! Richmond Park 

! Saffron Walden* 

! Skipton and Ripon* 

! St Austell and Newquay 

! St Ives* 

! Torridge and West Devon* 

59 

Agenda Item 7Page 125



! Truro and Falmouth 

! Twickenham 

! Wansbeck* 

! Warrington South 

! Warwick and Leamington* 

! West Ham 

! Westmorland and Lonsdale* 

! Winchester  

 

 

 

 

60 

Agenda Item 7 Page 126



Appendix B  
Research methodology 

Public opinion survey 

Ipsos MORI interviewed a representative quota sample of 3,586 voters and non-
voters across the UK by telephone on 7–23 May 2010. The sample breakdown 
is as follows: England 1,023, Wales 1,032, Scotland 1,017 and Northern Ireland 
514. The data were weighted to the known national population profile in each 
country; for UK-level findings each of the four countries’ data were aggregated 
and then weighted to their representative level for the population of the UK. 
Findings are statistically significant at the 95% confidence level or above. A 
technical report is available upon request. 
 
Caution should be taken when inferring any statistical trends from two separate 
surveys (for example, Winter tracker and post-election survey) due to possible 
differences in methodology, sampling, changes in question wording and at what 
stage in the electoral cycle the question was asked. It should also be noted that 
the characteristics and views of voters in the 2009 and 2010 post-election 
surveys may vary due to the different types of elections held and demographics 
of those who voted at each of these elections. 

Electoral data 

Professors Colin Rallings and Michael Thrasher at the Elections Centre, 
University of Plymouth collected and collated data on our behalf, including data 
relating to electoral registration, turnout, absent voting and rejected ballots. Data 
was collected from Returning Officers in Great Britain and the Electoral Office for 
Northern Ireland. 

As of mid-July 2010, no electoral data had been returned for eight Parliamentary 
constituencies in England. Some (Acting) Returning Officers were also unable to 
provide some of the electoral data which we requested from them. We have 
indicated in the report where data is missing from significantly more than eight 
constituencies.  

Survey of electoral agents 

We included questions on a survey of electoral agents conducted by Professor 
Justin Fisher (Brunel University), Professor Ed Fieldhouse (University of 
Manchester) and Dr David Cutts (University of Manchester). Surveys were 
issued by post to a total of 1,995 Conservative, Labour, Liberal Democrat, Plaid 
Cymru and SNP party agents in 632 constituencies in Great Britain. Figures 
given here are based on the 613 responses received from Conservative, Labour 
and Liberal Democrat party agents by 23 June and should not be considered to 
be representative of the views of all agents. We will publish a report later in 2010 
that sets out the final data from the survey.  

61 

Agenda Item 7Page 127



Survey of Parliamentary candidates 

We issued a postal survey to a total of 2,081 candidates in the week after the 
election. We randomly selected 417 constituencies in Great Britain for our 
sample and sent surveys to all those candidates for whom we had address 
details (we obtained addresses from published statements of persons 
nominated and from lists supplied by a third party for the three largest parties in 
the UK Parliament). We also sent surveys to 108 candidates in the 18 
constituencies in Northern Ireland. Figures given here are based on the 729 
responses received by 2 July and should not be considered to be representative 
of the views of all candidates. 
 
Further findings from our general election research will be available on our 
website later in the year. 

 

 

 

 

62 

Agenda Item 7 Page 128



How to contact us

The Electoral Commission

Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0500
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0500
info@electoralcommission.org.uk
www.electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Scotland Office
38 Thistle Street
Edinburgh EH2 1EN
Tel: 0131 225 0200
Fax: 0131 225 0205
Textphone: 18001 0131 225 0200
infoscotland@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Wales Office
Caradog House
1–6 Saint Andrews Place
Cardiff CF10 3BE
Tel: 029 2034 6800
Fax: 029 2034 6805
Textphone: 18001 029 2034 6800
infowales@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Northern Ireland Office
Seatem House
28–32 Alfred Street
Belfast BT2 8EN
Tel: 028 9089 4020
Fax: 028 9089 4026
Textphone: 18001 028 9089 4020
infonorthernireland@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Eastern and South East Office
Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0600
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0600
easternandsoutheastoffice
@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

London Office
Trevelyan House
Great Peter Street
London SW1P 2HW
Tel: 020 7271 0689
Fax: 020 7271 0505
Textphone: 18001 020 7271 0689
london@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

Midlands Office, No 2 The Oaks
Westwood Way, Westwood Business Park
Coventry CV4 8JB
Tel: 02476 820086
Fax: 02476 820001
Textphone: 18001 02476 820086
midlands@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

North of England Office
York Science Park
IT Centre
Innovation Way
Heslington
York YO10 5DG
Tel: 01904 567990
Fax: 01904 567719
Textphone: 18001 01904 567990
north@electoralcommission.org.uk

The Electoral Commission

South West Office
Regus, 1 Emperor Way
Exeter Business Park
Exeter EX1 3QS
Tel: 01392 314617
Fax: 01392 314001
Textphone: 18001 01392 314617
southwest@electoralcommission.org.uk

Agenda Item 7Page 129



We are an independent body set up by

the UK Parliament. Our aim is integrity and

public confidence in the democratic process.

We regulate party and election finance and

set standards for well-run elections.

Democracy matters

The Electoral Commission

Trevelyan House

Great Peter Street

London SW1P 2HW

Tel 020 7271 0500

Fax 020 7271 0505

info@electoralcommission.org.uk

www.electoralcommission.org.uk

To contact our offices in Scotland, Wales,

Northern Ireland and the English regions,

see inside back cover for details.

Agenda Item 7 Page 130



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 

BEYOND 2010: THE FUTURE OF ELECTORAL ADMINISTRATION 
IN THE UK 

 
 
1. Summary 

 

1.1   The Association of Electoral Administrators has produced a report which looks  
at the administration of the UK Parliamentary Election and local elections held in 
May 2010 and examines the future of electoral administration in the UK. The 
report voices the AEA’s concerns about the ever increasing demands being made 
upon Electoral Administrators and makes a series of recommendations to the 
Electoral Commission to take forward with the Government which, if implemented, 
would change the way in which elections are administered.    

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the contents and recommendations contained in the AEA Election Report 

“Beyond 2010: The Future of Electoral Administration in the UK” be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The main thrust of the AEA report is that electoral administrators are 
being called upon to deliver elections within an increasingly complex 
and challenging environment, with the prospect of more elections and 
referendums, and a trend for holding these on the same day and the 
likelihood of fewer resources with which to deliver them. The AEA is 
concerned that unless some fundamental issues are addressed the 
structures, processes and people tasked with delivering successful 
elections will not be able to cope with the additional burdens being 
placed upon them. The AEA report and recommendations sets out an 
agenda for re-building the electoral process to ensure that it is fit for 
purpose in the 21st century and can also deliver the scale of political 
reform being proposed by the Government. An executive summary of 
the report is attached at Appendix A. 

3.2. The AEA believes that the current structure of electoral administration 
in the UK is not sustainable and that the practice of small core electoral 
services teams working excessive hours in order to deliver elections 
will come under more pressure if resources are cut back further. The 
AEA also considers that the drive of many authorities towards sharing 
Chief Executive’s will result in a widening gap developing between the 
Returning Officer and the electoral service.  The report calls for the 
Government and the Electoral Commission, in consultation with key 
stakeholders, to undertake a thorough and systematic review of the 
electoral process in the UK that integrates with the implementation of 
the new individual registration system. It also notes the need for the 
consolidation and simplification of electoral legislation, noting that 25 
separate pieces of primary and secondary legislation governed the 
administration of the elections which took place in May 2010.  

Agenda Item 8Page 131



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
3.3. The report makes 17 detailed recommendations which are attached at 

Appendix B to this report. In addition for calling for a review of the 
electoral process and for a single Electoral Administration Act setting 
out the high level framework for running all elections and referenda, the 
AEA is also recommending that the rules on the combination of polls 
should be rewritten and that the statutory timetable for all elections 
should be 30 working days. This elongation of the statutory timetable 
would allow for the period of time between the close of nominations 
and polling day to be increased by a week and for deadlines such as 
the appointment of polling and counting agents to be moved to 7 
working days before polling day rather than the current deadline of two 
days before the poll. Under the AEA proposals the 11 day registration, 
and postal and proxy vote application deadlines would also be 
reviewed against the context of individual registration. The AEA is also 
suggesting that Returning/Registration Officers should be able to 
contact postal voters who have supplied incorrect or confusing data, 
which would result in their votes being rejected, to allow for this to be 
corrected and re-submitted and that the criteria for granting emergency 
proxy votes should be broadened. The AEA also propose removing the 
need for subscribers to nominations, possibly moving to the Scottish 
system where a candidate’s nomination is simply signed and 
witnessed, which would dramatically simplify the nominations process 
and also to reconsider the rationale for corresponding number lists, 
which cause difficulties during combined polls.     

3.4. Much of current practice has been inherited from Victorian legislation 
which does not sit well with the internet age. The statutory timetable for 
General Elections in particular was not designed to deal with postal 
voting and last minute registration and is in need of a rethink. Other 
proposals to simplify current practice are supported but the proposal to 
allow clarification of postal vote data at a time when elections staff are 
under great pressure may not be practical. Many of the 
recommendations are also echoed in the Electoral Commission’s 
report on the administration of the General Election, which is reported 
elsewhere on tonight’s agenda. Consensus seems to be developing 
around the need for change.         

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The provision of effective electoral services underpins the Council’s 
democratic processes and reflects a strongly performing Council. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Agenda Item 8 Page 132



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – AEA Election Report – Beyond 2010: The Future of 
Electoral Administration in the UK – Executive Summary 
Appendix B - AEA Election Report – Beyond 2010: The Future of 
Electoral Administration in the UK – Recommendations 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted 
 
 
AEA Election Report – 
Beyond 2010: The Future of 
Electoral Administration in the 
UK 

Date / 
File Ref 
 
21 July 
2010 

Report Author 
 
 
Alan Twyman 
Member Services 
Manager 

Section and 
Directorate 

 
Member 
Services/ 
Executive 

Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

N/A 
 

   (01322) 343430   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 133



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 

Appendix A 

 

Executive summary 

  
The Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA) is a non-

governmental and non-partisan body founded in 1987 to represent the 
interests of electoral administrators in the United Kingdom.  

The AEA strongly supports and advocates the principle that all those 

with a role in organising elections should consider the voters� interests 
above all other considerations.  

Electoral administrators continue to deliver elections within an 
increasingly complex and challenging environment. With the prospect 

of more elections and referendums, and a trend for holding these on 
the same day, there is also the likelihood of fewer resources with 

which to deliver them. The AEA is acutely concerned that, unless the 
issues identified in this report are properly considered and addressed, 

the structures, processes and people delivering electoral administration 
will not be able to cope with the additional burdens being placed upon 

them.  
This report reflects on the experiences of those tasked with delivering 

the elections that took place across the UK in May 2010, and contains 
an agenda for re-building the electoral process to ensure that it is fit 

for purpose in the 21st century and can also deliver the scale of political 
reform being proposed by the UK Government.  

To achieve this will require urgent joint action by those with a role in 
shaping policy and practice in electoral administration, and the AEA 
looks forward to actively working with Governments across the UK, the 

Electoral Commission and other key stakeholders.  
 

Recommendations 

  
A thorough and systemic review of the electoral process in the 

UK is required that integrates with the development and 
implementation of the new individual electoral registration system. 

This should deliver measurable outcomes before the date fixed for the 
next UK Parliamentary General Election. It should specifically include:  

 
� Consultation to identify a model for the structure and delivery 

of electoral administration in the UK in the 21st century – with 
the aim of achieving agreed key outcomes and founded on agreed 

principles. This will need to reflect the diversity of the four nations of 
the UK. The AEA will initiate a wide and inclusive debate amongst its 

membership and with a range of stakeholders as to what form a new  
 

Agenda Item 8 Page 134



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 

model for electoral administration might take and will seek innovative 

solutions to this complex question.  
 

� The creation of a single Electoral Administration Act in 
accessible language setting out the high-level framework with the 

operational detail contained in secondary legislation. The key aim 
should be the simplification and consistency of rules across all 

elections. Except in cases of unforeseen emergencies, changes to 
election law should not be applicable to any elections within a six-

month period from the date the legislation comes into effect.  
 
� A UK-wide review of funding and resources with the aim of 

delivering a coherent and efficient structure, cost effectiveness over 
time and that funding for new responsibilities reaches electoral 

services. The AEA will undertake a staffing survey to inform the wider 
debate on funding and resourcing any new structure of electoral 

administration.  
 

� The design of a clearer and local system of accountability and 
challenge through the introduction in election law of a formal 

complaints system. This should establish a court of first resort to deal 
with complaints arising from the conduct of elections.  

 
� The implications for voters and for the administration of polls of 

holding elections and referendums on the same day should be 
reviewed. This should particularly consider the scenarios arising from 

the proposals for a UK referendum on 5 May 2011, and a UK 
Parliamentary General Election in May 2015.  

 
� A review of statutory election timetables and in particular the 

statutory election timetable for UK Parliamentary elections to achieve 
consistency across all elections and to lengthen the current UK 

Parliamentary General Election timetable.  
 

� Equal access should be central to the electoral process and future 
policy development and implementation. The Electoral Commission 

should consult on what types of buildings should be made available for 
Returning Officers to use by right as polling stations. All voter 

materials should undergo appropriate usability analysis, and relevant 
representative groups consulted as part of their development.  

 
The full recommendations are included at the end of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 135



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 

Appendix B 

 

Recommendations  

 
1. The UK Government and the Electoral Commission in consultation 

with key stakeholders should undertake a thorough and systemic 
review of the electoral process in the UK that integrates with the 

development and implementation of the new individual electoral 
registration system.  

 
� This review should specifically include consultation to identify a 

model for the structure and delivery of electoral administration in the 
UK in the 21st century – with the aim of achieving agreed key 

outcomes and founded on agreed principles. This model will need to 
reflect the diversity of the four nations of the UK.  

 
� This review should deliver measurable outcomes before the date 

fixed for the next UK Parliamentary General Election.  
 

2. The UK Government should take forward work to create a single 
Electoral Administration Act in accessible language setting out the 

high-level framework governing electoral registration and elections in 
the UK, with the operational detail of registration, absent voting, and 
elections contained in secondary legislation with the key aim of 

achieving the simplification and consistency of rules across all 
elections. Except in cases of unforeseen emergencies, changes to 

election law should not be applicable to any elections within a six-
month period from the date the legislation comes into effect.  

 
3. The UK Government should lead a thorough and UK-wide review of 

the funding and resources required to deliver core professional 
electoral services with the aim of delivering a coherent and efficient 

structure across the UK, cost effectiveness over time, and ensuring 
that funding for new responsibilities reaches electoral services. As with 

other election law, Fees and Charges Orders for specific elections 
should be in place six months before the election is due to take place.  

 
4. The UK Government should design and implement a clearer and 
local system of accountability and challenge through the introduction in 

election law of a formal complaints system. This should establish a 
court of first resort to deal with complaints arising from the conduct of 

elections.  
 

Agenda Item 8 Page 136



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 

5. The Electoral Commission should review and report on the 

implications for voters and for the administration of polls of holding 
different elections, and elections and referendums on the same day. 

This should particularly consider the scenarios arising from the 
proposals for a UK referendum on 5 May 2011, and a UK Parliamentary 

General Election in May 2015.  
 
6. The UK Government should review and re-write the rules for the 

combination of polls.  
 

7. The Electoral Commission should review the statutory election 
timetable for UK Parliamentary elections (General Elections and by-

elections) in the context of a wider review of election timetables, with 
the aim of achieving consistency across all elections and lengthening 

the current UK Parliamentary General Election timetable. The UK 
Government should then bring forward appropriate enabling legislation 

as soon as possible.  
 

� The period between close of nominations and polling day should be 
increased by a minimum of 5 working days.  

 
� The statutory timetable for all elections should be 30 working days.  

 
� The 11-day registration and postal vote application deadline should 

be reviewed as part of the implementation of Individual Electoral 
Registration, including the alignment of the deadlines for registration 

and postal vote applications. Similarly, the deadline for proxy 
applications should be reviewed.  

 
� The deadline for the appointment of polling and counting agents 

should be moved to 7 working days before polling day.  
 

8. The UK Government should amend the legislation to provide 
Electoral Registration Officers and Returning Officers with the 

necessary powers to access and act on voters� postal vote rejection 
data to contact voters to explain the correct process and the penalties 
for malpractice; to invite the re-submission of their identifiers; and to 

make corrections to and update the record at any time.  
 

Agenda Item 8Page 137



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 

9. The UK Government should amend the legislation to require that 

applicants requesting a waiver must have their application attested in 
line with current arrangements for proxy applications.  

 
10. The Electoral Commission should review its public awareness work 

in light of the feedback provided in this report to support the public in 
accessing the electoral process, and should seek the advice and input 
of Electoral Registration Officers, Returning Officers and electoral 

administrators well in advance of any future arrangements for a „home 

movers� and other registration and election campaigns.  

 
11. The Electoral Commission should consult on what types of 

buildings should be made available for Returning Officers to use by 
right as polling stations. This recommendation would have financial 

consequences that will need to be considered and addressed in 
implementing any changes to the legislation. In addition, a clear 
definition will need to be agreed and included in legislation specifying 

the kinds of buildings designated as „public buildings� for the purpose 
of this right of use.  

 
12. Equal access should be fundamental to any further changes to the 

electoral process and in particular should be addressed by the systemic 
review proposed earlier in this report. All voter materials should 

undergo appropriate usability analysis, and relevant representative 
groups consulted as part of their development.  

 
13. The Electoral Commission should review the effectiveness of proxy 
voting, in particular around extending the current emergency proxy 

arrangements to include other „emergencies� or circumstances that 
might prevent an elector from voting in person, with a view to 

recommending that the UK Government brings forward appropriate 
legislation as soon as possible.  

 
14. The UK Government should bring forward legislation to remove the 

requirement for subscribers on nominations.  
 
15. The UK Government should re-consider the rationale for 

Corresponding Number Lists and seek more viable solutions, with input 
from experienced electoral administrators.  
 

Agenda Item 8 Page 138



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE 
18 October 2010 

 
 

16. The UK Government should introduce a system for the electronic 

delivery, receipt and return of the writ.  
 

17. The UK Government and the Electoral Commission should consider 

developing an online facility for submission of candidates� election 
expenses returns with provision for both candidate and agent to give 

secure approval of the final return. It is recognised that this would 
involve scanning all the receipts relevant to the return. Such a system 

should also provide a means for inspecting the returns and 
declarations, and associated receipts.  
 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Review of Polling Places 2010
	Appendix A Christchurch
	Appendix B Stone Village
	Appendix C Colyers Arms
	Appendix D The Pavillion at Stone

	7 Parliamentary General Election May 2010 - Electoral Commission Review of Problems at Polling Stations at Close of Poll and Review of the Administration of the Election
	Interim-Report-Polling-Station-Queues-complete[1]
	Report-on-the-administration-of-the-2010-UK-general-election[1]

	8 Beyond 2010: The Future of Electoral Administration in the UK

